Helicobacter

EDITOR: David Y. Graham, M.D.

The Year in Helicobacter 2006

Guest Editors: Peter Malfertheiner

Francis Mégraud Pierre Michetti Pentti Sipponen

on behalf of the European Helicobacter Study Group



Helicobacter

The Year in Helicobacter 2006

Guest Editors: Peter Malfertheiner

Francis Mégraud Pierre Michetti Pentti Sipponen

on behalf of the European Helicobacter Study Group

EUROPEAN HELICOBACTER STUDY GROUP

MEMBERS:

Leif Andersen Denmark Anthony Axon United Kingdom Giovanni Gasbarrini Italy Alexander M. Hirschl Austria **Ernest Kuipers** the Netherlands José Machado Portugal Peter Malfertheiner Germany Francis Mégraud France Pierre Michetti Switzerland Colm O'Morain Ireland José M. Pajares Garcia Spain Theodor Rokkas Greece Pentti Sipponen Finland Torkel Wadström Sweden

EMERITUS MEMBERS:

Michel Deltenre Belgium

Ashley Price United Kingdom Mario Quina Portugal Erik Rauws the Netherlands

HONORARY MEMBERS:

David Y. Graham

Adrian Lee

Barry Marshall

Guido Tytgat

USA

Australia

Australia

the Netherlands

CORRESPONDING FELLOWS:

Luis Vaz CoehloBrazilToshio FujiokaJapanHyun Chae JungKoreaVarocha MahachaiThailandYaron NivIsraelShu Dong XiaoChina

The publication of this supplement has been funded by unrestricted educational grants from AstraZeneca and INFAI, GmbH.





1478-4041 (200610) 11:05+01;1-F

EDITORIAL BOARD

Editor	Steven J. Czinn	Jaw-Town Lin	Colm Antonine O'Morain <i>Dublin</i>
David Y. Graham	Cleveland	<i>Taipei</i>	
Houston	Emad El-Omar	Varocha Mahachai	J. Pajares-García
Leif P. Andersen	Aberdeen	Bangkok	<i>Madrid</i>
Copenhagen Masahiro Asaka	Peter B. Ernst Charlottesville David Forman	Peter Malfertheiner Magdeburg	Julie Parsonnet Stanford
Sapporo John Atherton Nottingham	Leeds James G. Fox	Barry J. Marshall Nedlands	H. Aziz Rani Jakarta
Anthony T. R. Axon Leeds	Cambridge	Francis Mégraud	Pentti Sipponen
	Giovanni Gasbarrini	Bordeaux	Espoo
Franco Bazzoli	Roma Robert M. Genta Geneva	Pierre Michetti	Joseph J. Y. Sung
Bologna		Lausanne	Hong Kong
Douglas E. Berg	Khean Lee Goh	Hazel Mitchell	Diane E. Taylor
St. Louis	Kuala Lumpur	Sydney	<i>Alberta</i>
Martin J. Blaser	Alexander M. Hirschl	Harry Mobley	Shu-Dong Xiao
New York	<i>Vienna</i>	Baltimore	Shanghai

Editorial Office

David Y. Graham, MD, Editor, *Helicobacter*, Digestive Diseases Section, Veterans Affairs Medical Center, 2002 Holcombe Blvd. (111D), Houston, TX 77030-4298, USA. Tel: (713) 795-0232; Fax: (713) 790-1040. Production Editor. Suzanne McNeill, Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Edinburgh, UK. E-mail: hel@oxon.blackwellpublishing.com

Information for subscribers

Helicobacter is published in six issues per year. Subscription prices for 2006 are: Premium Institutional: £598 (Europe), US\$1107 (The Americas), £659 (Rest of World); Personal: €188 (Europe, Euro zone), £125 (Europe, non-Euro zone), US\$232 (The Americas), £138 (Rest of World). Customers in the UK should add VAT at 5%; customers in the EU should also add VAT at 5%, or provide a VAT registration number or evidence of entitlement to exemption. Customers in Canada should add 7% GST or provide evidence of entitlement to exception. The Premium institutional price includes online access to the current and all available previous year electronic issues. For other pricing options or more information about online access to Blackwell Publishing journals, including access information and terms and conditions, please visit www.blackwellpublishing.com/hel

Back issues: Single issues from current and recent volumes are available at the current single issue price from Blackwell Publishing Journals. Earlier issues may be obtained from Periodicals Service Company, 11 Main Street, Germantown, NY 12526, USA. Tel: +1 518 537 4700, Fax: +1 518 537 5899, Email: psc@periodicals.com

Access to this journal is available free online within institutions in the developing world through the HINARI initiative with the WHO. For information, visit www.healthinternetwork.org

Helicobacter is indexed by: Current Contents/ Clinical Medicine, Medical Documentation Service, Research Alert, Sci Search, Science Citation Index, Medline.

Publisher

Helicobacter is published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd: 9600 Garsington Road, Oxford OX4 2DQ, UK. Tel: +44 (0)1865 776868, Fax: +44 (0)1865 714591

Journal Customer Services: For ordering information, claims and any enquiry concerning your journal subscription please contact your nearest office:

UK: Email: customerservices@oxon.black-wellpublishing.com; Tel: +44 (0) 1865 778315; Fax: +44 (0) 1865 471775

USA: Email: subscrip@bos.blackwell-publishing.com; Tel: +1 781 388 8206 or 1 800 835 6770 (Toll free in the USA); Fax: +1 781 388 8232

Asia: Email: subs@blackwellpublishing-asia.com; Tel: +61 3 8359 1011; Fax: +61 3 8359 1120

Commercial reprints: Tracy James (email: tracy.james@oxon.blackwellpublishing.com).

Copyright and Photocopying

Journal compilation © 2006 Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored or transmitted in any form or by any means without the prior permission in writing from the copyright holder. Authorization to photocopy items for internal and personal use is granted by the copyright holder for libraries and other users registered with their local Reproduction Rights Organisation (RRO), e.g. Copyright Clearance Center (CCC), 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, USA (www.copyright.com), provided the appropriate fee is paid directly to the RRO. This consent does not extend to other kinds of copying such as copying for general distribution for advertising or promotional purposes, for creating new collective works or for resale. Special requests should be addressed to Blackwell Publishing at: journalsrights@oxon.blackwellpublishing.com.

The Publisher and Editors cannot be held responsible for errors or any consequences arising from the use of information contained in this journal; the views and opinions expressed do not necessarily reflect those of the Publisher and Editors, neither does the publication of advertisements constitute any endorsement by the Publisher and Editors of the products advertised.

ISSN 1083-4389 (Print) ISSN 1523-5378 (Online)

For submission instructions, subscription and all other information visit: www.blackwellpublishing.com/hel

Periodical ID Statement C

Supplement to HELICOBACTER. HELICO-BACTER (1083-4389) is published bimonthly. US mailing agent: G3 Worldwide (US) Inc., 8701 Bellanca Ave., Los Angeles, CA 90045. Periodical postage paid at Los Angeles, CA, and at additional mailing offices. POSTMASTER: Send all address changes to HELICOBACTER, Blackwell Publishing Inc., Journals Subscription Department, 350 Main St., Malden, MA 02148-5020.

Blackwell Publishing's policy is to use permanent paper from mills that operate a sustainable forestry policy, and which has been manufactured from pulp that is processed using acid-free and elementary chlorine-free practices. Furthermore, Blackwell Publishing ensures that the text paper and cover board used in all our journals has met acceptable environmental accreditation standards.

Typeset by Graphicraft Limited in Hong Kong, China, and printed and bound in Singapore by Markono Print Media Pte Ltd.

CONTENTS

ORIGINAL ARTICLES

- 1 Epidemiology of Helicobacter pylori Infection

 Dulciene Maria Magalhães Queiroz and Francesco Luzza
- **6** Diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori* Infection *Katarzyna Dzierżanowska-Fangrat, Philippe Lehours, Francis Mégraud and Danuta Dzierżanowska*
- 14 Pathogenesis of *Helicobacter pylori* Infection *Masanori Hatakeyama and Tomasz Brzozowski*
- 21 Inflammation, Immunity, Vaccines for *Helicobacter* Infection *Magdalena Chmiela and Pierre Michetti*
- 27 Helicobacter pylori and Non-Malignant Diseases

 Tamara Matysiak-Budnik, Wiktor Laszewicz, Dominique Lamarque and Stanislas Chaussade
- **32** *Helicobacter* and Digestive Malignancies *Teresa Starzyñska and Peter Malfertheiner*
- 36 Treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* Infection *Lucas G. Cavallaro, Brian Egan, Colm O'Morain and Francesco Di Mario*
- 40 Helicobacter pylori Infection in Pediatrics
 Petronella Mourad-Baars and Sonny Chong
- **46** Extragastric Manifestations of *Helicobacter pylori* Infection Other *Helicobacter* Species *Jay V. Solnick, Francesco Franceschi, D. Roccarina and Antonio Gasbarrini*
- **52** *Helicobacter pylori* Eradication for the Prevention of Gastric Cancer *Ernst J. Kuipers and Pentti Sipponen*

Epidemiology of Helicobacter pylori Infection

Dulciene Maria Magalhães Queiroz* and Francesco Luzza†

*Laboratory of Research in Bacteriology, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil, †Dipartimento di Medicina Sperimentale e Clinica, Università di Catanzaro "Magna Graecia", Catanzaro, Italy

Keywords

epidemiology, *Helicobacter pylori*, prevalence, risk factors, transmission.

Reprint requests to: Francesco Luzza, Dipartimento di Medicina Sperimentale e Clinica, Università di Catanzaro "Magna Graecia", Campus Universitario di Germaneto, Viale Europa, 88100 Catanzaro, Italy. E-mail: luzza@unicz.it

Abstract

Differences may occur in the mode of transmission of *Helicobacter pylori* between developed and developing countries: direct human-to-human contacts have been suggested as the primary route in the former while the fecal–oral route, also, through contaminated water, in the latter. Data on intrafamilial transmission of *H. pylori* among children continue to be produced. The importance of low socioeconomic conditions on the acquisition of *H. pylori* infection has been confirmed in a number of population-based studies. Due to the improvement of living standards, the prevalence of the infection has fallen dramatically in many countries. It varies from 8.9 to 72.8% among children from developed and developing countries, respectively, the re-infection rate being also significantly higher in the latter. Conflicting data have been reported on the effect of breastfeeding against *H. pylori* colonization in infancy as well as on the occupational risk for acquiring *H. pylori*. This review summarizes recent results from the literature on these topics.

The Environmental Conditions in the Transmission of Helicobacter pylori

In a large epidemiologic study on the association between herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) infection and Helicobacter pylori conducted in 1090 subjects aged 12-19 years in the USA, it has been shown that the crude prevalence ratio (PR) of H. pylori in HSV-1 positive subjects was 2.2 (95% CI 1.69–2.85) (i.e., 6.9 versus 3.7% HSV-1 negative subjects). After adjustment for poverty level and race/ethnicity, the strength of the association varied according to household size and location: it was stronger in large urban households (PR 2.27, 95% CI 1.5-3.41) and negligible in small nonurban households (PR 1.15, 95% CI 0.79-1.67). Authors speculated that close interpersonal contact may favor the transmission of both H. pylori and HSV-1 and that direct human-to-human contact may be the primary route of transmission for both organisms [1]. Casting doubt on the contention that H. pylori and hepatitis A virus (HAV) share a common mode of transmission, none of 289 students (7–12 years) from a single primary school in Taiwan were seropositive for both *H. pylori* and HAV antibodies, whereas 223 (77.2%) were seronegative for both (p = .294). Furthermore, data have been produced indicating that sources of water supply (tap water, well water, bottled water) were not significantly associated with seropositivity for *H. pylori* [2]. Nevertheless, in a cross-sectional study in 121 children admitted in a pediatric hospital in Brazil, a fair agreement ($\kappa = 0.24$) was found between *H. pylori* (42.1%) and HAV (37.2%) seropositivity as well as an association between H. pylori seropositivity and the presence of Giardia lamblia in feces (15.7%). Of interest, no association was found between H. pylori and five other intestinal parasites in feces. The authors suggested that fecal-oral route may be relevant in the transmission of H. pylori among children in an urban setting of a developing country [3]. A high prevalence of H. pylori IgG seropositivity was found in 87 patients from Indonesia who had recently recovered from Salmonella typhi infection, a fecal-oral transmitted infection, than in 232 random healthy controls (67 versus 50%, p = .008, respectively). No association was found between elevated plasma gastrin concentration indicative of hypochlorhydria or achlorhydria and S. typhi infection. Authors concluded that H. pylori and S. typhi infection share low hygienic standards and common risk factors [4]. That water may have a role in the transmission of *H. pylori* in developing countries was pointed out in a study aimed to detect H. pylori in stools and water with different levels of fecal pollution, as measured by the presence of microbial indicators. Through a seminested polymerase chain reaction (PCR), H. pylori DNA was detected in 33% of 36 human fecal samples, in 66% of wastewater samples and 11% of river samples, but in none of spring water samples. A higher number of positive results were obtained in the more fecally polluted waters, so authors suggested that water may be a vector of *H. pylori* in its fecal–oral route [5]. The occurrence of *H. pylori*-specific genes, 16S rDNA and *cag*A, along with the presence of bacteria-like bodies was demonstrated by PCR and light microscopy, respectively, in yeasts taken from the oral cavity of 18 different dyspeptic patients. These findings indicate the possible symbiotic life of *H. pylori* inside the yeasts vacuole and hypothesize that yeasts might serve as reservoirs and vehicles of *H. pylori* [6].

Intrafamilial Transmission

There is increasing evidence supporting the intrafamilial transmission of *H. pylori* infection. Two seroepidemiologic studies, one from a developed country (Sweden) [7] and one from an underdeveloped country (Benin/Africa) [8], demonstrated a strong familial clustering of *H. pylori* infection. In both studies, an infected mother was a strong determinant for child infection. The presence of infected siblings was also an independent risk factor for the infection in children from Sweden.

One study in Ireland [9] and one in Taiwan [10] evaluating the children's *H. pylori* status by more accurate tests [culture, histology and urease testing on antral biopsies, ¹³C-urea breath test (¹³C-UBT) or stool antigen test (SAT)] also demonstrated that having an infected mother as well as infected siblings was predictor of infection.

Intrafamilial transmission from mother to her offspring was substantiated by the report of Konno et al. [11] from Japan. Fifty-one children from previously selected *H. pylori*-positive pregnant women were followed up during 5 years. Among them, four became positive by SAT in the first 2 years and one at 4 years and 4 months of age. Strains isolated from the gastric juice of these five children exhibited identical DNA fingerprint patterns to those taken from their corresponding mother.

Population-Based Studies from Developing and Developed Countries

In a sample of 2309 persons aged 5–100 years, representative of the general population in the Czech Republic, the age- and sex-standardized prevalence of current *H. pylori* infection was 41.7%, which is much lower than previously assumed upon limited data coming from selected groups in this geographic area (i.e., from 7.5 to 42% in children and from 45 to 83% in adults). Prevalence of *H. pylori* increased with age but was not related with gender. Mutually adjusted results indicated that low mother's education, sharing room with parents, and living in small town were the strongest risks for *H. pylori* positivity in children, whereas low education and heavy smoking were the risks

in adults. The authors suggested that improved socioeconomic conditions during recent years together with lower fertility rates has led to a decrease in the prevalence of H. pylori in the young cohorts in the Czech Republic [12]. Examination of *H. pylori* infection among several generations of Hispanics in the San Francisco Bay Area attempted to shed light on the respective contribution of household and environmental factors to *H. pylori* infection. Prevalence of H. pylori in immigrants and first- and second-generation US-born Hispanics was 31.4% (102/ 325), 9.1% (98/1076), and 3.1% (2/64), respectively. In the multivariate analysis, the trend of decreasing risk of H. pylori infection with increasing generations of Hispanics remained significant. Having an infected parent and low educational attainment in the household was independently associated with H. pylori infection. Authors suggested that household characteristics and birth-country environment may contribute to the risk of H. pylori infection among immigrants [13]. That the birthplace is a risk factor for the presence of *H. pylori* and that within industrialized countries the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection is higher in immigrants than among native-born residents was also confirmed in a point-prevalence survey conducted in a sample of 194 consecutive east Asian-born adults living in New York City. This study demonstrated that the seroprevalence of *H. pylori* in these immigrants was high (more than 70%) and inversely related with the years of residency in USA [14]. Suggesting that in poor population H. pylori infection is predominantly acquired in childhood, a study in a randomly selected population from a low-income community in northeastern Brazil showed that the seroprevalence of the infection (165 of 204 adults, 80%) did not increase with age and that no risk factors were associated with infection. This lack of association may reflect that the population was homogeneous, with most of the enrolled subjects having a low educational level and low income [15]. In another population-based cross-sectional study that targeted the urban adult population in southern Brazil, the prevalence rate of H. pylori infection was 63.4% (231 out of 359 individuals) and socioeconomic conditions (low father's education, number of siblings, and attendance to day-care center in childhood), ethnicity (non-white skin colour), and dyspeptic symptoms were independently associated with the infection [16]. A recent published study from 610 adult Alaskan Eskimos showed that the seroprevalence of H. pylori was 80% in current samples, 75.3% in 15-20 years before archived samples, and that the seropositivity persisted in 67% of individuals. Data also showed that 72% of individuals had acquired *H. pylori* antibodies by the age of 24 years. Authors suggested that the low socioeconomic conditions among Alaskan Esquimos play an important role for high prevalence of *H. pylori* infection

[17]. In a population-based sample of 639 persons from Sisimiut community (5300 inhabitants), West Greenland, 280 persons were seropositive for *H. pylori* (43.8%). Seroprevalence for *H. pylori* increased with age but there was no overall significant difference in seropositivity among persons older or younger than 15 years. Multivariate analysis showed that male gender, number of children in household, number of older siblings, and narrow age gap to closest older sibling were associated with H. pylori seropositivity. There was no association between H. pylori seropositivity and socioeconomic status, possibly indicating that Sisimiut is a uniform community with less social diversity and relatively equal living conditions [18]. H. pylori seroprevalence in a New Zealand birth cohort at ages 21 and 26 was 4.2% (n = 795) and 6.3% (n = 871), respectively, with seroreversion rate lower than seroconversion rate (0.11 versus 0.53% per person-year) in contrast to the period from age 11-21 years when seroreversion rate exceeded seroconversion rate (0.35 versus 0.11% per person-year). The vast majority of study members (93.6%) remained stable with respect to serologic status from age 11-26 years [19].

Prevalence, Risk and Protective Factors, and Age of Acquisition of *H. pylori* Infection in Children

Seroepidemiologic studies evaluating the prevalence and risk factors associated with H. pylori infection in children demonstrated that prevalence rates varied among the countries. It was 8.9% in children aged 6 months to 10 years from Sana'a City, Yemen [20], 21.5% in schoolaged children from a suburb near Taipei City, Taiwan [2], 55.5% in children 6-9 years old from Irbid, Jordan [21], and 72.8% in children 2-15 years of age from Benin/Africa [8]. By univariate analysis the infection was associated with the consumption of drinking water from re-used plastic jerry cans, poor mouth hygiene, and with coinfection by intestinal parasites in the study in Yemen [20]. By analyzing the data in logistic models, higher prevalence was associated with poor sanitation, overcrowding, low maternal educational level, low socioeconomic status, and rural areas in the Jordanian study [21] and with crowded sleeping accommodation and parental infection positive status in both rural and urban Beninese Communities [8]. The infection was also more prevalent in children from Taiwan whose parents did not know about H. pylori infection [2]. Although the sensitivity of serologic tests for H. pylori diagnosis in childhood especially in very young children has been considered low, the results of these studies regarding risk factors do not differ substantially from those that evaluated H. pylori status by more accurate tests such as SAT and ¹³C-UBT. In a poor community in the

north-eastern of Brazil, Rodrigues et al. [22] evaluated the prevalence of H. pylori infection in children living in crowded conditions without sewage systems by ¹³C-UBT, and observed that the infection rate increased with age, being 47.5% in children 6 months to 10 years old and 73.3% in the group aged 11-20 years. By using a monoclonal SAT, Daugule et al. [23] evaluated the effect of previous antibiotic treatment for concomitant infections on the H. pylori infection rates in Sweden children aged 6 months to 5 years. A significantly lower *H. pylori* prevalence was observed in children who had been treated with antibiotics previously compared with those who had been never treated. Re-infection rate was investigated by ¹³C-UBT in 52 children, from a high prevalence area in Italy, who had been successfully treated for *H. pylori* eradication. The re-infection rate was 12.8% per year and was associated with lower mean age at primary infection and the presence of an *H. pylori*-positive sibling. The rate is approximately four times higher than that of areas in which the prevalence of *H. pylori* is low, suggesting that the higher the prevalence of H. pylori, the greater the risk of children becoming re-infected [24]. In the study of Rowland et al. [9], who evaluated H. pylori status by ¹³C-UBT, in addition of having infected mothers or infected siblings, having two or more bottles per day was also an independent risk factor for infection. According to the authors, a feeding bottle could potentially provide a vehicle for transmission of infection from mother to child or from sibling to sibling.

There are conflicting data regarding a protective effect of breastfeeding against H. pylori colonization in childhood. Some authors gathered data supporting an association between breastfeeding and prevention of the infection which were not confirmed by others. Furthermore, breastfeeding was associated with an increased risk of infection especially in children breastfed for more than 6 months. Conversely, Pearce et al. [25] demonstrated in the UK that the increased duration of exclusive breastfeeding in infancy was associated with a persistent *H. pylori*-negative status at the age of 50 years, which was restricted to men. Reinforcing a putative protective effect of breastfeeding, the presence of *H. pylori*-specific IgA in the colostrum, which theoretically can decrease H. pylori infection, was demonstrated in the majority of H. pylori-positive lactating mothers evaluated by Tanriverdi et al. [26]. In the study of Rowland et al. [9], however, there was no difference in the rates or duration of breastfeeding between infected and non-infected children.

The study of Rowland et al. [9] also examined prospectively the age-specific incidence of *H. pylori* in children > 24 months of age. They found that children in a developed country like Ireland become infected at a very young age, before the age of 5 years. According to the authors, because of the limitations of the ¹³C-UBT in very young

children, the incidence of infection could not be evaluated in those < 2 years old. They also found no evidence of spontaneous clearance of H. pylori infection during the period of the study. Conversely, two studies evaluating the acquisition and loss of the infection, one conducted in a US-Mexico cohort [27] and the other in Hispanics living in USA [28] by 13C-UBT, corrected for age-dependent variation in CO₂ production, and SAT confirmed by a nested PCR detection of H. pylori DNA in stool samples, respectively, showed that the infection is acquired in early childhood, but does not persist in most of the children. However, differently from the study by Rowland et al. [9], the last authors studied children < 2 years old, which may explain the conflicting results. Nizami et al. [29], evaluating 148 infants aged 1-3 months, living in a periurban community from Karachi in Pakistan, observed that most 1-month-old infants were ¹³C-UBT positive (80.0%). The authors also observed a lost of infection, but their results must be interpreted with caution because of the low specificity of ¹³C-UBT without corrections in this age group.

Occupational Risk

Controversial data accumulate regarding an occupational risk for acquiring H. pylori. In a cross-sectional study, the seroprevalence of H. pylori in 74 nurses working in 10 gastroscopy units in the West of Scotland was compared to that in 148 nursing colleagues working in surgical specialties in the same hospitals. Gastroscopy exposure variables (i.e., job category; number of endoscopies per week; years of gastroscopy exposure; use of protective gloves, masks, and aprons; or reported hand-washing practice between cases) and socioeconomic factors, particularly those pertaining to childhood, were considered in a logistic regression model. Of the 222 participants, 32.4% of gastroscopy and 33% of comparators were seropositive for H. pylori. No association was found between gastroscopy exposure variables and H. pylori while significant association was found for age, childhood deprivation, and large number of siblings [30]. In a study involving 249 employees of an Italian hospital, 92 from gastrointestinal endoscopy units, 105 from other units with direct patient contacts, and 52 from laboratories and other units with no direct patient contact, the prevalence of current H. pylori infection was 37, 35.2, and 19.2% (p < .01), respectively, thus suggesting that hospital work involving direct patient contact is a risk factor for H. pylori infection. A not statistically significant difference between endoscopist and non-endoscopist physicians was observed. Nevertheless, multiple logistic regression analysis showed that, among the different health-care categories, only nurses had a significant higher prevalence of H. pylori infection. Unfortunately, no conventional socioeconomic parameters

were considered in this study [31]. In the first report designed to assess the seroprevalence of *H. pylori* infection over a 6-year period in a cohort of 59 dental professionals (32 dentists and 27 dental nurses), four (6.78%) dental professionals (three dentists and one dental nurse) seroconverted compared to one (1.7%) among 59 ageand sex-matched randomly selected controls. The rate of acquiring H. pylori infection for dental professionals was 1.12% per year. The relative risk was 4.0 (95% CI 0.46-34.73) and the adjusted OR 2.68 (95% CI 0.55-19.67), with no statistical significance (p = .36 and p = .256, respectively) [32]. That white-collar workers had a lower risk of *H. pylori* infection has been reported in a study in 588 employees of the Subway Corporation in Seoul in which the proportion of white-collar workers was 44.6% in the *H. pylori*-positive group (n = 455) compared with that of 57.9% in the *H. pylori*-negative group (n = 133) (p = .007). This finding remained significant after adjustment for multiple variables (OR 0.62, 95% CI 0.41-0.92, p = .018) [33].

References

- 1 Baccaglini L, Schoenbach VJ, Poole C, McKaig RG, Ibrahim J, Baric RS, Wiesen C. Association between herpes simplex virus type 1 and Helicobacter pylori in US adolescents. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2006;101:63-9.
- 2 Lin HY, Chuang CK, Lee HC, Chiu NC, Lin SP, Yeung CY. A seroepidemiologic study of *Helicobacter pylori* and hepatitis A virus infection in primary school students in Taipei. *J Microbiol Immunol Infect* 2005;38:176–82.
- 3 Moreira ED Jr, Nassri VB, Santos RS, Matos JF, Carvalho WA, Silvani CS, Sant'Ana CS. Association of *Helicobacter pylori* infection and giardiasis: results from a study of surrogate markers for fecal exposure among children. *World J Gastroenterol* 2005;11:2759–63.
- 4 Vollaard AM, Verspaget HW, Ali S, Visser LG, Veenendaal RA, Van Asten HA, Widjaja S, Surjadi CH, Van Dissel JT. *Helicobacter pylori* infection and typhoid fever in Jakarta, Indonesia. *Epidemiol Infect* 2006:134:163–70.
- 5 Queralt N, Bartolomé R, Araujo R. Detection of *Helicobacter pylori* DNA in human faeces and water with different levels of faecal pollution in the north-east of Spain. *J Appl Microbiol* 2005;98:889–95.
- 6 Siavoshi F, Salmanian AH, Akbari F, Malekzadeh R, Massarrat S. Detection of *Helicobacter pylori* specific genes in the oral yeast. *Helicobacter* 2005;10:318–22.
- 7 Kivi M, Johansson ALV, Reilly M, Tindberg Y. Helicobacter pylori status in family members as risk factors for infection in children. Epidemiol Infect 2005;133:645–52.
- 8 Aguemon BD, Struelens MJ, Massougbodji A, Ouendo EM. Prevalence and risk factors for *Helicobacter pylori* infection in urban and rural Beninese populations. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2005;11:611–7.
- 9 Rowland M, Daly L, Vaughan M, Higgins A, Bourke B, Drumm B. Age-specific incidence of *Helicobacter pylori*. *Gastroenterology* 2006;130:65–72.
- 10 Yang YJ, Sheu BS, Lee SC, Yang HB, Wu JJ. Children of Helicobacter pylori-infected dyspeptic mothers are predisposed to H. pylori acquisition with subsequent iron deficiency and growth retardation. Helicobacter 2005;10:249–55.

- 11 Konno M, Fujii N, Yokota S, Takahashi M, Sato K, Mino E, Sugiyama T. Five-year follow-up study of mother-to-child transmission of *Helicobacter pylori* infection detected by a random amplified polymorphic DNA fingerprinting method. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43:2246–50.
- 12 Bures J, Kopacova M, Koupil I, et al. Epidemiology of *Helicobacter pylori* in the Czech Republic. *Helicobacter* 2006;11:56–65.
- 13 Tsai CJ, Perry S, Sanchez L, Parsonnet J. Helicobacter pylori infection in different generations of Hispanics in the San Francisco Bay area. Am J Epidemiol 2005;162:351–7.
- 14 Perez-Perez GI, Olivares AZ, Foo FY, Foo S, Neusy AJ, Ng C, Holzman RS, Marmor M, Blaser MJ. Seroprevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* in New York City populations originating in East Asia. *J Urban Healthy* 2005;82:510–6.
- 15 Rodrigues MN, Queiroz DMM, Rodrigues RT, Rocha AM, Braga Neto MB, Braga LL. *Helicobacter pylori* in adults from a poor urban community in northeastern Brazil: demographic, lifestyle and environmental factors. *Brazilian J Inf Dis* 2005;9:405–10.
- 16 Santos IS, Boccio J, Santos AS, Valle NCJ, Halal CS, Bachilli MC, Lopes RD. Prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection and associated factors among adults in Southern Brazil: a population-based crosssectional study. *BMC Public Health* 2005;5:118–28.
- 17 Zhu J, Davidson M, Leinonen M, Saikku P, Gaydos CA, Canos DA, Gutman KA, Howard BV, Epstein SE. Prevalence and persistence of antibodies to herpes viruses, *Chlamydia pneumoniae* and *Helicobacter pylori* in Alaskan Eskimos: the GOCADAN Study. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2006;12:118–22.
- 18 Koch A, Krause TG, Krogfelt K, Olsen OR, Fischer TK, Melbye M. Seroprevalence and risk factors for *Helicobacter pylori* infection in Greenlanders. *Helicobacter* 2005;10:433–42.
- 19 Fawcett JP, Barbezat GO, Poulton R, Milne BJ, Xia HHX, Talley NJ. Helicobacter pylori serology in a birth cohort of New Zealanders from age 11–26. World J Gastroenterol 2005;11:3273–6.
- 20 Al-Shamahy HA. Seroprevalence of Helicobacter pylori among children in Sana'a. Yemen Ann Saudi Med 2005;25:299–303.
- 21 Bani-Hani KE, Shatnawi NJ, El Qaderi S, Khader YS, Bani-Hani BK. Prevalence and risk factors of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in healthy schoolchildren. *Chin J Dig Dis* 2006;7:55–60.
- 22 Rodrigues MN, Queiroz DMM, Rodrigues RT, Rocha AMC, Luz CRL, Braga LLBC. Prevalence of Helicobacter pylori infection in Fortaleza, northeastern Brazil. Rev Saúde Pública 2005;39:847–9.

- 23 Daugule I, Rumba I, Ejderhamn J. Previous antibacterial treatment due to concomitant infections in preschool children is associated with a lower *Helicobacter pylori* positivity. *Scand J Infect Dis* 2005;37:326–9.
- 24 Magista AM, Ierardi E, Castellaneta S, Miniello VL, Lionetti E, Francavilla A, Ros P, Rigillo N, Di Leo A, Francavilla R. Helicobacter pylori status and symptom assessment two years after eradication in pediatric patients from a high prevalence area. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nut 2005;40:312–8.
- 25 Pearce MS, Thomas JE, Campbell DI, Parker L. Does increased duration of exclusive breastfeeding protect against *Helicobacter pylori* infection? The Newcastle Thousand Families Cohort Study at Age 49–51. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 2005;41:617–20.
- 26 Tanriverdi HA, Acun C, Ustundag G, Barut A, Tekin IO, Ustundag Y. Investigation of human colostrums Helicobacter pylori IgA content is lactating women. Eur J Obst Gynecol Reprod Biol 2006;124:58–60.
- 27 Goodman KJ, O'Rourke K, Sue Day R, Wang C, Nurgalieva Z, Phillips CV, Aragaki C, Campos A, Manuel de la Rosa J. Dynamics of *Helicobacter pylori* during infection in a US-Mexico cohort during the first two years of life. *Int J Epidemiol* 2005;34:1348–55.
- 28 Haggerty TD, Perry S, Sanchez L, Perez-Perez G, Parsonnet J. Significance of transiently positive enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay results in detection of *Helicobacter pylori* in stool samples from children. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43:2220–3.
- 29 Nizami SQ, Bhutta ZA, Weaver L, Preston T. Helicobacter pylori colonization in infants in a periurban community in Karachi, Pakistan. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nut 2005;41:191–4.
- 30 Noone PA, Waclawiski ER, Watt AD. Are endoscopy nurses at risk of infection with *Helicobacter pylori* from their work? *Occupl Med* 2006:56:122–8.
- 31 Mastromarino P, Conti C, Donato K, Strappini PM, Cattaruzza MS, Orsi GB. Does hospital work constitute a risk factor for *Helicobacter pylori* infection? *J Hospital Infect* 2005;60:261–8.
- 32 Matsuda R, Morizane T. Helicobacter pylori infection in dental professionals: a 6-year prospective study. Helicobacter 2005;10:307–11.
- 33 Kim N, Lim SH, Lee KH, Kim UM, Cho S, Jung HC, Song IS. Seroconversion of *Helicobacter pylori* in Korean male employees. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2005;40:1021–7.

Diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori Infection

Katarzyna Dzierżanowska-Fangrat,* Philippe Lehours,† Francis Mégraud† and Danuta Dzierżanowska*

*Department of Clinical Microbiology and Immunology, The Children's Memorial Health Institute, Warsaw, Poland, †INSERM ERI 10, Laboratoire de Bactériologie, Université Victor Segalen Bordeaux 2, Bordeaux, France

Keywords

Helicobacter pylori, diagnosis, urea breath test, stool antigen test, serology.

Reprint requests to: Professor Francis Mégraud, INSERM ERI 10, Laboratoire de Bactériologie, Université Victor Segalen Bordeaux 2, 146 rue Léo Saignat, 33076 Bordeaux Cedex, France. E-mail: francis.megraud@chu-bordeaux.fr

Abstract

A growing interest in non-invasive tests for the detection of *Helicobacter pylori* has been observed recently, reflecting a large number of studies published this year. New tests have been validated, and the old ones have been used in different clinical situations or for different purposes. Stool antigen tests have been extensively evaluated in pre- and post-treatment settings both in adults and children, and the urea breath test has been studied as a predictor of bacterial load, severity of gastric inflammation, and response to eradication treatment. Several studies have also explored the usefulness of some serologic markers as indicators of the gastric mucosa status. With regard to invasive tests, molecular methods are being used more and more, but the breakthrough this year was the direct in vivo observation of *H. pylori* during endoscopy.

Although several diagnostic tests are available for the detection of *Helicobacter pylori* infection, all of them have both advantages and disadvantages, and none can be considered as a single gold standard. A combination of endoscopic biopsy-based methods (such as rapid urease testing, histologic examination, culture, and PCR) usually gives the most reliable diagnosis. However, these methods are invasive, expensive, and not always applicable. Therefore, there is an increasing interest in non-invasive tests for *H. pylori* detection. Several tests have been developed and introduced into clinical practice: urea breath tests, stool antigen tests, and serologic tests. In this article, we will first review the publications concerning non-invasive tests, then present an update on invasive tests.

Non-invasive tests

The potential indications for the use of non-invasive methods for *H. pylori* detection include: 1, screening of patients who do not require direct examination of gastric mucosa; 2, difficulties in obtaining biopsies (e.g., bleeding ulcers, anticoagulant therapy); 3, evaluation of eradication efficacy; and 4, epidemiologic studies [1].

Urea Breath Test

The urea breath test (UBT) is considered to be the most accurate non-invasive method to detect *H. pylori* infection. Although the original description of the ¹³C-UBT was published nearly 20 years ago, and many modifications

have been introduced since then, the test has not yet been definitely standardized. There are differences among protocols regarding methods of analyzing breath samples, types of test meal, doses of urea, time of breath sampling, and cut-off values. A Czech study conducted on healthy volunteers revealed that a citric acid solution as a test drink was superior to orange juice and water, and the optimal time intervals for breath sampling were 20 or 25 minutes after urea ingestion [2]. Another study demonstrated that, in contrast to ascorbic acid, citric acid and malic acid had the same enhancing effect on intragastric urease activity, so malic acid could replace citric acid as a test meal in the ¹³C-UBT [3]. A study on the performance of the ¹⁴C-urea breath test comparing citric acid, trisodium citrate, and drinking water as test meals showed that a small amount of citric acid (1.3 g) with only one breath sampling between 15 and 30 minutes after urea ingestion was sufficient to diagnose *H. pylori* infection accurately [4]. In the majority of settings, the carbon gas isotopic ratio is analyzed by mass spectrometry. However, improved infrared spectrometers show comparable performance and have the advantage of lower cost [5]. The cut-off point differentiating between positive and negative ¹³C-UBT results is still a controversial issue. In a study analyzing $\delta^{13}CO_2$ values in *H. pylori*eradicated patients up to 5 years after therapy, most of the positive and negative results were outside a 2 and 5‰ range [6]. The authors concluded that $\delta^{13}CO_2$ values < 2‰ precisely indicated *H. pylori* eradication, but borderline results could require verification either by repeated UBT or another diagnostic method. The post-treatment UBT is

usually performed 4-6 weeks after completion of therapy. A study by Shirin et al. found that the use of a high dose (4 g) of citric acid as a test meal allowed the shortening of this period to 14 days after treatment (the rate of falsenegative results was 3.2%, and the test sensitivity and specificity 80 and 100%, respectively) [7]. Some studies revealed that the urea blood test had a similar performance to UBT both for diagnosis and assessment of H. pylori eradication [8,9]. A gastroscopic real-time ¹³C-UBT test was shown to be useful in patients undergoing gastroscopy with contraindications to biopsy [10]. The accuracy of UBT in patients after partial gastrectomy is controversial. A Japanese study revealed that under certain examination conditions (horizontal position on the left side, use of a film-coated 13C-urea tablet, measurement after 30 minutes of urea ingestion, cut-off value 4.5%), it was possible to obtain accurate UBT results in patients with a remnant stomach regardless of the method of anastomosis [11].

Some authors studied the δ^{13} C-UBT value as predictor of gastric lesions severity, bacterial load, and response to eradication therapy. Zagari et al. showed a correlation between UBT values, activity of gastritis, and *H. pylori* colonization density [12], whereas Tseng et al. did not find significant differences in UBT values between patients with gastritis, duodenal ulcer, gastric ulcer, and gastric cancer [13]. A weak correlation was observed between pretreatment UBT values and resistance to *H. pylori* treatment [14]. Several important issues associated with UBT have been systematically reviewed by Gisbert and Pajares [15].

Stool Antigen Tests

Several commercial stool antigen tests are currently available. A polyclonal antibody-based immunoenzyme assay (Premier Platinum HpSA, Meridian Inc., OH, USA), a monoclonal antibody-based immunoenzyme assay (Amplified IDEIA HpStAR, Dako, Glostrup, Denmark or Femtolab, Connex, Martinsried, Germany), and a rapid monoclonal immunochromatographic assay (Immuno-Card STAT! HpSA, Meridian Bioscience Europe, Milan, Italy) have been most thoroughly evaluated. The latter has the advantage of being fast (the results are available within 10 minutes), and easy to perform, so it can be carried out in the doctor's office. The sensitivity and specificity of stool antigen tests in various clinical settings are shown in Table 1. The studies comparing the three types of tests showed that the monoclonal EIA tests produced the most accurate results, both in pre- and post-treatment settings. However, the problem of stool antigen tests is their performance in populations with a low prevalence of H. pylori infection. One study [16] showed that all three tests had high positive predictive values (PPV) of 94.0–97.8% in untreated patients with a high rate of *H. pylori* infection (65.5%). The authors estimated that with an *H. pylori* prevalence of 12%, the PPV of HpSA, HpStAR, and ImmunoCard would be reduced to 76.6, 77.5, and 54.8%, respectively. Therefore, they suggested that in populations with a low *H. pylori* prevalence, it would be advisable to verify positive results of stool antigen tests with UBT or serology. Indeed, a combination of HpSA and UBT was shown to be useful for evaluation of eradication therapy [17].

Studies revealed that in some patient populations, in order to increase the sensitivity and the specificity of stool antigen tests, it may be necessary to adjust the cut-off values of EIA tests or to consider weakly positive results of the ImmunoCard test as negative for *H. pylori* diagnosis [18–20].

The stool antigen tests have been reported to give transiently positive results in children, frequently considered as false-positive findings [21]. In a study of 323 children who had stool samples taken twice at 3-month intervals, 26 were found to be transiently *H. pylori* positive by the HpSA test (first result positive and the second one negative) [22]. Using 16S rDNA primers and a nested PCR, *Helicobacter* sp. DNA was amplified from 15 of 26 (58%) stool samples originally positive in the antigen test. Taking into account the relatively low sensitivity of stool PCR (25–50%), the authors concluded that the vast majority of transiently positive stool HpSA tests represented transient infection with *Helicobacter* sp. (mainly with *H. pylori*, but also rarely with other *Helicobacter* species).

The performance of stool antigen tests in children has been shown to be associated with clinical manifestations and the patient's age. In symptomatic children with high *H. pylori* prevalence (> 60%), the sensitivity of polyclonal EIA tests ranged from 98 to 100%, and the specificity from 83.4 to 100% [23,24]. These values, however, were much lower in asymptomatic children [25]. In the latter group, with similarly high rates of *H. pylori* infection (52.6%), the sensitivity and specificity of the HpSA test were only 75.6 and 61%, respectively. The sensitivity and negative predictive values (NPV) of a rapid ImmunoCard test in children under 5 years of age were 75 and 93.3%, respectively, but they increased to 100% (both values) in patients older than 10 years [26].

A systematic review on the use of stool antigen tests and other non-invasive methods for *H. pylori* diagnosis in children was published by Koletzko [27].

The available studies indicate that stool antigen tests are usually inferior to the UBT, but they may represent an alternative option in patients with limited access to UBT who do not require endoscopy of the gastrointestinal tract.

 Table 1
 Evaluation of stool antigen tests in various clinical settings

		Clinical setting			Author
Test	Patients	(No. of specimens)	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	(reference)
НрSA					
	Adults	Pretreatment (114)	79	92	Islam et al. [74]
		Post-treatment (18)	67	100	
	Adults	Pretreatment (282)	91.9	95.9	Veijola et al. [16]
		Post-treatment (182)	81.3	97	
	Adults	Pretreatment (82)	90.2	NA	Veijola et al. [75]
		Post-treatment (82)	75	95.5	
	Elderly	Untreated (56)	76	93	Inelmen et al. [76]
		On PPI (29)	82	83	
	Adults	Post-treatment (26)	25	91	Gisbert et al. [18]
	Adults	2-week post-treatment (48)	87	33	Erzin et al. [77]
		6-week post-treatment (48)	67	70	
	Adults	Post-treatment (70)	100	91	Aguemon et al. [7
	Adults	Post-treatment (325)	73.4	97.8	Manes et al. [19]
	Children	Pretreatment (43)	94.4	100	Hauser et al. [20]
	Children	Pretreatment (80)	98	100	Gulcan et al. [23]
	Children	Pretreatment (86)	75.6	61	Shaikh et al. [25]
IpStAR					
	Adults	Pretreatment (282)	96.2	95.9	Veijola et al. [16]
		Post-treatment (182)	100	97.6	
	Adults	Pretreatment (82)	97.6	NA	Veijola et al. [75]
		Post-treatment (82)	93.8	98.5	
	Adults	Post-treatment (26)	100	46	Gisbert et al. [18]
		After cut-off adjustment	100	91	
	Adults	2-week post-treatment (48)	93	67	Erzin et al. [77]
		6-week post-treatment (48)	93	88	
	Adults	Post-treatment (325)	88.3	94.8	Manes et al. [19]
	Adults	Post-treatment (250)	100	97.4	Perri et al. [79]
mmunoCa	rd				
	Adults	Pretreatment (282)	93	88.7	Veijola et al. [16]
		Post-treatment (182)	93.8	97	
	Adults	Pretreatment (82)	96.3	NA	Veijola et al. [75]
		Post-treatment (82)	87.5	95.5	
	Adults	Pretreatment (187)	94.6	78.9	Wu et al. [80]
		Post-treatment (67)	100	92	
	Adults	Post-treatment (26)	75	90	Gisbert et al. [18]
	Children	Pretreatment (159)	88.1	88.1	Antos [81]
		Post-treatment (79)	88.9	93.9	
	Children	Pretreatment (43)	100	76	Hauser et al. [20]
		After adjustment ^a	100	96	
	Children	Pretreatment overall (128)	86.2	92.9	Kalach et al. [26]
		< 5 years of age (38)	75	93.9	,
		5–10 years of age (47)	85.7	90.9	
		> 10 years of age (43)	100	94.4	

NA, not available; ${}^{\mathrm{a}}\!\mathrm{weakly}$ positive results treated as negative findings.

Antibody Tests

Numerous serologic tests are currently available for *H. pylori* testing, however, their application in a given population may require local adjustment of cut-off values [28]. Four rapid blood tests, i.e., BM-test (BM, Boehringer

Mannheim, East Essex, UK), QuickVue (QV, Quidel, CA, USA), Pyloriset Screen (PS, Orion Diagnostica, Espoo, Finland), and Unigold (UG, Trinity, Biotech, NY, USA) were validated in Asian patients [29]. All tests showed a specificity above 95%, and a PPV exceeding 97%. However, their sensitivity varied from 43.3% (QV test) to 80.2%

(PS test), and the NPV ranged from 47.9% (QV test) to 73.1% (PS test). A study evaluating a rapid immunochromatographic (ICM) blood test (Assure H. pylori Rapid Test, Genlabs Diagnostics, Singapore) and immunoblotting (HelicoBlot 2.1, Genlabs Diagnostics) in Thai children found that both tests were reliable for diagnosis of *H. pylori* infection in this setting (sensitivity and specificity of ICM were 96.0 and 94.6%, respectively, versus 100 and 96.2% for immunoblotting, respectively) [30]. A study performed on H. pylori-eradicated patients showed that the current infection marker (CIM) in the HelicoBlot 2.1 test could be detected up to 4 years after successful treatment, so it was not a reliable marker of ongoing *H. pylori* infection [31]. The positive HelicoBlot 2.1 was more accurate than the CagA band (116 kDa) only in detecting past H. pylori infection [31]. Although there is usually a good correlation between CagA antibody detection by immunoblot and the detection of the cagA gene by PCR, in patients infected with strains with incomplete cagPAI, the serologic methods may fail to detect CagA antibodies [32]. Immunoblotting with total lysate of *H. pylori* proved to be superior to the commercial ELISA (Bio-Rad) in the diagnosis of past H. pylori infection in patients with atrophic gastritis [33].

A study of the urine ELISA test (URINELISA, Otsuka Pharmaceutical, Tokushima, Japan) for the detection of *H. pylori* IgG antibodies conducted in Taiwan showed a sensitivity and a specificity of 91.7 and 90.8%, respectively [34]. A rapid urinary immunochromatographic test (RAPIRUN, Otsuka Pharmaceutical) to detect *H. pylori* antibodies performed on patients with proteinuria had an accuracy of 95.0% as compared to serum ELISA [35]. The ELISA (Enzygnost Anti-*Helicobacter pylori* II/IgG, Dade Behring, Marburg, Germany) used for *H. pylori* IgG detection in saliva showed lower sensitivity and specificity than the serum test (87 versus 96%, and 73 versus 90%, respectively) [36].

Several studies investigated the usefulness of serologic markers as predictors of the gastric mucosa status. Serum anti-parietal cell antibodies were found to correlate with antral atrophy [37], and serum pepsinogen I/II ratio was inversely related to the grade of corpus atrophy [38]. One study showed that the combination of anti-*H. pylori* antibodies, serum pepsinogens I and II, and gastrin-17 could be used not only to identify patients with atrophic gastritis but also to localize the site of atrophy [39]. In other studies, anti-*H. pylori* antibodies combined with serum pepsinogens I and II [40] or the level of *H. pylori* IgG2 antibodies [41] appeared to be a predictive marker for the development of gastric carcinoma.

Invasive tests

A breakthrough this year was the publication of the in vivo observation of *H. pylori* during endoscopy. This

new method, confocal endomicroscopy, allows a 1000 × magnification and is combined with topical acriflavine stain that stains the bacteria, and an IV fluorescein background, making it possible to observe the bacteria in their natural niche [42].

Culture remains a reference method that appears to be feasible in a clinical setting [43]. A new synthetic medium, replacing peptones and blood with hemoglobin, glutamine, and trace aminoacids in brucella medium, was proposed in Russia but no comparison with standard media was provided [44].

Because of the difficulty in obtaining biopsies, the string test has been further evaluated. When transport of the specimens is planned, gargling with a chlorhexidine mouthwash before swallowing the string test, in order to avoid oral contamination, improves the results [45]. In a study from Lima, Peru, *H. pylori* was cultured from 80% of the strings tested and detected by PCR from 91% in patients who were *H. pylori* positive by other invasive methods [46].

Gastric juice can also be used for biochemical measurements. Tucci et al. described a new device named Mt21–42 allowing an automatic measurement of pH and ammonium during endoscopy. They claimed that its sensitivity was similar to the UBT for *H. pylori* detection, and more sensitive than the currently available methods to detect atrophy [47].

As typical H. pylori gastritis may be less frequent, detection of the bacterium by molecular methods has become more valuable. Nested PCR has been successfully performed on biopsy samples exhibiting inflammatory changes [48] or on paraffin-embedded material [49]. In the latter study, PCR could detect H. pylori in 20% of histology negative biopsies, which increased positivity from 43 to 58% of the total samples. When real-time PCR is used, an assessment of H. pylori susceptibility to clarithromycin can be made. The TaqMan technology was used on 232 paraffin-embedded biopsies in Italy and detected 26.7% resistance, the A2143G mutation being the most frequent [50]. In another Italian study, PCR-based denaturing HPLC was performed on 101 biopsies and detected heteroduplex peaks in 25 of them. Culture confirmed the presence of clarithromycin resistance [51]. Resistance to tetracycline because of 16S rDNA mutations may also hamper the treatment success. A real-time PCR detection has been developed by Lawson et al. Eighteen strains with a decreased tetracycline susceptibility were studied, and 10 exhibited mutations in the 926-928 nucleotide triplet, but none of the 100 tetracyclinesusceptible strains had similar mutations. The method was used on gastric biopsies successfully [52].

Another application is to study the *cagA* type. It was possible to distinguish between Western-type *cagA* and

East Asian-type *cag*A directly on gastric biopsies [53] as well as on paraffin-embedded material [54].

A comparison of *H. pylori* isolates cultured from the same patient was also carried out. Two isolates cultured 9 years apart were compared for 50 different parameters. The two isolates were found to be derived from the same strain [55].

The genome content of 21 strain pairs issued each from a different patient was also compared with DNA microarrays and multilocus sequence analysis and mathematical modeling. The great majority of genetic changes were because of homologous recombination [56].

A global study of the bacterial flora present in the human stomach was performed for the first time by molecular analysis. A small subunit 16S rDNA clone library approach was used, generating 1833 sequences from 23 cases. Surprisingly, a higher diversity than that previously described was found, including 10% of uncharacterized phylotypes out of 128. The presence of H. pylori did not affect the composition of the gastric flora, which was significantly different from mouth and esophagus flora [57]. Along the same lines, total bacterial counts and real-time PCR with 52 gene- and species-specific primer sets were performed on gastric mucosa and juice samples from 10 children and 10 adults in Japan. Bacteria other than H. pylori were cultured from all of the adults and only one child. The results were correlated to atrophy present in adults but not in children who had a lower pH [58].

With regard to the urease test, Pronto Dry (MIC, Brignais, France), a solid-phase rapid urease test, was evaluated in several studies. It had a better accuracy than both the CLOtest and a liquid-phase urease test. It also had a significantly faster reaction time. However, its performance like other tests was jeopardized by proton pump inhibitor use [59–61]. In another study, biopsies used for rapid urease tests were also employed for DNA extraction to determine CYP2C19 and *H. pylori* 23S rDNA polymorphism [62].

Histology is still preferred by many gastroenterologists for *H. pylori* diagnosis as it also allows the determination of the gastric mucosal status. The use of special stains in routine practice has been questioned by Wright and Kelly who favour their utilization only in special cases [63]. The main progress in this area is the use of fluorescence in situ hybridization, which allows the detection of both *H. pylori* and of its clarithromycin resistance directly on paraffinembedded gastric biopsy sections with a good accuracy [64,65].

Nongastric Specimens

Molecular methods have also been used to look for *H. pylori* in liver diseases. Although no *Helicobacter* was grown from bile samples, *H. pylori* DNA (99% similar) was

detected in bile from 96.7% of patients with hepatobiliary diseases versus 6.6% of controls in India [66]. In Southern Italy, bile and cholecystic tissue homogenate were positive by PCR in 51% of cases correlating with *H. pylori* stool antigen [67]. Gallstones were explored in Sweden using a multiple-displacement amplification (MDA) assay. Pyrosequencing analysis of 16S rDNA derived from MDA revealed 20 *H. pylori*-positive samples out of 33 [68].

Finally, *Helicobacter* was cultured from three liver samples with hepatocellular carcinoma in China (3/28) and observed by scanning electron microscopy in two, whereas 60% were positive by PCR [69].

Molecular tests also showed positive results in water samples from the environment [70–72]. However, the use of only one target gene casts doubts on the value of the results. Parallel staining of the filters with a species-specific fluorescent antibody in one study [72] was an interesting approach, as was a combination of direct viable counts and fluorescent in situ hybridization [73].

References

- 1 Hirschl AM, Makristathis A. Non-invasive Helicobacter pylori diagnosis: stool or breath tests? Dig Liver Dis 2005;37:732-4.
- 2 Kopacova M, Bures J, Vorisek V, Konstacky M, Rejchrt S, Zivny P, Douda T, Palicka V. Comparison of different protocols for ¹³C-urea breath test for the diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in healthy volunteers. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* 2005;65:491–8.
- 3 Agha A, Opekun AR, Abudayyeh S, Graham DY. Effect of different organic acids (citric, malic, and ascorbic) on intragastric urease activity. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2005;21:1145–8.
- 4 Pathak CM, Bhasin DK, Nada R, Bhattacharya A, Khanduja KL. Changes in gastric environment with test meals affect the performance of ¹⁴C-urea breath test. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2005;20:1260–5.
- 5 Opekun AR, Gotschall AB, Abdalla N, Agent C, Torres E, Sutton FM, Graham DY, Tsuchiya K. Improved infrared spectrophotometer for point-of-care patient ¹³C-urea breath testing in the primary care setting. *Clin Biochem* 2005;38:731–4.
- 6 Gisbert JP, Olivares D, Jimenez I, Pajares JM. Long-term follow-up of ¹³C-urea breath test results after *Helicobacter pylori* eradication: frequency and significance of borderline delta ¹³CO₂ values. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2006;23:275–80.
- 7 Shirin H, Levine A, Shevah O, Shabat-Sehayek V, Aeed H, Wardi J, Birkenfeld S, Eliakim R, Avni Y. Eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* can be accurately confirmed 14 days after termination of triple therapy using a high-dose citric acid-based ¹³C-urea breath test. *Digestion* 2005;71:208–12.
- 8 Ahmed F, Murthy UK, Chey WD, Toskes PP, Wagner DA. Evaluation of the Ez-HBT *Helicobacter* blood test to establish *Helicobacter pylori* eradication. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2005;22:875–80.
- 9 Fry LC, Curioso WH, Rickes S, Horton G, Hirschowitz BI, Monkemuller K. Comparison of ¹³C-urea blood test to ¹³C-breath test and rapid urease test for the diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Acta Gastroenterol Latinoam* 2005;35:225–9.
- 10 Fruehauf H, Lindenmann NC, Volkart K, Bauerfeind P, Fried M. Gastroscopic real-time ¹³C-urea breath test. Endoscopy 2005;37:527–31.

- 11 Togashi A, Matsukura N, Kato S, Masuda G, Ohkawa K, Tokunaga A, Yamada N, Tajiri T. Simple and accurate ¹³C-urea breath test for detection of *Helicobacter pylori* in the remnant stomach after surgery. *J Gastroenterol* 2006;41:127–32.
- 12 Zagari RM, Pozzato P, Martuzzi C, et al. ¹³C-urea breath test to assess *Helicobacter pylori* bacterial load. *Helicobacter* 2005;10:615–9.
- 13 Tseng CA, Wu JY, Pan YSYuFJ, Fuccio L, Martinelli G, Roda E, Bazzoli F. Comparison of ¹³C-urea breath test values in gastric cancer, peptic ulcer, and gastritis. *Hepatogastroenterology* 2005;52:1636–40.
- 14 Cremonini F, Bartolozzi F, Armuzzi A, Zocco MA, Santarelli L, Gabrielli M, Candelli M, Nista EC, Santoliquido A, Gasbarrini A. Can ¹³C-urea breath test predict resistance to therapy in *Helicobacter pylori* infection? *Hepatogastroenterology* 2005;52:1119–21.
- 15 Gisbert JP, Pajares JM. ¹³C-urea breath test in the management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Dig Liver Dis* 2005;37:899–906.
- 16 Veijola L, Myllyluoma E, Korpela R, Rautelin H. Stool antigen tests in the diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori* infection before and after eradication therapy. *World J Gastroenterol* 2005;11:7340–4.
- 17 Ito M, Tanaka S, Kim S, et al. A combination of the *Helicobacter pylori* stool antigen test and urea breath test is useful for clinical evaluation of eradication therapy: a multicenter study. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2005;20:1241–5.
- 18 Gisbert JP, Trapero M, Pajares JM. Evaluation of three different tests for the detection of stool antigens to confirm *Helicobacter pylori* eradication after treatment. A pilot study. *Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2005;28:615–8.
- 19 Manes G, Zanetti MV, Piccirillo MM, Lombardi G, Balzano A, Pieramico O. Accuracy of a new monoclonal stool antigen test in post-eradication assessment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: comparison with the polyclonal stool antigen test and urea breath test. *Dig Liver Dis* 2005;37:751–5.
- 20 Hauser B, Wybo I, Tshibuabua G, Pierard D, Vandenplas Y. Multiple-step polyclonal versus one-step monoclonal enzyme immunoassay in the detection of *Helicobacter pylori* antigen in the stools of children. *Acta Paediatr* 2006;95:297–301.
- 21 Konno M, Fujii N, Yokota S, Sato K, Takahashi M, Mino E, Sugiyama T. Five-year follow-up study of mother-to-child transmission of *Helicobacter pylori* infection detected by a random amplified polymorphic DNA fingerprinting method. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43:2246–50.
- 22 Haggerty TD, Perry S, Sanchez L, Perez-Perez G, Parsonnet J. Significance of transiently positive enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay results in detection of *Helicobacter pylori* in stool samples from children. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43:2220–3.
- 23 Gulcan EM, Varol A, Kutlu T, Cullu F, Erkan T, Adal E, Ulucakli O, Erdamar S. Helicobacter pylori stool antigen test. Indian J Pediatr 2005;72:675–8.
- 24 Falsafi T, Valizadeh N, Sepehr S, Najafi M. Application of a stool antigen test to evaluate the incidence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children and adolescents from Tehran, Iran. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol* 2005;12:1094–7.
- 25 Shaikh S, Khaled MA, Islam A, Kurpad AV, Mahalanabis D. Evaluation of stool antigen test for *Helicobacter pylori* infection in asymptomatic children from a developing country using ¹³C-urea breath test as a standard. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 2005;40:552–4.
- 26 Kalach N, Nguyen VB, Bergeret M, Boutros N, Dupont C, Raymond J. Usefulness and influence of age of a novel rapid monoclonal enzyme immunoassay stool antigen for the diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children. *Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis* 2005;52:157–60.

- 27 Koletzko S. Non-invasive diagnostic tests for *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2005;19:433–9.
- 28 Harris P, Perez-Perez G, Zylberberg A, Rollan A, Serrano C, Riera F, Einisman H, Garcia D, Viviani P. Relevance of adjusted cut-off values in commercial serological immuno assays for *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children. *Dig Dis Sci* 2005:50:2103–9.
- 29 Lim LG, Yeoh KG, Ho B, Lim SG. Validation of four *Helicobacter pylori* rapid blood tests in a multi-ethnic Asian population. *World J Gastroenterol* 2005;11:6681–3.
- 30 Treepongkaruna S, Nopchinda S, Taweewongsounton A, Atisook K, Pienvichit P, Vithayasai N, Simakachorn N, Aanpreung P. A rapid serologic test and immunoblotting for the detection of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children. *J Trop Pediatr* 2006.
- 31 Lu CY, Kuo CH, Lo YC, et al. The best method of detecting prior Helicobacter pylori infection. World J Gastroenterol 2005;11:5672-6.
- 32 Shimoyama T, Fukuda S, Nakasato F, Yoshimura T, Mikami T, Munakata A. Relation of CagA seropositivity to cagPAI phenotype and histological grade of gastritis in patients with *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *World J Gastroenterol* 2005;11:3751–5.
- 33 Mini R, Annibale B, Lahner E, Bernardini G, Figura N, Santucci A. Western blotting of total lysate of *Helicobacter pylori* in cases of atrophic body gastritis. *Clin Chem* 2006;52:220–6.
- 34 Kuo FC, Wang SW, Wu IC, Yu FJ, Yang YC, Wu JY, Wang WM, Wu DC. Evaluation of urine ELISA test for detecting *Helicobacter pylori* infection in Taiwan: a prospective study. *World J Gastroenterol* 2005;11:5545–8.
- 35 Yamamoto T, Kojima K, Sanaka M, Ishii T, Osaki Y, Tsutsumi H, Tsuchiya A, Kuyama Y, Uchida S. Reliability of rapid urinary test for antibody to *Helicobacter pylori* in adult patients with proteinuria. *Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis* 2006;54:105–8.
- 36 Sonmezoglu M, Baysal B, Ergen A, Barut SG. Detection and evaluation of salivary antibodies to *Helicobacter pylori* in dyspeptic patients. *Int J Clin Pract* 2005;59:433–6.
- 37 Lo CC, Hsu PI, Lo GH, et al. Implications of anti-parietal cell antibodies and anti-Helicobacter pylori antibodies in histological gastritis and patient outcome. World J Gastroenterol 2005;11:4715–20.
- 38 Graham DY, Nurgalieva ZZ, El-Zimaity HM, Opekun AR, Campos A, Guerrero L, Chavez A, Cardenas V. Non-invasive versus histologic detection of gastric atrophy in a Hispanic population in North America. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2006;4:306–14.
- 39 Germana B, Di Mario F, Cavallaro LG, et al. Clinical usefulness of serum pepsinogens I and II, gastrin-17, and anti-*Helicobacter pylori* antibodies in the management of dyspeptic patients in primary care. *Dig Liver Dis* 2005;37:501–8.
- 40 Watabe H, Mitsushima T, Yamaji Y, Okamoto M, Wada R, Kokubo T, Doi H, Yoshida H, Kawabe T, Omata M. Predicting the development of gastric cancer from combining *Helicobacter pylori* antibodies and serum pepsinogen status: a prospective endoscopic cohort study. *Gut* 2005;54:764–8.
- 41 Ren Z, Borody T, Pang G, Li LC, Dunkley M, Clancy R. Selective reduction of anti-*Helicobacter pylori* IgG subclass antibody in gastric carcinoma. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2005;20:1338–43.
- 42 Kiesslich R, Goetz M, Burg J, Stolte M, Siegel E, Maeurer MJ, Thomas S, Strand D, Galle PR, Neurath MF. Diagnosing *Helicobacter pylori* in vivo by confocal laser endoscopy. *Gastroenterology* 2005;128:2119–23.
- 43 Pellicano R, Smedile A, Ponzetto A, et al. How accurate is the culture of *Helicobacter pylori* in a clinical setting? An appraisal. *Panminerva Med* 2005;47:191–4.
- 44 Vartanova NO, Arzumanyan VG, Serdyuk OA, Temper RM.

- Creation of a new synthetic medium for culturing *Helicobacter* pylori. Bull Exp Biol Med 2005;139:580–4.
- 45 Windsor HM, Abioye-Kuteyi EA, Marshall BJ. Methodology and transport medium for collection of *Helicobacter pylori* on a string test in remote locations. *Helicobacter* 2005;10:630–4.
- 46 Velapatino B, Balqui J, Gilman RH, et al. Validation of string test for diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori* infections. *J Clin Microbiol* 2006;44:976–80.
- 47 Tucci A, Tucci P, Bisceglia M, et al. Real-time detection of Helicobacter pylori infection and atrophic gastritis: comparison between conventional methods and a novel device for gastric juice analysis during endoscopy. Endoscopy 2005;37:966–76.
- 48 Donmez-Altuntas H, Guven K. Detection of *Helicobacter pylori* using nested polymerase chain reaction and rapid urease test in gastric biopsy samples. *Turk J Gastroenterol* 2002;13:94–7.
- 49 Zsikla V, Hailemariam S, Baumann M, Mund MT, Schaub N, Meier R, Cathomas G. Increased rate of *Helicobacter pylori* infection detected by PCR in biopsies with chronic gastritis. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2006;30:242–8.
- 50 de Francesco V, Margiotta M, Zullo A, et al. Primary clarithromycin resistance in Italy assessed on *Helicobacter pylori* DNA sequences by TaqMan real-time polymerase chain reaction. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2006;23:429–35.
- 51 Posteraro P, Branca G, Sanguinetti M, Ranno S, Cammarota G, Rahimi S, De Carlo M, Posteraro B, Fadda G. Rapid detection of clarithromycin resistance in *Helicobacter pylori* using a PCR-based denaturing HPLC assay. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2006;57:71–8.
- 52 Lawson AJ, Elviss NC, Owen RJ. Real-time PCR detection and frequency of 16S rDNA mutations associated with resistance and reduced susceptibility to tetracycline in *Helicobacter pylori* from England and Wales. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2005;56:282–6.
- 53 Yamazaki S, Kato S, Matsukura N, et al. Identification of Helicobacter pylori and the cagA genotype in gastric biopsies using highly sensitive real-time PCR as a new diagnostic tool. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 2005;44:261–8.
- 54 Ueda H, Ito M, Eguchi H, Tanaka S, Yoshihara M, Haruma K, Hatakeyama M, Chayama K. Development of a novel method to detect *Helicobacter pylori cagA* genotype from paraffin-embedded materials: comparison between patients with duodenal ulcer and gastric cancer in young Japanese. *Digestion* 2006;73:47–53.
- 55 Prouzet-Mauleon V, Hussain MA, Lamouliatte H, Kauser F, Megraud F, Ahmed N. Pathogen evolution in vivo: genome dynamics of two isolates obtained 9 years apart from a duodenal ulcer patient infected with a single *Helicobacter pylori* strain. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43:4237–41.
- 56 Kraft C, Stack A, Josenhans C, Niehus E, Dietrich G, Correa P, Fox JG, Falush D, Suerbaum S. Genomic changes during chronic Helicobacter pylori infection. J Bacteriol 2006;188:249–54.
- 57 Bik EM, Eckburg PB, Gill SR, Nelson KE, Purdom EA, Francois F, Perez-Perez G, Blaser MJ, Relman DA. Molecular analysis of the bacterial microbiota in the human stomach. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2006;103:732–7.
- 58 Kato S, Fujimura S, Kimura K, Nishio T, Hamada S, Minoura T, Oda M. Non-*Helicobacter* bacterial flora rarely develops in the gastric mucosal layer of children. *Dig Dis Sci* 2006;51:641–6.
- 59 Tseng CA, Wang WM, Wu DC. Comparison of the clinical feasibility of three rapid urease tests in the diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Dig Dis Sci* 2005;50:449–52.
- 60 Perna F, Ricci C, Gatta L, Bernabucci V, Cavina M, Miglioli M, Vaira D. Diagnostic accuracy of a new rapid urease test (Pronto Dry), before and after treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Minerva Gastroenterol Dietol* 2005;51:247–54.

- 61 Yakoob J, Jafri W, Abid S, Jafri N, Abbas Z, Hamid S, Islam M, Anis K, Shah HA, Shaikh H. Role of rapid urease test and histopathology in the diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in a developing country. *BMC Gastroenterol* 2005;5:38.
- 62 Furuta T, Sagehashi Y, Shirai N, et al. Influence of CYP2C19 polymorphism and *Helicobacter pylori* genotype determined from gastric tissue samples on response to triple therapy for *H. pylori* infection. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2005;3:564–73.
- 63 Wright CL, Kelly JK. The use of routine special stains for upper gastrointestinal biopsies. *Am J Surg Pathol* 2006;30:357–61.
- 64 Can F, Yilmaz Z, Demirbilek M, Bilezikci B, Kunefeci G, Atac FB, Selcuk H, Arslan H, Boyacioglu S, Sahin FI. Diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori* infection and determination of clarithromycin resistance by fluorescence in situ hybridization from formalinfixed, paraffin-embedded gastric biopsy specimens. *Can J Microbiol* 2005;51:569–73.
- 65 Morris JM, Reasonover AL, Bruce MG, Bruden DL, McMahon BJ, Sacco FD, Berg DE, Parkinson AJ. Evaluation of seaFAST, a rapid fluorescent in situ hybridization test, for detection of *Helicobacter pylori* and resistance to clarithromycin in paraffin-embedded biopsy sections. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43:3494–6.
- 66 Tiwari SK, Khan AA, Ibrahim M, Habeeb MA, Habibullah CM. Helicobacter pylori and other Helicobacter species DNA in human bile samples from patients with various hepato-biliary diseases. World J Gastroenterol 2006;12:2181–6.
- 67 Neri V, Margiotta M, de Francesco V, et al. DNA sequences and proteic antigens of *H. pylori* in cholecystic bile and tissue of patients with gallstones. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2005;22:715–20.
- 68 Nilsson I, Shabo I, Svanvik J, Monstein HJ. Multiple displacement amplification of isolated DNA from human gallstones: molecular identification of *Helicobacter* DNA by means of 16S rDNA-based pyrosequencing analysis. *Helicobacter* 2005:10:592–600.
- 69 Xuan SY, Li N, Qiang X, Zhou RR, Shi YX, Jiang WJ. *Helicobacter* infection in hepatocellular carcinoma tissue. *World J Gastroenterol* 2006;12:2335–40.
- 70 Queralt N, Bartolome R, Araujo R. Detection of *Helicobacter pylori* DNA in human faeces and water with different levels of faecal pollution in the north-east of Spain. *J Appl Microbiol* 2005;98:889–95.
- 71 Voytek MA, Ashen JB, Fogarty LR, Kirshtein JD, Landa ER. Detection of *Helicobacter pylori* and fecal indicator bacteria in five North American rivers. *J Water Health* 2005;3:405–22.
- 72 McDaniels AE, Wymer L, Rankin C, Haugland R. Evaluation of quantitative real-time PCR for the measurement of *Helicobacter pylori* at low concentrations in drinking water. *Water Res* 2005;39:4808–16.
- 73 Piqueres P, Moreno Y, Alonso JL, Ferrus MA. A combination of direct viable count and fluorescent in situ hybridization for estimating *Helicobacter pylori* cell viability. *Res Microbiol* 2006;157:345–9.
- 74 Islam S, Weilert F, Babington R, Dickson G, Smith AC. Stool antigen testing for the diagnosis and confirmation of eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: a prospective blinded trial. *Intern Med J* 2005;35:526–9.
- 75 Veijola L, Oksanen A, Lofgren T, Sipponen P, Karvonen AL, Rautelin H. Comparison of three stool antigen tests in confirming *Helicobacter pylori* eradication in adults. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2005;40:395–401.
- 76 Inelmen EM, Gasparini G, Sergi G, Enzi G. Evaluation of Helicobacter pylori with a stool antigen assay in frail, elderly patients. Scand J Gastroenterol 2005;40:794–9.
- 77 Erzin Y, Altun S, Dobrucali A, Aslan M, Erdamar S, Dirican A,

- Kocazeybek B. Evaluation of two enzyme immunoassays for detecting *Helicobacter pylori* in stool specimens of dyspeptic patients after eradication therapy. *J Med Microbiol* 2005;54:863–6.
- 78 Aguemon B, Struelens M, Deviere J, Denis O, Golstein P, Salmon I, Nagy N. Primary antibiotic resistance and effectiveness of *Helicobacter pylori* triple therapy in ulcero-inflammatory pathologies of the upper digestive tract. *Acta Gastroenterol Belg* 2005:68:287–93.
- 79 Perri F, Quitadamo M, Ricciardi R, Piepoli A, Cotugno R, Gentile A, Pilotto A, Andriulli A. Comparison of a monoclonal antigen
- stool test (Hp StAR) with the ¹³C-urea breath test in monitoring *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy. *World J Gastroenterol* 2005;11:5878–81.
- 80 Wu IC, Wang SW, Yang YC, et al. Comparison of a new officebased stool immunoassay and ¹³C-UBT in the diagnosis of current *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *J Lab Clin Med* 2006;147:145–9.
- 81 Antos D, Crone J, Konstantopoulos N, Koletzko S. Evaluation of a novel rapid one-step immunochromatographic assay for detection of monoclonal *Helicobacter pylori* antigen in stool samples from children. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43:2598–601.

Pathogenesis of Helicobacter pylori Infection

Masanori Hatakeyama* and Tomasz Brzozowski†

*Division of Molecular Oncology Institute for Genetic Medicine Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan, †Department of Physiology, Jagiellonian University Medical College, Cracow, Poland

Keywords

cag pathogenicity island, cyclooxygenase-2, nuclear factor-κB, proinflammatory cytokines, nonsteroidal antiflammatory drugs, ghrelin.

Reprint requests to: Professor Masanori Hatakeyama, Division of Molecular Oncology Institute for Genetic Medicine, Hokkaido University Kita-15, Nishi-7, Kita-ku, 060-0815 Sapporo, Japan. Tel./Fax: 81-11-706-7544; E-mail: mhata@igm.hokudai.ac.jp

Professor Tomasz Brzozowski, Department of Physiology Jagiellonian University Medical College, 16 Grzegorzecka Street, 31-531 Cracow, Poland

Tel.: (4812) 424-7231; Fax: (4812) 421-1578; E-mail: mpbrzozo@cyf-kr.edu.pl

Abstract

Much interest has been shown in the relationship between Helicobacter pylori infection and gastric carcinogenesis. It is becoming clearer that *H. pylori* strains carrying a functional cag pathogenicity island (cagPAI), which encodes the type IV secretion system (TFSS) and its effector CagA, play an important role in the development of gastric carcinoma. Furthermore, genetic polymorphism present in the caqA gene appears to influence the degree of an individual caqPAI-positive H. pylori to elicit gastric mucosal lesions, and this process is significantly affected by host genetic polymorphisms such as proinflammatory cytokine gene polymorphisms. Pathomechanism of gastric carcinogenesis associated with H. pylori includes bacteria-host interaction leading to morphologic alterations such as atrophic gastritis and gastrointestinal metaplasia mediated by COX-2 overexpression, cancer cell invasion, and neo-angiogenesis via TLR2/TLR9 system and transcription factors (e.g., NF-KB) activation. In addition, H. pylori infection triggers adhesion molecule expression and activity and produces an enhancement in oxidative stress interacting with gastric production of appetite hormone ghrelin and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs.

Helicobacter pylori-Host Cell Interaction

The lipopolysaccharide O-antigen is involved in the adherence of Helicobacter pylori to gastric epithelial cells. Fowler et al. showed that the O-antigen is specifically recognized by a β-galactoside-binding lectin, galectin-3 [1]. Infection with H. pylori increased the level of galectin-3 expression, which was mediated by the CagA-activated MAP kinase pathway. Backert et al. and Shibata et al. investigated changes in gene expression upon infection of gastric epithelial cells with H. pylori [2,3]. In accordance with previous reports, the majority of transcriptional changes induced by *H. pylori* infection were dependent on the cag pathogenicity island (cagPAI)-encoded type IV secretion system (TFSS), reinforcing the notion of a crucial role of cagPAI in H. pylori-mediated gastric pathogenesis. Backert et al. also performed proteome analysis and confirmed the impact of cagPAI on host cells at the protein level [2]. However, H. pylori targets identified by transcriptome and proteome approaches did not significantly correlate with one another. The importance of proteome analysis may be underscored by the results of a study showing that infection with *H. pylori* increases the level of c-Myc but

decreases the level of p27 cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor (CKI) expression in association with increased expression of the p27 ubiquitin ligase, Skp2. The fact that these changes were independent of transcription suggests that *H. pylori* can modify gastric epithelial cell growth through post-translational mechanisms [4]. A potentially interesting molecule upregulated by *H. pylori* infection is the prion protein [5]. This finding raises the possibility that *H. pylori* infection enhances propagation of pathogenic prion proteins in the gastric mucosa.

CagA and cagPAI Type IV Secretion System

cagPAI-encoded TFSS injects CagA and peptidoglycans into host epithelial cells. Injected CagA interacts with a number of host cell molecules in both tyrosine phosphorylation-dependent and -independent manners, whereas peptidoglycans are recognized by the bacterial sensor Nod1, which in turn activates nuclear factor (NF)-κB to elicit inflammatory responses such as interleukin (IL)-8 production. Perturbation of cell signaling by cagPAI-encoded molecules has been considered to cause cellular dysfunctions that lead to cell

transformation. Zhu et al. provided in vitro evidence for the role of CagA as a potential oncoprotein. They showed that ectopic expression of CagA in immortalized gastric epithelial cells induces a transformed phenotype as demonstrated by foci formation in soft agar [6]. The most characterized cellular target of CagA is the SHP-2 phosphatase. Gain-of-function mutations in the PTPN11 gene, which encodes SHP-2, have recently been found in a number of human malignancies, indicating a critical role of CagA-mediated SHP-2 deregulation in gastric carcinogenesis. Tsutsumi et al. reported that the focal adhesion kinase (FAK) is a substrate and downstream effector of CagA-activated SHP-2. Dephosphorylation of FAK by SHP-2 inhibited the FAK kinase activity. Since active FAK is required for the turnover of focal adhesion spots, cells expressing CagA showed a reduced focal adhesion, which was associated with elongated cell shape as well as elevated cell motility [7]. Goto et al. investigated the association of a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in intron 3 (SNP; JST057927; G to A) in the SHP-2encoding PTPN11 gene with gastric atrophy and gastric cancer and found that lower risk of gastric atrophy was associated with the A allele of the PTPN11 genotype. Their results indicated that G/A SNP in the PTPN11 gene is a risk factor for gastric atrophy and gastric carcinoma [8]. In addition to SHP-2 and Csk, Suzuki et al. reported that CagA binds another SH2 domain-containing protein, Crk, in a tyrosine phosphorylation-dependent manner [9]. CagA also exhibits pathophysiologic activities that are independent of CagA tyrosine phosphorylation. Of particular interest is the ability of CagA to associate with and impair the function of the tight junctions in polarized epithelial cells. Bagnoli et al. demonstrated that cells expressing CagA lose apico-basal polarity and cell-cell adhesion, which was concomitantly associated with pseudopodia formation and degradation of the basement membrane [10]. Hence, CagA elicits cellular changes that highly resemble the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT).

NF- κ B transcription factor plays a crucial role in inflammation. *H. pylori* has been reported to activate NF- κ B and thereby induce IL-8 and other proinflammatory cytokines by the translocation of peptidoglycans, but not CagA, via the *H. pylori* TFSS. However, Brandt et al. provided evidence that CagA per se is also capable of activating NF- κ B via the Ras-MAP kinase pathway in a manner independent of CagA tyrosine phosphorylation [11]. Kim et al. also showed that transfected CagA in AGS gastric epithelial cells gives rise to the induction of IL-8, but not RANTES or IL-1 β [12]. Hirata et al. reported that *H. pylori* stimulates IkB kinases (IKK) in gastric epithelial cells, which provides an additional pathway by which *H. pylori* activates NF- κ B [13]. Collectively, these results indicate that *H. pylori* potentiates NF- κ B transcriptional activity via multiple

distinct mechanisms. As another phosphorylation-independent activity, Yokoyama et al. reported that CagA activates calcineurin, a Ca²⁺-dependent serine/threonine phosphatase, which dephosphorylates cytoplasmic NFAT (nuclear factor of activated T-cells) and thereby causes nuclear translocation of NFAT [14]. Nuclear localized NFAT then transactivates NFAT-dependent genes. Intriguingly, *H. pylori* VacA cytotoxin counteracts the CagA activity to activate NFAT. Hence, NFAT is a common target for both CagA and VacA. Given a pleiotropic role of NFAT in cell growth and differentiation, deregulation of NFAT by these *H. pylori* virulence factors may contribute to the formation of diverged mucosal lesions caused by *cagA*-positive *H. pylori* infection.

Although the mechanisms as well as the involvement of CagA remain to be elucidated, *H. pylori cag*PAI appears to be responsible for several cellular responses. For instance, infection of gastric epithelial cells with *cag*PAI-positive *H. pylori* induces early growth response gene 1 (*Egr-1*) through activation of EGF receptor signaling [15]. Also, *H. pylori* infection strongly upregulates matrix metalloprotease-1 (MMP-1) expression in a manner that is dependent on *cag*PAI, but not CagA [16]. The MMP-1 induction involves activation of JNK and ERK MAP kinase pathways. Since MMPs degradate the extracellular matrix, elevated levels of MMPs in gastric mucosa infected with *cagA*-positive *H. pylori* may facilitate invasion and metastasis of transformed cells.

Rodent models have provided additional insights into the pathophysiologic role of the H. pylori cagPAI. Franco et al. demonstrated that cagA-positive H. pylori strains acquire the ability to induce gastric dysplasia and gastric adenocarcinoma in Mongolian gerbils upon in vivo adaptation [17]. The in vivo adapted, oncogenic H. pylori strains were capable of selectively activating β-catenin signal, which is dependent on CagA. Consistent with this observation, nuclear accumulation of β-catenin was increased in gastric mucosa from individuals infected with cagApositive H. pylori compared with that in gastric mucosa from individuals infected with a cagA-negative strain. Although the mechanism by which CagA induces nuclear accumulation of the β-catenin remains to be elucidated, deregulation of β-catenin signal by *cagA*-positive *H. pylori* may play an important role in gastric carcinogenesis, as is the case with colorectal carcinogenesis. A role of cagPAI in selective colonization of *H. pylori* has also been reported. Corpusdominant atrophic gastritis is a risk factor for gastric cancer. Reider et al. compared gastric lesions induced by chronic infection with intact cagPAI-positive H. pylori, a TFSS-defective isogenic mutant, and a cagA-disrupted isogenic mutant in Mongolian gerbils [18]. All infected gerbils developed strong antral inflammation with increased epithelial cell proliferation as well as elevated expression of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β . In contrast, high-level colonization of the gastric corpus required the presence of an intact *cag*PAI in *H. pylori*. Thus, corpus colonization of *H. pylori*, which depends on the functional *cag*PAI, may be responsible for the development of corpus-dominant atrophic gastritis with lower gastric acidity, a precancerous condition from which gastric carcinoma develops.

The mechanism of CagA localization in the bacterium and its subsequent recognition by TFSS have also been investigated. Intrabacterial CagA translocates from the center to the peripheral portion of the cytoplasm in response to an extracellular decrease in pH [19]. The translocation depends on the presence of UreI, a protondependent urea channel. The results indicate that H. pylori has a proton-dependent intracellular transport system that accelerates the interaction of CagA to the membraneassociated TFSS. At the inner bacterial membrane, CagA associates with CagF, another cagPAI-encoded molecule essential for the delivery of CagA into host gastric epithelial cells [20]. Translocation of CagA via the TFSS is dependent on the presence of the C-terminal 20-aminoacid stretch as well as the N-terminal region of CagA [21]. Upon injection into host gastric epithelial cells, CagA localizes to the inner surface of the plasma membrane, where it undergoes tyrosine phosphorylation by Src family kinases at EPIYA motifs. Higashi et al. revealed that membrane association of CagA in the host cell also requires the EPIYA motif but is independent of EPIYA tyrosine phosphorylation [22]. The presence of a single EPIYA motif is necessary and sufficient for the membrane localization of CagA. Accordingly, the EPIYA motif has a dual role, membrane association and tyrosine phosphorylation, both of which are crucial for CagA to deregulate host cell signaling. To investigate the role of cell-type specificity in CagA tyrosine phosphorylation, Bauer et al. infected 19 different mammalian cell lines with cagA-positive H. pylori [23]. The highest level of CagA tyrosine phosphorylation was observed in human gastric cell lines, with most nongastric human cells showing decreased CagA phosphorylation. CagA phosphorylation was hardly detectable in nonhuman cells. Infection with *H. pylori* that carries the functional TFSS stimulated IL-8 secretion in all human cell lines examined, whereas the AGS human gastric epithelial cell line was the only cell line that induced cell elongation known as the 'hummingbird' phenotype. The results indicate that host cell factors play an important role in the quality and quantity of cellular responses during H. pylori infection.

VacA Cytotoxin

VacA has been shown to assemble into an anion-selective channel upon integration into host cell membrane. Torres

et al. reported that the p33 and p55 domains of VacA can interact with each other and that the intramolecular interaction contributes to the binding, internalization, and vacuolating cytotoxic activity of VacA [24]. Hennig et al. evidenced that VacA interacts with the arginine-glycineaspartic acid (RGD)-containing region of fibronectin [25]. VacA-fibronectin interaction may therefore perturb integrin-mediated cellular functions. Gauthier et al. investigated the endocytic and intracellular trafficking pathways that were used by VacA in human epithelial cells [26]. VacA first binds to the plasma membrane domains localized above the F-actin structure that is regulated by Rac1 GTPase. VacA is then pinocytosed into early endocytic compartments, a process controlled by Cdc42 in a manner independent of clathrin, and subsequently sorted to late endosomes where it induces vacuolation. Yamasaki et al. showed that VacA induces cytochrome c release from mitochondria through activating proapoptotic proteins Bax and Bak and that VacA-induced apoptosis is independent of vacuolation of cells [27].

In addition to acting as a membrane channel, VacA has been shown to bind to receptor-like protein tyrosine phosphatases (RPTPs), RPTPα and RPTPβ. The interaction has been suspected to contribute to the induction of peptic ulcers. De Guzman et al. showed that both m1 and m2 forms of the VacA protein can bind RPTPα or RPTPβ [28]. The extracellular domains of the RPTP molecules undergo differential post-translational modification (glycosylation) in different cells, and this modification influences their VacA-binding activities. Thus, cellular responses to m1 or m2 VacA may be regulated at least in part by the posttranslational modification of RPTPs. Through sequence analysis of vacA, cagA, and cagE genes in H. pylori, Yamazaki et al. found that Western cagA was genotypically associated with s2 and s1a/m1a vacA, whereas East Asian caqA was associated with s1c/m1b vacA [29]. H. pylori strains possessing Western cagA and s2 or sla/mla vacA were found to be more closely associated with peptic ulcers.

COX-2 Expression as a Marker for *H. pylori*-Induced Carcinogenesis

Chronic gastritis induced by *H. pylori* is the strongest known risk factor for adenocarcinoma of the distal stomach and may also be a major cause of other malignancies that arise within the gastrointestinal tract [30,31]. Gastric intestinal metaplasia (IM) that is associated with *H. pylori* has been considered a premalignant condition in humans and Mongolian gerbils [32,33]. For instance, Kato et al. [34] studied whether *H. pylori* infection and inflammation leads to gastric atrophy in Japanese patients of a young age. They concluded that *H. pylori*-induced inflammation and

gastritis could increase the risk of antral atrophy in children [34]. Using a colon epithelium-specific monoclonal antibody and anti-COX-2 antibody, Sun et al. [35] found that in about 60% of *H. pylori*-infected patients there was a development of colonic phenotype of gastric IM and that COX-2 expression was frequent in both cancer and gastric IM adjacent to the cancer. This finding suggests that COX-2 reactivity could help to identify the subgroup of patients at risk for gastric cancer with colonic phenotype of gastric IM. Moreover, Chan et al. [36] reported that H. pylori-induced COX-2 expression enhances cancer cell invasion and angiogenesis via TLR2/TLR9 to activate especially p38, and their downstream transcription factors (CREB-1, ATF-2, c-jun, c-fos) resulting in the activation of CRE and AP-1 on the COX-2 promotor. The effect of the cancer-cell invasion and angiogenesis mediated by TLR2/TLR9 were both inhibited by the specific COX-2 inhibitors, NS398 and celecoxib [36]. Expression of COX-2 and proinflammatory cytokines could trigger the transcriptional regulator NF-κB. Using H. pylori-infected mice, Kim et al. [37] showed that pretreatment of these mice with NF-κB (p65) antisense oligonucleotides inhibited the activation of NF-κB and the expression of tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-α and IL-1β in H. pylori-infected gastric mucosa. Various models of gastric carcinogenesis in nonhuman primates (Japanese monkeys) and rodent models without or with chemical carcinogens (e.g. nitrosourea or nitrosoguanidine) are useful in the assessment of the link between bacteria and carcinogenesis [33]. These changes in H. pylori-inoculated animals closely resemble those observed in H. pyloriinfected humans and the development of gastric cancer in H. pylori-infected Mongolian gerbils interrupted by an eradication therapy [38]. Interestingly, probiotics containing Lactobacillus rhamnosus and Lactobacillus casei, attenuated hyperplasia of glandular structure and overexpression of COX-2 as well as functional changes such as enhancement of the apoptosis, impairment in gastric blood flow, and gastrin-somatostatin link induced by H. pylori in the Mongolian gerbil model [38]. These data indicate that probiotic treatment in addition to anti-H. pylori eradication therapy can effectively inhibit structural and functional consequences of H. pylori infection in the stomach.

Pathomechanism of *H. pylori* Infection

H. pylori pathology in the gastric mucosa includes a cascade of events [39]. Colonization of the gastric mucosa with the bacterium invariably results in the development of chronic gastritis, and for a subset of patients, progression of chronic gastritis to ulcers or cancer is observed [39]. *H. pylori* plays an important role in carcinogenesis by initiation,

promotion, and progression of cancer cells in a multistep manner. A randomized controlled trial by Ito et al. [40] documented that anti-H. pylori eradication therapy attenuates the endoscopic and histologic lesions, suggesting its beneficial role in the prevention of gastric cancer. The mechanism of the pathologic changes induced H. pylori involves an activation of NF-κB, proinflammatory cytokines, and an overexpression of growth factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) [41]. Neumann et al. [41] showed a direct interaction between p21-activated kinase 1(PAK1) and NF-κB-inducing kinase (NIK) in H. pylori-infected epithelial cells, identifying for the first time the role of PAK1 and NIK as a unique pathway involved in H. pyloriinduced NF-κB activation. The pathogenic role of proinflammatory cytokines, especially TNF-α, was determined by Suganuma et al. [42], who proposed TNFα as an endogenous tumor promotor. They identified the TNF-α-inducing protein (Tipalpha) gene family and confirmed that Tipalpha and HP-MP1 are new carcinogenic proteins of H. pylori. The Tipalpha gene family and protein seem to be unique for H. pylori and exhibit strong tumor-promoting activity in cooperation with the Ras protein and NF-κB activation [42]. Tuccillo et al. [43] found that VEGF is overexpressed in gastric mucosa of H. pylori-infected dyspeptic patients and that this effect paralleled the increase in a number of blood vessels suggesting the involvement of VEGF expression in the process of neo-angiogenesis. Moreover, O'Brien et al. [44] revealed that decay-accelerating factor (DAF), a protein that protects epithelial cells from complement, is an important factor relevant to pathogenesis because this protein is able to mediate the bacteria-host cell interaction in gastric inflammation. Maciorkowska et al. [45] evaluated the role of adhesion molecules ICAM-1, VACAM-1, and P-selectin levels in H. pylori-infected children showing that in these children with gastritis, the VCAM-1 reached the highest levels, whereas ICAM and Pselectin did not differ in the H. pylori-positive and H. pylorinegative groups. According to Chan [46], a family of adhesion glycoproteins such as cadherins, act not only as adhesive molecules but may be also responsible for the growth development and carcinogenesis. Taken together, adhesion molecules VCAM-1 and cadherins participate in the pathogenesis of gastric mucosal inflammation induced by H. pylori. Since nickel acquisition is necessary for urease activity, Wolfram et al. [47] examined the expression of nickel permease NixA, which was identified as a specific nickel uptake system in this organism. They found that the synthesis of the NixA nickel permease of H. pylori is an nickel-responsive regulation mediated by regulatory protein NikR to maintain the balance between effective nickel acquisition and a toxic overload [47]. However studying gastric carcinoma patients, Tsavaris et al. [48] showed that both retinol-binding protein (RBP) and acute phase reactants are increased in gastric cancer but only RBP is increased in *H. pylori*-infected individuals, suggesting a direct involvement of RBP in the pathogenesis of this disease.

Interaction between *H. pylori* and Physiologic and Pathophysiologic Factors in the Stomach

Two hormones, ghrelin and leptin, both originally discovered in the gastric mucosa, play an important role in the regulation of appetite but little is known about the influence of *H. pylori* on plasma levels of these hormones in H. pylori-infected subjects. Shiotani et al. [49] reported that plasma ghrelin but not plasma leptin is significantly lower in *H. pylori*-infected subjects than in respective controls. Moreover, this attenuation in plasma ghrelin levels by H. pylori was independent of gender and body mass index [49]. This indicates that some adverse appetite symptoms such as nausea and lack of appetite and possibly growth inhibition in H. pylori-infected children could be attributed to the suppression of ghrelin by this bacterium [50]. Mountain children living close to sheep, exhibit almost twice as high an *H. pylori* prevalence than children living in the neighboring city without contact with sheep. Early eradication of *H. pylori* in mountain children markedly improved their appetite and resulted in an increase in body mass index as well as an acceleration after delayed body growth, thus supporting the clinical relevance of endogenous ghrelin in maintaining gastric integrity, good appetite and proper body growth [50]. Fedwick et al. [51] revealed that H. pylori strain SS1 directly increased the paracellular permeability by activating myosin light-chain kinase to disrupt the tightjunctional proteins, occludin, claudin-4, and claudin-5, in confluent nontransformed cells and in cancer AGS cells. In another study, Farkas et al. [52] reported that SOD activity is elevated in gastric biopsies taken from the antrum of H. pylori-infected patients and that this effect is inhibited by successful anti-H. pylori eradication confirming that an enhancement in mucosal oxidative stress could be considered as an important mechanism in the pathology of H. pylori infection in the stomach.

H. pylori and aspirin are two independent factors in the development of peptic ulcer in humans but the possibility that they can influence the expression of the gastroprotective secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor (SLPI) has not been explored. Wex et al. [53] found that, in contrast to low dose aspirin, *H. pylori* downregulates the expression of antral SLPI, implicating that the fall in synthesis of this gastroprotective factor may predispose the gastric mucosa

to inflammation. Schaeverbeke et al. [54] showed that the prevalence of gastrointestinal symptoms in rheumatoid patients infected with *H. pylori* and treated with a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) for 2 weeks exhibited similar gastrointestinal tolerance to NSAID irrespective of *H. pylori* infection; this suggests a lack of interaction between these two independent risk factors in the gastric mucosa. On the other hand, *H. pylori* increased the risk of duodenal ulcers in elderly individuals subjected to the treatment with vascular protective doses of aspirin [55]. Accumulated evidence indicates that the data on the interaction between the NSAID and *H. pylori* are still conflicting and that this issue needs to be addressed in further studies.

References

- 1 Fowler M, Thomas RJ, Atherton J, Robets IS, High NJ. Galectin-3 binds to *Helicobacter pylori* O-antigen: it is upregulated and rapidly secreted by gastric epithelial cells in response to *H. pylori* adhesion. *Cell Microbiol* 2006;8:44–54.
- 2 Backert S, Gressman H, Kwok T, Zimny-Arndt U. Gene expression and protein profiling of AGS gastric epithelial cells upon infection with *Helicobacter pylori*. *Proteomics* 2005;5:3902–18.
- 3 Shibata W, Hirata Y, Yoshida H, et al. NF-κB and ERK-signaling pathways contributing to the gene expression induced by cag PAI-positive *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *World J Gastroenterol* 2005;11:6134–43.
- 4 Kim SS, Meitner P, Konkin TA, Resnick MB, Moss SF. Altered expression of Skp2, c-Myc and p27 proteins but not mRNA after *H. pylori* eradication in chronic gastritis. *Mod Pathol* 2006;19:49–58.
- 5 Konturek PC, Bazela K, Kukharskyy V, Bauer M, Hahn EG, Schuppan D. Helicobacter pylori upregulates prion protein expression in gastric mucosa: a possible link to prion disease. World J Gastroenterol 2005;11:7651–6.
- 6 Zhu Y, Zhong X, Du Zheng SO, Xu W. Transformed immortalized gastric epithelial cells by virulence factor CagA of *Helicobacter pylori* through Erk mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. *Oncogene* 2005:24:3886–95.
- 7 Tsutsumi R, Takahashi A, Azuma T, Higashi H, Hatakeyama M. Focal adhesion kinase is a substrate and downstream effector of SHP-2 complexed with *Helicobacter pylori* CagA. *Mol Cell Biol* 2006:26:261–76.
- 8 Goto Y, Ando T, Yamamoto K, Tamakoshi A, El-Omar E, Goto H, Hamajima N. Association between serum pepsinogens and polymorphism of *PTPN11* encoding SHP-2 among *Helicobacter pylori* seropositive Japanese. *Int J Cancer* 2006;118:203–8.
- 9 Suzuki M, Mimuro H, Suuzuki T, Park M, Yamamoto T, Sasakawa C. Interaction of CagA with Crk plays an important role in *Helicobacter pylori*-induced loss of gastric epithelial cell adhesion. *J Exp Med* 2005;202:1235–47.
- 10 Bagnoli F, Buti L, Tompkins L, Covacci A, Amieva MR. Helicobacter pylori CagA induces a transition from polarized to invasive phenotype in MDCK cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005;102:16339–44.
- 11 Brandt S, Kwok T, Hartig R, Konig W, Backert S. NF-κB activation and potentiation of proinflammatory responses by the *Helicobacter pylori* CagA protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2005;102:9300–5.

- 12 Kim SY, Lee YC, Kim HK, Blaser MJ. Helicobacter pylori CagA transfection of gastric epithelial cells induces interleukin-8. Cell Microbiol 2006;8:97–100.
- 13 Hirata Y, Maeda S, Ohmae T, Shibata W, Yanai A, Ogura K, Yoshida H, Kawabe T, Omata M. Helicobacter pylori induces IκB kinase nuclear translocation and chemokine production in gastric epithelial cells. Infect Immun 2006;74:1452–61.
- 14 Yokoyama K, Higashi H, Ishikawa S, et al. Functional antagonism between *Helicobacter pylori* CagA and vacuolating toxin VacA in control of the NFAT signaling pathway in gastric epithelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2005;102:9661–6.
- 15 Keates S, Keates AC, Nath S, Peek RM Jr, Kelly CP. Transactivation of the epithelial growth factor receptor by *cag+ Helicobacter pylori* induces upregulation of the early growth response gene *Egr-1* in gastric epithelial cells. *Gut* 2005;54:1363–9.
- 16 Krueger S, Hundertmark T, Kalinski T, Peitz U, Wex T, Malfertheiner P, Naumann M, Roessner A. Helicobacter pylori encoding the pathogenicity island activates matrix metalloproteinase 1 in gastric epithelial cells via JNK and ERK. J Biol Chem 2006;281:2868–75.
- 17 Franco AT, Israel DA, Washington MK, et al. Activation of β-catenin by carcinogenic *Helicobacter pylori*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2005;102:10646–51.
- 18 Reider G, Merchant JL, Haas R. Helicobacter pylori cag-type IV secretion system facilitates17 corpus colonization to induce precancerous conditions in Mongolian gerbils. Gastroenterology 2005;128:1229–42.
- 19 Wu H, Nakano T, Daitoku E, Morita C, Kohno T, Lian HH, Sano K. Intrabacterial proton-dependent CagA transport system in Helicobacter pylori. J Med Microbiol 2005;54:1117–25.
- 20 Couturier MR, Tasca E, Montecucco C, Stein M. Interaction with CagF is required for translocation of CagA into the host via the Helicobacter pylori type IV secretion system. Infect Immun 2006;74:273–81.
- 21 Hohlfeld S, Pattis I, Puls J, Plano GV, Haas R, Fischer W. A C-terminal translocation signal is necessary, but not sufficient for type IV secretion of the *Helicobacter pylori* CagA protein. *Mol Microbiol* 2006;59:1624–37.
- 22 Higashi H, Yokoyama K, Fujii Y, Ren S, Yuasa H, Saadat I, Murata-Kamiya N, Azuma T, Hatakeyama M. EPIYA motif is a membrane-targeting signal of *Helicobacter pylori* virulence factor CagA in mammalian cells. *J Biol Chem* 2005;280:23130–7.
- 23 Bauer B, Moese S, Bartfeld S, Meyer TF, Selbach M. Analysis of cell type-specific responses mediated by the type IV secretion system of *Helicobacter pylori*. *Infect Immun* 2005;73:4643–52.
- 24 Torres VJ, Ivie SE, McClain MS, Cover TL. Functional properties of the p33 and p55 domains of the *Helicobacter pylori* vacuolating cytotoxin. *J Biol Chem* 2005;280:21107–14.
- 25 Hennig EE, Godlewski MM, Butruk E, Ostrowski J. Helicobacter pylori VacA cytotoxin interacts with fibronectin and alters HeLa cell adhesion and cytoskeletal organization in vitro. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 2005;44:143–50.
- 26 Gauthier NC, Monzo P, Kaddai V, Doye A, Ricci V, Boquet P. Helicobacter pylori VacA cytotoxin: a probe for a clathrin-independent and Cdc42-dependent pinocytic pathway routed to late endosoms. Mol Biol Cell 2005;16:4852–66.
- 27 Yamasaki E, Wada A, Kumatori A, Nakagawa I, Funao J, Nakayama M, Hisatsune J, Kimura M, Moss J, Hirayama T. *Helicobacter pylori* vacuolating cytotoxin induces activation of the proapoptotic protein Bax and Bak, leading to cytochrome c release and cell death, independent of vacuolation. *J Biol Chem* 2006;281:11250–9.
- 28 De Guzman BB, Hisatsune J, Nakayama M, et al. Cytotoxicity and

- recognition of receptor-like protein tyrosine phosphatases, RPTPalpha and RPTPbeta, by *Helicobacter pylori* m2VacA. *Cell Microbiol* 2005;7:1285–93.
- 29 Yamazaki S, Yamakawa A, Okuda T, et al. Distinct diversity of *vacA*, *cagA*, and *cagE* genes of *Helicobacter pylori* associated with peptic ulcer in Japan. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43:3906–16.
- 30 Konturek SJ, Konturek PC, Brzozowski T, Konturek JW, Pawlik WW. From nerves and hormones to bacteria in the stomach; Nobel prize for achievements in gastrology during last century. *J Physiol Pharmacol* 2005;56:507–30.
- 31 Peek RM, Crabtree JE. *Helicobacter* infection and gastric neoplasia. *J Pathol* 2006;208:233–48.
- 32 Elfvin A, Bolin I, Von Bothmer C, Stolte M, Watanabe H, Fandriks L, Vieth M. *Helicobacter pylori* induces gastritis and intestinal metaplasia but no gastric adenocarcinoma in Mongolian gerbils. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2005;40:1313–20.
- 33 Kodama M, Murakami K, Sato R, Okimoto T, Nishizono A, Fujioka T. Helicobacter pylori-infected animal models are extremely suitable for the investigations of gastric carcinogenesis. World J Gastroenterol 2005;11:7063-71.
- 34 Kato S, Nakaima S, Nishino Y, et al. Association between gastric atrophy and *Helicobacter pylori* infection in Japanease children: a retrospective multicenter study. *Dig Dis Sci* 2006;51:99–104.
- 35 Sun JH, Das KK, Amenta PS, Yokota K, Watari J, Sato T, Kohgo Y, Das KM. Preferential expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in colonic-phenotype of gastric intestinal metaplasia: association with *Helicobacter pylori* and gastric carcinoma. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2006;40:122–8.
- 36 Chan YJ, Wu MS, Lin JT, Chen CC. Helicobacter pylori-induced invasion and angiogenesis of gastric cells in mediated by cyclooxygenase-2 induction through TLR2/TLR9 and promoter regulation. J Immunol 2005;175:8242–5.
- 37 Kim SG, Kim JS, Kim JM, Chae Jung H, Sung Song I. Inhibition of proinflammatory cytokine expression by NF-kappaB (p65) antisense oligonucleotide in *Helicobacter pylori*-infected mice. *Helicobacter* 2005;10:559–66.
- 38 Brzozowski T, Konturek PC, Mierzwa M, Drozdowicz D, Bielanski W, Kwiecien S, Konturek SJ, Stachura J, Pawlik WW, Hahn EG. Effect of probiotics and triple eradication therapy on the cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 expression,apoptosis and functional gastric impairment in *Helicobacter pylori*-infected Mongolian gerbils. *Helicobacter* 2006;11:10–20.
- 39 Malfertheiner P, Sipponen P, Naumann M, Moayyedi P, Megraud F, Xiao SD, Sugano K, Nyren O, Lejondal H. *Helicobacter pylori* eradication has the potential to prevent gastric cancer: a state of the art critique. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2005;100:2100–15.
- 40 Ito M, Tanaka S, Kamada T, Haruma K, Chayama K. Causal role of Helicobacter pylori infection and eradication therapy in gastric carcinogenesis. World J Gastroenterol 2006;12:10–6.
- 41 Neumann M, Foryst-Ludwig A, Klar S, Schweitzer K, Naumann M. The PAK1 autoregulatory domain is required for interaction with NIK in *Helicobacter pylori*-induced NF-kappaB activation. *Biol Chem* 2006;387:79–86.
- 42 Suganuma M, Kuzuhara T, Yamaguchi K, Fujiki H. Carcinogenic role of tumor necrosis factor-alpha inducing protein in human stomach. *J Biochem Mol Biol* 2006;39:1–8.
- 43 Tuccillo C, Cuomo A, Rocco A, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor and neo-angiogenesis in *H. pylori* gastritis in humans. *J Pathol* 2005;207:277–84.
- 44 O'Brien DP, Israel DA, Krishna U, et al. The role of decay-accelerating factor as a receptor for *Helicobacter pylori* and a mediator of gastric inflammation. *J Biol Chem* 2006;16:256–62.

- 45 Maciorkowska E, Kaczmarski M, Panasiuk A, Kondej-Muszynska K, Kemonai A. Soluble adhesion molecules ICAM-1, VCAM-1, P-selectin in children with *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *World J Gastroenterol* 2005;11:6745–50.
- 46 Chan AO. E-cadherin in gastric cancer. *World J Gastroenterol* 2006;12:199–203.
- 47 Wolfram L, Haas E, Bauerfeind P. Nickel represses the synthesis of the nickel permease NixA of *Helicobacter pylori*. *J Bacteriol* 2006;188:1245–50.
- 48 Tsavaris N, Kosmas C, Kopterides P, et al. Retinol-binding protein, acute phase of reactants and *Helicobacter pylori* infection in patients with gastric adenocarcinoma. *World J Gastroenterol* 2005;11:7174–8.
- 49 Shiotani A, Miyanishi T, Uedo N, Iishi H. Helicobacter pylori infection is associated with reduced circulating ghrelin levels independent of body mass index. Helicobacter 2005;10:373–8.
- 50 Plonka M, Bielanski W, Konturek SJ, Targosz A, Sliwowski Z, Dobrzanska M, Kaminska A, Sito E, Konturek PC, Brzozowski T. *Helicobacter pylori* infection and serum gastrin, ghrelin and leptin in children of Polish shepherds. *Dig Liver Dis* 2006;38:91–7.

- 51 Fedwick JP, Lapointe TK, Meddings JB, Sherman PM, Buret AG. *Helicobacter pylori* activates myosin light-chain kinase to disrupt claudin-4 and claudin-5 and increase epithelial permeability. *Infect Immun* 2005;73:7844–52.
- 52 Farkas R, Pronai L, Tulassay Z, Selmeci L. Relationship between eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* and gastric mucosal superoxide dismutase activity. *Anticancer Res* 2005;25:4763–7.
- 53 Wex TYeS, Treiber G, Vieth M, Roessner A, Malfertheiner P. *Helicobacter pylori* infection, but not low-dose aspirin, results in a local reduction of the secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor in gastroduodenal mucosa. *Helicobacter* 2006;11:31–8.
- 54 Schaeverbeke T, Broutet N, Zerbib F, Come B, Bertin P, Lamouliatte H, Perie F, Joubert-Collin M, Megraud F. Should we eradicate *Helicobacter pylori* before prescribing an NSAID? Result of a placebo-controlled study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2005;100:2637–43.
- 55 Yeomans ND, Lanas AI, Talley NJ, et al. Prevalence and incidence of gastroduodenal ulcers during treatment with vascular protective doses of aspirin. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2005;22:795–801.

Inflammation, Immunity, Vaccines for Helicobacter Infection

Magdalena Chmiela* and Pierre Michetti†

*Department of Immunology and Infectious Biology, University of Lodz, Lodz, Poland, †Division of Gastroenterology, Lausanne University Medical Center, Lausanne, Switzerland

Keywords

Helicobacter pylori, host response, inflammation, vaccines.

Reprint requests to: Magdalena Chmiela, Department of Immunology and Infectious Biology, University of Lodz, Banacha 12/16, 90-237 Lodz, Poland. Tel.: (48-42) 6354472; Fax: (48-42) 6655818; E-mail: chmiela@biol.uni.lodz.pl

Pierre Michetti, Division of Gastroenterology, Lausanne University Medical Center, CHUV, CH-1011 Lausanne, Switzerland. Tel.: +41 21 314 0690; Fax: +41 21 314 0707;

E-mail: pierre.michetti@chuv.ch

Abstract

The reason why some individuals remain Helicobacter pylori infected for life but without any symptoms while others develop severe diseases is only partially clarified. Presumably, it depends on multifactorial interactions among host immunologic and physiologic factors, bacterial virulence determinants, and environmental influences modulating the host response. Much effort has been made to identify host genetic factors that may explain an individual susceptibility of the host to H. pylori infection. The identification of H. pylori determinants and the elucidation of their role in modifying the host immune responses were further delineated. The ability of H. pylori to overcome the defense mechanisms on mucosal surfaces as well as to modulate the immune response by interfering with host recognition and transduction systems has been shown. Also new bacterial anti-inflammatory defense systems have been described. Findings in experimental animal models and humans with natural H. pylori infection suggested a double role of regulatory T cells in the course of H. pylori infection: protecting the infected host against excessive gastric inflammation and, in contrast, promoting bacterial colonization.

In the last year, numerous publications were centered on the immunopathogenesis, inflammatory, and immune responses to *Helicobacter pylori* as well as on vaccine development against this pathogen. Several excellent reviews are available to provide in-depth analysis of these topics [1–3]. This review concentrates on the findings strictly associated with the host response. In this issue, another chapter is dedicated to bacterial pathogenesis, where some interactions between virulence factors and immune response are discussed.

Establishing the Infectious Niche

Bacterial motility and chemotaxis are important in establishing the infection. *Helicobacter pylori* mutants lacking *cheW*, *cheA*, or *cheY* genes encoding proteins responsible for chemotaxis were able to colonize only the corpus of the stomach of mice, while the wild-type bacteria occupied both the corpus and the antrum [4]. *CheY* is also crucial for gastric colonization in gerbils [5]. The polyphosphate kinase (PPK) has been found a new colonization factor of *H. pylori* [6]. The interactions

between the adhesin BabA and the H-1-, Lewis b, and related fucose-containing antigens have been confirmed by overlay with fluorescence-labeled bacteria on immobilized (neo) glycoproteins [7]. However, the synthesis of BabA can be switched on or off, and thus provide the mechanism for adaptation to environmental conditions [6]. Several findings confirm the role of host factors mediating the binding of *H. pylori* to gastric epithelial cells. The correlation between the susceptibility to *H. pylori* infection and blood group O has been confirmed [8]. The topographic over- and underexpression of MUC5AC and MUC6 in *H. pylori*-associated gastritis disease suggests a role for such mucins in the pathogenesis of *H. pylori* infection [9].

The initial trigger for inflammatory response is mediated by epithelial cells. *H. pylori* does not invade gastric epithelial cells but adheres to the cell surface. This pathogen exhibits an unusually complex pattern of binding to various host glycoconjugates including interactions with sialylated, sulfated, and fucosylated sequences. Recently, it has been shown that repeating N-acetyllactosamine units of glycoconjugates may serve as bacterial attachment sites

in the stomach [10]. Upon binding, H. pylori induces NFκB activation, as recently confirmed in vivo by antisense oligonucleotide inhibition [11]. This pathway involves MyD88 and TNF receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF6) [12]. In turn, expression of interleukin (IL)-8 by epithelial cells leads to overexpression of CD74, the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II invariant chain, a known receptor of *H. pylori*, thus favoring further colonization [13]. IL-8 may also upregulate the Reg protein, a potent regenerating gene product and a potent growth factor of gastric mucosal cells, associated with gastric inflammation [14]. In addition to previously described pro-inflammatory effects, NF-kB direct binding to the promoter of the syndecan-4 gene may contribute to the pro-inflammatory signalling induced by gastric epithelial cells [15]. CagA-positive strains are known for their ability to elicit IL-8 production, but strain-specific variants of CagA have been elegantly shown to have different IL-8 induction potential. Thus, CagA is a multifunctional virulence factor of H. pylori [16].

Overcoming the Immune Defense Mechanisms

The production and secretion of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) from surface epithelia and circulating immune cells play a key role in host antimicrobial protection, including epithelial defensins [17]. There is evidence that *H. pylori* may modulate expression of genes encoding defensins, in a *cag*-dependent manner, through Nod1 activation [18].

Innate immune responses depend on host recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) including lipopolysaccharide (LPS), lipoproteins, peptidoglycan, flagellin, double-stranded RNA, and zymosan by PAMPs receptors expressed on macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs) [19]. The recognition of PAMPs triggers a signaling pathway inducing pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, type I interferons (IFN- α or - β), and DCs maturation that leads to activation of adaptive immunity. The best characterized PAMPs receptors are the Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and the Nod receptors displaying a high degree of PAMPs specificity [19,20]. The studies on immune response to H. pylori LPS in epithelial cells which were focused on TLR4 showed that TLR4 signalling does not mediate responses to this pathogen in gastric epithelial cells [21]. However, secreted H. pylori peptidyl- prolyl- cis-, and trans-isomerase HPO175 induced apoptosis of AGS cells in a TLR4-dependent pathway. This indicates that TLR4-signaling cell apoptosis contributes to the pathology of gastric epithelial cell damage during H. pylori infection [22]. Similar to TLR4, also a dominant role for TLR2, recognizing lipoproteins, and for TLR5, recognizing flagellin has been excluded in epithelial cell sensing of H. pylori bacteria [21]. H. pylori is also recognized by epithelial cells via Nod1 and detection depends on the delivery of peptidoglycan to the host cells by type IV secretion system.

The host factors such as Nod proteins, Toll-interacting protein (Tollip), and single immunoglobulin IL-1R related molecule (SIGIRR), which antagonize pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), may represent important mechanisms of immune suppression required to regulate the response to pathogens and to nonpathogenic flora [20]. On the other hand, pathogens may modulate the host immune response by interfering with host recognition and transduction systems. Both mechanisms have been considered for *H. pylori* since these bacteria appear to induce only a limited inflammatory reaction but also limit the efficacy of the adaptative immune response. It has been shown that lipid A of H. pylori has moieties that are poorly recognized by human TLR4 [21]. Moreover, H. pylori LPS with or without LewisXY determinants differ in the ability to induce inflammatory cytokines by peripheral blood mononuclear cells [23]. It has been suggested that not only an individual ability of the host cells to respond to LPS but also the structure of H. pylori LPS may both influence the course of infection [24].

Another anti-inflammatory mechanism of *H. pylori* is the scavenging activity of the reactive oxygen species (ROS) dependent on enzymatic activity of catalase, superoxide dismutase and alkyl hydroperoxidase, which is increased in cag-positive *H. pylori* strains [25]. Mutants defective in such enzymes were more sensitive to oxidative stress, accumulated more free (toxic) iron, and suffered more DNA fragmentation compared to wild type cells [26]. *H. pylori* cells are also protected from oxidative stress by a *mut*S homologue DNA mismatch repair system [27].

Inflammatory Response

Understanding of the IL-1 β induction in monocytes/macrophages by *H. pylori* is of particular relevance because IL-1 β gene polymorphisms are associated with increased risk of gastric cancer. Recently, the role of *H. pylori* LPS in IL-1 β release has been established. Following *H. pylori* LPS stimulation, PI-3K/Rac1/p21-activated kinase (PAK1) regulates mature IL-1 β production by inducing caspase 1 [28]. The *H. pylori* LPS-induced gastritis is also manifested by a marked upregulation of gastric mucosal endothelin-1 (ET-1), which influences local leptin release, a pleiotropic 16 kDa peptide hormone involved in the regulation of the immune responses by interaction with pro-inflammatory cytokines [29].

Antibody Response

Volunteer challenge studies permitted to determine the kinetics of IgM and IgG responses during acute *H. pylori*

infection [30]. Specific IgM antibodies peaked at 4 weeks post-infection and fell within 2–4 months after eradication therapy. In contrast, the anti-*H. pylori* IgG response appeared about 4 weeks post-challenge and peaked 12–19 weeks post-infection. Four new low molecular weight proteins: hydrogenase expression/formation protein, alkyl hydroxyperoxide reductase, superoxide dismutase, and iron (III) ABC transporter periplasmic iron-binding protein, have been identified as targets for anti-*H. pylori* IgG antibodies [30].

Prior studies in B-cell-deficient mice have indicated a nonessential role of specific antibodies for host resistance against *H. pylori* infection. Recent studies in the same model suggest that antibodies could in fact impair both the elimination of bacteria and the development of gastritis. This effect appears to be IgA-dependent and is not a function of specific anti-*H. pylori* IgM or IgG antibodies [31]. Others found, however, that IgG monoclonal antibody recognizing the small Ure-A subunit enhanced urease enzymatic activity. Moreover, such antibody increased *H. pylori* colonization of BALB/c mice [32]. In the light of these findings, gastric colonization of *H. pylori*, which occurs in a very early age, could be enhanced by transplacentally transferred specific anti-*H. pylori* IgG antibodies [33].

T-lymphocyte Responses

Data from experimental *H. pylori* infection in humans showed that mucosal CD3-, CD4-, and CD8-positive T-cell numbers increase following infection. The CD4-positive T-helper cells expanded in the first 42–72 hours of infection. The major changes in T-cell subsets recruitment and expansion have occurred by 4 weeks post-infection [30]. *H. pylori*-specific CD4 T cells home to and accumulate in the infected stomach via homing receptor L-selectin and the chemokine receptor CCR4. Infected stomach mucosa contain increased levels of the CCR4 chemokine ligand MDC/CCL22 [34].

The effector functions of gastric *H. pylori*-specific T cells are different between patients with various disease outcomes. A predominant *H. pylori*-specific T-cell response characterized by high IFN-γ, TNF-α, and IL-12 production is associated with peptic ulcer, whereas secretion of both Th1 and Th2 cytokines appears in uncomplicated gastritis. The cause behind a particular type of T-helper response remains unclear. It has been suggested that bacterial proteins may possess Th1 and/or Th2 motifs (modulotopes) which may be involved in the modulation of the immune response. Amphipathic sequence motifs were identified in the N- and C-terminal domains of *H. pylori* catalase, which were linked to induction of Th1 or Th2 immune responses, respectively [35].

It has been shown that T cells from mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue lymphoma elicit abnormal help to autologous B cells and reduced perforin- and Fas-Fas ligand killing of B cells [36]. *H. pylori* infection can also trigger activation of cross-reactive cytotoxic, and pro-apoptotic T cells leading to gastric autoimmunity via molecular mimicry. Moreover, *H. pylori* may activate T cells reactive to self-glycosphingolipids (self-GSL) via CD1⁺ antigenpresenting cells. This reaction may further predispose to autoimmune disease [37].

The role of CD8 T cells in the immune response to *H. pylori* in humans is less clear as compared to CD4 T lymphocytes. *H. pylori*-reactive CD8 T cells can be activated by B cells or DCs pulsed with *H. pylori* antigens. Peripheral blood memory cells of *H. pylori*-infected subjects were found to strongly proliferate in response to *H. pylori* urease, suggesting that CD8 T cells participate in the immune response to *H. pylori* [38].

Although known to play a role in the maintenance of self-tolerance, recent studies indicate that CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells (Treg) can be activated and expanded against microbial antigens in vivo. Findings in both experimentally infected mice and humans with natural *H. pylori* infection indicate that Treg are important in protecting the *H. pylori*-infected host against excessive gastric inflammation but also may promote *H. pylori* colonization, increasing the risk for duodenal ulcers [39]. Treg cells, however, may not be the explanation for the lack of activation of T cells during this infection. An anergy mediated by CTLA-4 may rather be implicated [40].

Inhibition of cell-cycle arrest in lymphocytes may be of major significance for the persistence of bacteria in the human stomach. It has been shown that a secreted protein complex of *H. pylori* with molecular weight between 30 and 60 kDa, distinct from VacA, induced cell-cycle arrest of T cells. In these cells, antigen-specific cell activation remained intact but the entry in S phase was inhibited by a G1 cyclin-dependent kinase activity [41].

Vaccine Development and Probiotics

Vaccine development is an important goal but several challenges remain [42]. While protective immunity continues to be obtained in more animal models of *Helicobacter* infection following immunization [43], no clear mechanism of protection has been delineated, and thus no correlate of protection identified, hampering the development of a human vaccine. Progress in the understanding of the mechanisms of protection is thus needed. Meanwhile, the only available strategy to evaluate vaccine candidates is the use of an infectious challenge, a strategy also available for human use [44]. Using this strategy, a breakthrough has been achieved by

showing for the first time protection in volunteers following oral immunization with a recombinant *Salmonella Ty21a* (attenuated vaccine strain approved for human use against *Salmonella* infection) expressing the urease A subunit [45]. This observation needs of course further validation but initiates renewed interest for vaccine development.

Recent data regarding IgA (see above) suggest that this antibody isotype response may in fact favor persistence of the infection. Upon immunization, the IL-10-/- and IgA-/- double-mutant mice showed an increased postimmunization gastritis and eliminated faster the infection than IL-10-/- IgA+/+ simple mutants or wild type animals, suggesting that it may not be ideal for a vaccine candidate to elicit exaggerated IgA response. However, this remains controversial, as other investigators successfully immunized animals while inducing strong IgA responses [46]. While the role of antibodies in protection remains controversial, in deficient mice models, Fas ligand was found crucial for protection, further indicating that cellular responses are involved [47]. Gastric IFN-γ also increase following immunization and seems essential protection [48,49]. Interestingly, gastric mucosa mast cells are increased early in the development of the protective response and needed for immunization-mediated protection [50]. Elevated beta defensin 1 is also correlated with protection [48]. These last two observations suggest that specific and innate responses collaborate in the clearance of gastric Helicobacter infection. Furthermore, immunization against *H. pylori* prevented the gastric mucosa colonization by lower gut bacteria in mice [51].

Numerous developments in vaccine vectors were reported during this review period. The efficacy of DNA vaccination in mice was confirmed [52]. Urease B subunit remains the antigen of reference for such experiments. It was successfully expressed in tobacco and in probiotic bacteria, where it conferred protection after oral administration in mice [53,54]. Inactive recombinant cholera toxin B subunit and nontoxic mutant of cholera toxins were shown effective in mice [55,56].

While probiotics have been shown beneficial in *Helicobacter* infection, their mechanisms of action remain unclear. One of the potent protective strains against *H. pylori, Lactobacillus johnsonii* La1, has been further studied. The heat-shock protein GroEL of La1 has been found to bind to mucins and to gastric epithelial cells as well as to be able to induce aggregation of *H. pylori*. The La1 rGroEL also stimulated IL-8 secretion in macrophages and HT29 epithelial cells in a CD14-dependent manner [57]. Thus the impact of this strain on gastrointestinal homeostasis may be associated with several mechanisms. Additional function of probiotics may be linked to the presence of immunostimulatory of secondary DNA structures.

Stabilized six-base AT oligodesoxynucleotide structures were found abundant in the genome of *Lactobacillus gasseri*. These structures were shown to have a mitogenic effect on B cells and to augment Th1 response through TLR9 [58].

Conclusion

The immune response to *H. pylori* has been further delineated. These studies have implications not only in the understanding of the mechanisms by which this pathogen persists on the gastric mucosa but also on vaccine development. The first evidence of protection in humans following anti-*Helicobacter* immunization opens the way to further human trials, which are likely to occur in the near future.

The study of the host response to *H. pylori* also provided a novel understanding of mucosal immunity far beyond expectations. *H. pylori* gastric infection has become an established model for the study of host–pathogen interactions at mucosal surfaces. Recent links between *Helicobacter* infection and inflammatory bowel disease in animal models further support the study of the immune response to this expanding group of bacteria.

References

- 1 Ernst PB, Peura DA, Crowe SE. The translation of *Helicobacter pylori* basic research to patient care. *Gastroenterology* 2006;130:188–206.
- 2 Strober W, Murray PJ, Kitani A, Watanabe T. Signalling pathways and molecular interactions of Nod1 and Nod2. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2006;6:9–20.
- 3 Portal-Celhay C, Perez-Perez GI. Immune responses to *Helicobacter pylori* colonization: mechanisms and clinical outcomes. *Clin Sci* (*Lond*) 2006;110:305–14.
- 4 Terry K, Williams SM, Connolly L, Ottemann KM. Chemotaxis plays multiple roles during *Helicobacter pylori* animal infection. *Infect Immun* 2005:73:803–11.
- 5 McGee DJ, Langford ML, Watson EL, Carter JE, Chen YT, Ottemann KM. Colonization and inflammation deficiencies in Mongolian gerbils infected by *Helicobacter pylori* chemotaxis mutants. *Infect Immun* 2005;73:1820–7.
- 6 Olfat FO, Zheng Q, Oleastro M, et al. Correlation of the Helicobacter pylori adherence factor BabA with duodenal ulcer disease in four European countries. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 2005;44:151–6.
- 7 Walz A, Odenbreit S, Mahdavi J, Boren T, Ruhl S. Identification and characterization of binding properties of *Helicobacter pylori* by glycoconjugate arrays. *Glycobiology* 2005;15:700–8.
- 8 Kanbay M, Gur G, Arslan H, Yilmaz U, Boyacioglu S. The relationship of ABO blood group, age, gender, smoking, and *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Dig Dis Sci* 2005;50:1214–7.
- 9 Marques T, David L, Reis C, Nogueira A. Topographic expression of MUC5AC and MUC6 in the gastric mucosa infected by *Helicobacter pylori* and in associated diseases. *Pathol Res Pract* 2005;201:665–72.
- 10 Miller-Podraza H, Lanne B, Angstrom J, et al. Novel binding epitope for *Helicobacter pylori* found in neolacto carbohydrate chains: structure and cross-binding properties. *J Biol Chem* 2005;280:19695–703.

- 11 Kim SG, Kim JS, Kim JM, Chae Jung H, Sung Song I. Inhibition of proinflammatory cytokine expression by NF-kappaB (p65) antisense oligonucleotide in *Helicobacter pylori*-infected mice. *Helicobacter* 2005;10:559–66.
- 12 Hirata Y, Ohmae T, Shibata W, et al. MyD88 and TNF receptor-associated factor 6 are critical signal transducers in *Helicobacter pylori*-infected human epithelial cells. *J Immunol* 2006:176:3796–803
- 13 Beswick EJ, Das S, Pinchuk IV, et al. Helicobacter pylori-induced IL-8 production by gastric epithelial cells up-regulates CD74 expression. J Immunol 2005;175:171–6.
- 14 Yoshino N, Ishihara S, Rumi MA, et al. Interleukin-8 regulates expression of Reg protein in *Helicobacter pylori*-infected gastric mucosa. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2005;100:2157–66.
- 15 Smith MF Jr, Novotny J, Carl VS, Comeau LD. *Helicobacter pylori* and Toll-like receptor agonists induce syndecan-4 expression in an NF-kappaB-dependent manner. *Glycobiology* 2006;16:221–9.
- 16 Brandt S, Kwok T, Hartig R, Konig W, Backert S. NF-kappaB activation and potentiation of proinflammatory responses by the *Helicobacter pylori* CagA protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2005;102:9300–5.
- 17 Dommett R, Zilbauer M, George JT, Bajaj-Elliott M. Innate immune defence in the human gastrointestinal tract. *Mol Immunol* 2005;42:903–12.
- 18 Boughan PK, Argent RH, Body-Malapel M, et al. Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-1 and epidermal growth factor receptor: critical regulators of beta-defensins during Helicobacter pylori infection. J Biol Chem 2006;281:11637–48.
- 19 Kawai T, Akira S. Pathogen recognition with Toll-like receptors. Curr Opin Immunol 2005;17:338–44.
- 20 Kelly D, Conway S. Bacterial modulation of mucosal innate immunity. *Mol Immunol* 2005;42:895–901.
- 21 Ferrero RL. Innate immune recognition of the extracellular mucosal pathogen, *Helicobacter pylori*. *Mol Immunol* 2005;42:879–85.
- 22 Basak C, Pathak SK, Bhattacharyya A, Pathak S, Basu J, Kundu M. The secreted peptidyl prolyl cis,trans-isomerase HP0175 of Helicobacter pylori induces apoptosis of gastric epithelial cells in a TLR4- and apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1-dependent manner. J Immunol 2005;174:5672–80.
- 23 Rudnicka A, Chmiela M. Inflammation and host immune response in *Helicobacter pylori* infections. *Cur Trends Immunol* 2004;6:1–19.
- 24 Miller SI, Ernst RK, Bader MW. LPS, TLR4 and infectious disease diversity. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2005;3:36–46.
- 25 Briede JJ, Pot RG, Kuipers EJ, van Vliet AH, Kleinjans JC, Kusters JG. The presence of the cag pathogenicity island is associated with increased superoxide anion radical scavenging activity by Helicobacter pylori. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 2005;44:227–32.
- 26 Wang G, Conover RC, Olczak AA, Alamuri P, Johnson MK, Maier RJ. Oxidative stress defense mechanisms to counter ironpromoted DNA damage in *Helicobacter pylori*. Free Radic Res 2005;39:1183–91.
- 27 Wang G, Alamuri P, Humayun MZ, Taylor DE, Maier RJ. The Helicobacter pylori MutS protein confers protection from oxidative DNA damage. Mol Microbiol 2005;58:166–76.
- 28 Basak C, Pathak SK, Bhattacharyya A, Mandal D, Pathak S, Kundu M. NF-kappaB- and C/EBPbeta-driven interleukin-1beta gene expression and PAK1-mediated caspase-1 activation play essential roles in interleukin-1beta release from *Helicobacter pylori* lipopolysaccharide-stimulated macrophages. *J Biol Chem* 2005:280:4279–88.
- 29 Slomiany BL, Slomiany A. Endothelin-1-dependent leptin induction in gastric mucosal inflammatory responses to *Helicobacter*

- *pylori* lipopolysaccharide. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2005:336:1106–11.
- 30 Nurgalieva ZZ, Conner ME, Opekun AR, et al. B-cell and T-cell immune responses to experimental *Helicobacter pylori* infection in humans. *Infect Immun* 2005;73:2999–3006.
- 31 Akhiani AA, Stensson A, Schon K, Lycke NY. IgA antibodies impair resistance against *Helicobacter pylori* infection: studies on immune evasion in IL-10-deficient mice. *J Immunol* 2005;174:8144–53.
- 32 Iizumi T, Yamanishi S, Kumagai Y, et al. Augmentation of *Helicobacter pylori* urease activity by its specific IgG antibody: implications for bacterial colonization enhancement. *Biomed Res* 2005;26:35–42.
- 33 Weyermann M, Borowski C, Bode G, et al. *Helicobacter pylori*-specific immune response in maternal serum, cord blood, and human milk among mothers with and without current *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Pediatr Res* 2005;58:897–902.
- 34 Lundgren A, Trollmo C, Edebo A, Svennerholm AM, Lundin BS. Helicobacter pylori-specific CD4⁺ T cells home to and accumulate in the human Helicobacter pylori-infected gastric mucosa. Infect Immun 2005;73:5612–9.
- 35 Guy B, Krell T, Sanchez V, Kennel A, Manin C, Sodoyer R. Do Th1 or Th2 sequence motifs exist in proteins? Identification of amphipatic immunomodulatory domains in *Helicobacter pylori* catalase. *Immunol Lett* 2005;96:261–75.
- 36 D'Elios MM, Amedei A, Benagiano M, Azzurri A, Del Prete G. Helicobacter pylori, T cells and cytokines: the 'dangerous liaisons'. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 2005;44:113–9.
- 37 De Libero G, Moran AP, Gober HJ, et al. Bacterial infections promote T cell recognition of self-glycolipids. *Immunity* 2005;22:763–72.
- 38 Azem J, Svennerholm AM, Lundin BS. B cells pulsed with Helicobacter pylori antigen efficiently activate memory CD8* T cells from H. pylori-infected individuals. Clin Immunol 2006;118:284–91.
- 39 Raghavan S, Holmgren J. CD4⁺CD25⁺ suppressor T cells regulate pathogen induced inflammation and disease. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 2005;44:121–7.
- 40 Anderson KM, Czinn SJ, Redline RW, Blanchard TG. Induction of CTLA-4-mediated anergy contributes to persistent colonization in the murine model of gastric *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *J Immunol* 2006;176:5306–13.
- 41 Gerhard M, Schmees C, Voland P, et al. A secreted low-molecular-weight protein from *Helicobacter pylori* induces cell-cycle arrest of T cells. *Gastroenterology* 2005;128:1327–39.
- 42 Aebischer T, Schmitt A, Walduck AK, Meyer TF. *Helicobacter pylori* vaccine development: facing the challenge. *Int J Med Microbiol* 2005;295:343–53.
- 43 Jeremy AH, Du Y, Dixon MF, Robinson PA, Crabtree JE. Protection against *Helicobacter pylori* infection in the Mongolian gerbil after prophylactic vaccination. *Microbes Infect* 2006;8:340–6.
- 44 Graham DY, Opekun AR, Osato MS, et al. Challenge model for Helicobacter pylori infection in human volunteers. Gut 2004;53:1235–43.
- 45 Aebischer T, Bumann D, Epple HJ, et al. Development of a vaccine against *Helicobacter pylori*. *Helicobacter* 2005;10:547.
- 46 Nystrom J, Raghavan S, Svennerholm AM. Mucosal immune responses are related to reduction of bacterial colonization in the stomach after therapeutic *Helicobacter pylori* immunization in mice. *Microbes Infect* 2006;8:442–9.
- 47 Avitzur Y, Galindo-Mata E, Jones NL. Oral vaccination against *Helicobacter pylori* infection is not effective in mice with Fas ligand deficiency. *Dig Dis Sci* 2005;50:2300–6.
- 48 Hatzifoti C, Roussel Y, Harris AG, Wren BW, Morrow JW, Bajaj-Elliott M. Mucosal immunization with a urease B DNA

- vaccine induces innate and cellular immune responses against *Helicobacter pylori*. *Helicobacter* 2006;11:113–22.
- 49 Shi T, Liu WZ, Gao F, Shi GY, Xiao SD. Intranasal CpG-oligodeoxynucleotide is a potent adjuvant of vaccine against *Helicobacter pylori*, and T helper 1 type response and interferon-gamma correlate with the protection. *Helicobacter* 2005;10:71–9.
- 50 Velin D, Bachmann D, Bouzourene H, Michetti P. Mast cells are critical mediators of vaccine-induced *Helicobacter* clearance in the mouse model. *Gastroenterology* 2005;129:142–55.
- 51 Aebischer T, Fischer A, Walduck A, et al. Vaccination prevents *Helicobacter pylori*-induced alterations of the gastric flora in mice. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 2006;46:221–9.
- 52 Smythies LE, Novak MJ, Waites KB, Lindsey JR, Morrow CD, Smith PD. Poliovirus replicons encoding the B subunit of *Helicobacter pylori* urease protect mice against *H. pylori* infection. *Vaccine* 2005;23:901–9.
- 53 Gu Q, Han N, Liu J, Zhu M. Cloning of *Helicobacter pylori* urease subunit B gene and its expression in tobacco (Nicotiana tabacum L.). *Plant Cell Rep* 2005;24:532–9.

- 54 Corthesy B, Boris S, Isler P, Grangette C, Mercenier A. Oral immunization of mice with lactic acid bacteria producing *Helicobacter pylori* urease B subunit partially protects against challenge with *Helicobacter felis*. *J Infect Dis* 2005;192:1441–9.
- 55 Akhiani AA, Stensson A, Schon K, Lycke N. The nontoxic CTA1-DD adjuvant enhances protective immunity against *Helicobacter pylori* infection following mucosal immunization. *Scand J Immunol* 2006;63:97–105.
- 56 Kubota E, Joh T, Tanida S, et al. Oral vaccination against *Helicobacter pylori* with recombinant cholera toxin B-subunit. *Helicobacter* 2005;10:345–52.
- 57 Bergonzelli GE, Granato D, Pridmore RD, Marvin-Guy LF, Donnicola D, Corthesy-Theulaz IE. GroEL of *Lactobacillus johnsonii* La1 (NCC 533) is cell surface associated: potential role in interactions with the host and the gastric pathogen *Helicobacter pylori*. *Infect Immun* 2006;74:425–34.
- 58 Shimosato T, Kimura T, Tohno M, et al. Strong immunostimulatory activity of AT-oligodeoxynucleotide requires a six-base loop with a self-stabilized 5'-C.G-3' stem structure. *Cell Microbiol* 2006;8:485–95.

Helicobacter pylori and Non-Malignant Diseases

Tamara Matysiak-Budnik,** Wiktor Laszewicz,† Dominique Lamarque‡ and Stanislas Chaussade§

*INSERM U793, Faculté de Médecine René Descartes, IFR94, Paris, France, †Department of Gastroenterology and Internal Medicine, Medical University, Bialystok, Poland, †Unité d'Hépato-Gastroentérologie, Hôpital Hôtel Dieu, Paris, France, *Service d'Hépato-Gastroentérologie, Hôpital Cochin, Paris, France

Keywords

GERD, NSAIDs, peptic ulcer disease, non-ulcer dyspepsia.

Reprint requests to: Tamara Matysiak-Budnik, INSERM U793, Faculté de Médecine René Descartes, IFR94, Paris, France.
Tel.: +33 1 40 61 56 34; Fax: +33 1 40 61 56 38; E-mail: matysiak@necker.fr

Abstract

The prevalence of Helicobacter pylori-associated peptic ulcers, in particular duodenal ulcers, is decreasing following decreasing prevalence of H. pylori infection, while the frequency of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs)-induced and *H. pylori*-negative idiopathic ulcers is increasing. The incidence of bleeding ulcers has been stable during the last decades. Several putative H. pylori virulence genes, i.e., cag, vacA, babA, or dupA, as well as hostrelated genetic factors like IL-1β and TNFα-gene polymorphism, have been proposed as risk factors for duodenal ulcer. H. pylori eradication may prevent NSAID complications, in particular, when it is performed before introduction of NSAIDs. There is a complex association between *H. pylori* and gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD), and the impact of *H. pylori* eradication on the appearance of GERD symptoms depends on various host- and bacteria-related factors. Eradication of *H. pylori* in GERD is recommended in patients before instauration of a long-term PPI treatment to prevent the development of gastric atrophy. A small proportion (10%) of non-ulcer dyspepsia cases may be attributed to H. pylori and may benefit from eradication treatment. A test-and-treat strategy is more cost-effective than prompt endoscopy in the initial management of dyspepsia.

Peptic Ulcer Disease

The prevalence of peptic ulcer disease (PUD) has been decreasing for decades. A 10-year retrospective study analyzed the changing demographics of PUD in a total of 2182 patients with PUD admitted to a predominantly immigrant public hospital in the USA, 1173 in the early period (1995-1999) and 1009 in the recent period (2000-2004). This study showed that incidence of PUD was only modestly decreasing, male predominance was disappearing, and gastric ulcer was more prevalent than duodenal ulcer [1]. Lassen et al. compared the incidence of PUD in four Danish counties between 1993 and 2002. The incidence of uncomplicated duodenal or gastric ulcer decreased by 37 and 29%, respectively. The incidence of perforated ulcer diminished by 43%. In contrast, the incidence of bleeding peptic ulcer was stable on this period [2]. A Swedish study explored the prevalence, symptomatology, and risk factors for PUD in a random sample (n = 3000) of a general adult population surveyed between December 1998 and June 2001. Smoking, aspirin

use, and obesity were risk factors for gastric ulcer, whereas smoking, low-dose aspirin use, and Helicobacter pylori infection were risk factors for duodenal ulcer. Peptic ulcer often coexisted with atypical symptoms, and idiopathic duodenal ulcer was more common (19%) than anticipated [3]. Another retrospective survey, comparing PUD prevalence in patients referred for upper gastrointestinal endoscopy in two Italian hospitals in the pre-Helicobacter era (1986-1987) and 10 years after the progressive diffusion of eradication therapy (1995-1996), confirmed a significant reduction in PUD prevalence (from 8.8 to 4.8%, p < .001 for duodenal ulcer, and from 3.9 to 1.5%, p < .001, for gastric ulcer) which may be attributed to decreasing of H. pylori infection [4]. An increasing frequency of H. pylori-negative idiopathic ulcers was also confirmed in a prospective cohort study including consecutive patients with bleeding gastroduodenal ulcers from January to December 2000. In Hong Kong out of 638 patients with bleeding ulcers, 213 (33.4%) had H. pyloripositive ulcers and 120 (18.8%) had H. pylori-negative idiopathic ulcers. The corresponding figures for the time period 1997–1998 were 480 (50.3%) and 40 (4.2%), respectively (p < .001) [5]. Eradication of H. pylori reduces the relapse rate. Ford et al. analyzed 56 trials from the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials to compare the effect of H. pylori eradication therapy to that of placebo or ulcer healing therapy on ulcer healing and relapse rate following successful healing. In duodenal ulcer healing, eradication therapy was superior to ulcer healing therapy and in preventing gastric ulcer recurrence, eradication therapy was superior to no treatment, confirming that eradication therapy is an effective treatment for H. pyloripositive PUD disease [6].

One of the challenges in *H. pylori* research is identification of disease-specific H. pylori virulence factors predictive of the outcome of infection. Although a number of putative H. pylori virulence genes such as the cag pathogenicity island (PAI), VacA, BabA, OipA, and HrgA have been associated with increased risks of PUD or gastric cancer, none could be clearly linked to a specific disease. Lu et al. examined 500 H. pylori strains from East Asia and South America associated with different gastric pathologies and found that a gene named dupA (duodenal ulcer-promoting gene) situated in the plasticity region of H. pylori genome was specifically associated with duodenal ulcer versus gastritis (42 versus 21%, respectively) [7]. The frequency and genotype of babA2, a gene encoding a blood-group antigenbinding adhesin mediating attachment of H. pylori to human Lewis(b) antigens on gastric epithelial cells, and other virulence factors, were studied in H. pylori strains in Brazilian patients with PUD. Although babA2 genotype was frequently found (70%), no significant correlation was observed between babA2 and vacAs1 genotypes or between babA2 and cagA status and intensity of gastritis in these patients [8]. Interleukin 1β (IL- 1β) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNFα) may play a role in the genetic predisposition to duodenal ulcer upon H. pylori infection by modulating the host immune response. Several studies evaluated a possible association between IL-1β and TNFαgene polymorphism and risk of duodenal ulcer. In the Korean study including 1360 subjects, the frequencies of IL-1 β -511 C/T and T carrier were lower in the *H. pylori*positive patients with benign gastric ulcer as compared to controls, suggesting that the IL-1β-511T-carrier polymorphism has a preventive effect on the development of gastric ulcer [9]. In a case control study including 310 H. pylori-infected individuals from eastern India, analysis of genotype frequency revealed a significantly higher frequency of IL-1β-511TT and -31CC genotypes in individuals with duodenal ulcer compared to those with normal mucosa [10]. IL-1β gene cluster polymorphisms was also studied in 437 Brazilian children, 209 of whom were H. pylori positive and showed that in these infected children, the presence of ILRN*2 allele and cagA-positive

status were independently associated with duodenal ulcer [11]. In contrast, Garcia et al. did not find an association between allelic variants of IL-1 and TNF gene and the susceptibility to duodenal ulcer [12].

Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drug Consumption

An epidemiologic study from Hong Kong evaluated trends in the prevalence of PUD from 1997 to 2003 based on all upper endoscopies performed in a single endoscopy unit. A decreasing trend in PUD prevalence, mainly due to a decrease in duodenal ulcer, parallel to a decrease in the prevalence of H. pylori infection and non-steroidal antiinflammatory drug (NSAID) use, was observed [13]. A case control study from the Netherlands evaluated NSAID use and the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in patients hospitalized during the year 2000 for peptic ulcer bleeding. Among 361 cases collected from 14 hospitals deserving an area of 1.68 million inhabitants, the overall incidence of peptic ulcer bleeding was 21.5/100,000 persons. NSAID use was found in 52%, including 17% who were taking ulcer-preventing treatment. Among the 64% tested for H. pylori, 43% were positive. According to these results, half of the complicated ulcers could be related to NSAID use, and H. pylori may not be actually implicated in the majority of cases [14].

Ulcer prevalence was evaluated endoscopically in 187 patients taking low doses of aspirin for prevention of cardiovascular events. At inclusion, the ulcer prevalence was 11% and no association was found between dyspeptic symptoms and ulcers. At another endoscopy performed on 113 patients after 3 months, 7% had developed an ulcer. The factors associated with the risk of duodenal ulcer were H. pylori infection and age over 70 years [15]. Similar results were obtained in complicated ulcers in a retrospective study based on 128 patients who had surgery for PUD performed in a 5-year time period in a department of surgery in Dallas, Texas, USA. The mean age of the patients was 60 years and two-thirds of the total number of patients had comorbidity. Use of NSAID was found in 54% and 47% were H. pylori positive. In 81% of cases, surgery was performed in emergency for ulcer bleeding or perforation [16]. NSAID treatment in patient at high risk for peptic ulcer requires a preventive treatment, which has not been yet defined.

Lai et al. compared the incidence of complicated ulcers in patients treated either by COX-2 inhibitors monotherapy or by a non-selective NSAID treatment associated with proton pump inhibitors (PPIs). Patients who developed ulcer complication after NSAID treatment were recruited and received, if needed, *H. pylori* eradication treatment. Randomization defined a group of patients treated by celecoxib and another treated by naproxen

associated with lansoprazole for 24 weeks. In the followup, complicated ulcer was observed in 3.7% in the celecoxib group and in 6.3% in the lansoprazole group, the difference being non-statistically significant. More patients experienced dyspepsia in the celecoxib group (15.0%) than in the lansoprazole group (5.7%) [17].

A meta-analysis evaluated the effect of *H. pylori* eradication on the prevention of peptic ulcer in patients taking NSAIDs. Analysis included 939 patients in five studies. Eradication of *H. pylori* was associated with a reduced risk of peptic ulcer (odds ratio (OR): 0.43). A significant reduction of risk was found by sub-analysis in patients not previously treated by NSAID (OR: 0.26) as compared to patients already treated. These results suggest that eradication prevents complicated ulcers especially in patients not previously treated by NSAID. In patients already treated, prevention by PPI is more effective than eradication alone [18]. The effects of *H. pylori* eradication on NSAID-related gastrointestinal symptoms were reported in a randomized, case-control study. H. pylori-positive patients who had NSAID prescription for at least 2 weeks were randomized to receive either eradication treatment or placebo. Noninfected patients recognized by a negative serology, were taken as the control group. The overall prevalence of gastrointestinal symptoms decreased from 43% at 2 weeks to 10% at 12 weeks. No difference in symptoms prevalence was seen between the patients who received eradication therapy and those who did not receive therapy or were H. pylori negative. However, at the 12 weeks evaluation, symptoms tended to be lower in the H. pylori-eradicated group, suggesting that eradication may provide a longterm beneficial effect on NSAID-related symptoms [19].

Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease

The association between H. pylori infection and gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) is controversial. Some studies suggested a protective role of *H. pylori* with respect to GERD and its complications, while the others did not confirm this finding. A trend in prevalence of reflux esophagitis parallel to a trend in lower prevalence of H. pylori infection was demonstrated in a large series of 16,375 patients referred for upper endoscopy in Singapore from 1992 to 2001 [20]. In this study, both increase in the prevalence of endoscopic esophagitis (RR 1.99, 95%CI, 1.18–3.36, p < .009) and its inverse relationship with urease test results (RR 0.991, 95%CI 0.983-0.999, p < .04) were significant. A Japanese study, in which the effect of *H. pylori* eradication on the development of reflux esophagitis was studied in a 5- to 6-year follow-up, showed that the frequency of reflux was higher in H. pylori-treated patients than in H. pylori-positive patients [21]. Some previous studies suggested that H. pylori eradication may reduce the efficacy of PPIs in GERD. This issue was revisited by Giral et al. who evaluated intragastric pH before and after administration of lanzoprazole for 8 days in 10 H. pylori-positive patients with reflux esophagitis before and after H. pylori eradication. Intragastric pH was significantly higher in the presence of H. pylori, whereas baseline pH remained unchanged after H. pylori eradication [22]. Similarly, Calleja et al. evaluated the effect of H. pylori infection on healing and symptoms relief in 227 patients with proven esophagitis treated for 8 weeks with pantoprazole. Comparison of healing and symptoms relief rates between H. pylori-positive and H. pylori-negative patients showed that at 8 weeks, patients with erosive esophagitis and H. pylori infection exhibited a significantly better response to pantoprazole through complete heartburn relief, although no difference in endoscopic healing rates between the groups was observed [23]. One of the potential mechanisms by which H. pylori could protect against development of GERD is induction of gastric atrophy since it is well recognized that GERD is associated with increased exposure to gastric acidity. Since proinflammatory IL-1β polymorphisms increase the risk of hypochlorhydria and gastric atrophy, the association between these polymorphisms, presence of gastric atrophy, and risk of GERD were studied in 320 H. pyloripositive and H. pylori-negative consecutive dyspeptic patients in Japan. A proinflammatory IL-1 β genotype was associated with increased risk of atrophy and decreased risk of GERD in H. pylori-infected subjects confirming that in some genetically predisposed individuals, H. pylori infection may protect against GERD through induction of gastric atrophy [24]. A large amount of data recently accumulated pleads, however, against a protective effect of H. pylori against GERD in the majority of cases. In a randomized, placebo-controlled trial including 157 Japanese patients with dyspepsia, Ott et al. studied the risk of reflux esophagitis after treatment for *H. pylori* infection. No difference in terms of frequency of esophagitis or heartburn symptoms was found at 3 and 12 months between the antibiotic and placebo-treated group, indicating that H. pylori eradication does not cause reflux esophagitis [25]. Similarly, among 102 consecutive H. pylori-positive patients with peptic ulcers followed 1 year after eradication, no significant difference was found in the frequency of reflux esophagitis between H. pylori-positive and H. pylori-negative individuals and the only factor positively associated with the development of GERD was the presence of hiatal hernia before therapy [26]. In elderly patients on short- and long-term treatment with PPIs, eradication of *H. pylori* did not affect the clinical outcome of esophagitis, while it improved chronic gastritis and its activity, suggesting that H. pylori should be

eradicated in elderly patients with esophagitis who need maintenance treatment with PPIs [27]. A physiological study by Moschos et al. showed no effect of H. pylori infection on esophageal peristalsis, the lower esophageal sphincter pressure, and the acidity of refluxates into the oesophageal lumen in 59 patients with established GERD [28]. Another controversial issue is a negative association between GERD and some particularly virulent strains of H. pylori. In 1622 patients submitted to routine upper endoscopy in Taiwan, reflux esophagitis was found in 21.2% of patients and occurred at a significantly lower rate among H. pylori-positive patients harboring triple-positive virulent genotype strains (cagA, babA2, and vacAs1positive) [29]. However, another study performed in Spain, did not show an increased prevalence of Barret's esophagus, main complication of GERD, and H. pylori infection and in particular infection with CagA+ strains [30]. Altogether, the effect of *H. pylori* eradication on the development of GERD seems to depend on diverse individual genetic and/or environmental factors. However, because of the role of this infection in the development of distal gastric carcinoma, it seems reasonable to eradicate this bacterium in order to prevent gastric cancer, in particular in patients on a long-term PPI treatment.

Non-Ulcer Dyspepsia

Non-ulcer dyspepsia (NUD) is defined as chronic or recurrent pain/discomfort centered in the upper abdomen. Patients suffering from predominant heartburn or acid regurgitation should be considered to have GERD, until proven otherwise, according to recent guidelines [31]. Organic explanation for dyspeptic symptoms has not been found. Both Maastricht 2 and Maastricht 3 Consensus Reports advised eradication of H. pylori in patients with functional dyspepsia which was confirmed by the results of a meta-analysis [32]. Twenty-one randomized controlled trials were included in the systematic review. There was a 10% relative risk reduction in the H. pylori eradication group (95% CI 6 to 14%) compared to placebo, leading to the conclusion that eradication therapy has a small but statistically significant beneficial effect in H. pylori-positive functional dyspepsia [32]. The main result of the 7-year follow-up study of di Mario et al. is that dyspeptic symptoms improve after H. pylori eradication in 30–50% of patients over a long period of follow-up [33]. Mazzoleni et al. demonstrated, in a population with a high prevalence of *H. pylori* infection, the benefit of eradication in patients with normal endoscopy but not in those with erosive gastritis [34]. Ford et al. aimed to determine the effect of screening for *H. pylori* on dyspepsia and dyspepsiarelated medical resource use over 10 years, including 2324 original participants, 1864 (80%) of whom were traced

and contacted. A significant reduction in total dyspepsiarelated health-care cost was found, the savings being more important than the initial cost of H. pylori screening and treatment [35]. Similarly, an economic analysis of a H. pylori test-and-treat strategy versus a prompt endoscopy approach in primary care setting performed in the Netherlands, suggested that the former was more costeffective than the latter in the initial management of dyspepsia in general practice [36]. It is estimated that a gastric cancer is present in 1 to 2% of patients with dyspepsia. Liou et al. from Taiwan analyzed 17,894 endoscopy results in patients with uninvestigated dyspepsia. Gastric cancer was found in 225 patients (12.6 cases per 1000 endoscopies) who presented uninvestigated dyspepsia, among whom 114 (50.7%) did not have alarm symptoms but a simple dyspepsia. About 5.3% (12/225) of gastric cancer cases would have been missed if endoscopy had been omitted in patients without alarm symptoms and aged less than 45 years, indicating that 40 years old might be an optimal age threshold for screening endoscopy for uninvestigated dyspepsia in Taiwan [37].

Conclusion

In most of the nonmalignant diseases associated with *H. pylori*, bacterial eradication has a beneficial effect. It remains still a challenge for the clinicians and researchers to better identify the patients at high risk of development of serious *H. pylori*-related diseases. In patients with GERD, although a systematic search for *H. pylori* cannot be recommended, eradication treatment is indicated in *H. pylori*-positive patients before instauration of a long-term treatment by PPIs to prevent gastric atrophy. Along with disappearance of *H. pylori* in the developed world, the paysage of gastroduodenal pathologies is changing, with a decreasing incidence of *H. pylori*-induced ulcers and an increasing incidence of GERD and NSAIDs-induced and idiopathic ulcers.

- 1 Smith BR, Stabile BE. Emerging trends in peptic ulcer disease and damage control surgery in the *H. pylori* era. *Am Surg* 2005;71:797–801.
- 2 Lassen A, Hallas J, Schaffalitzky de Muckadell OB. Complicated and uncomplicated peptic ulcers in a Danish county 1993–2002: a population-based cohort study. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2006:101:945–53.
- 3 Aro P, Storskrubb T, Ronkainen J, et al. Peptic ulcer disease in a general adult population. The Kalixanda study: a random population-based study. *Am J Epidemiol* 2006;163:1025–34.
- 4 Nervi G, Liatopoulou S, Cavallaro LG, et al. Does *Helicobacter pylori* infection eradication modify peptic ulcer prevalence? A 10 years' endoscopical survey. *World J Gastroenterol* 2006;12:2398–401.

- 5 Hung LC, Ching JY, Sung JJ, et al. Long-term outcome of Helicobacter pylori-negative idiopathic bleeding ulcers: a prospective cohort study. Gastroenterology 2005;128:1845–50.
- 6 Ford AC, Delaney BC, Forman D, Moayyedi P. Eradication therapy for peptic ulcer disease in *Helicobacter pylori* positive patients. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2006;CD003840.
- 7 Lu H, Hsu PI, Graham DY, Yamaoka Y. Duodenal ulcer promoting gene of *Helicobacter pylori*. *Gastroenterology* 2005;128:833–48.
- 8 Mattar R, dos Santos AF, Eisig JN, et al. No correlation of babA2 with vacA and cagA genotypes of *Helicobacter pylori* and grading of gastritis from peptic ulcer disease patients in Brazil. *Helicobacter* 2005:10:601–8.
- 9 Kim N, Cho SI, Yim JY, et al. The effects of genetic polymorphisms of IL-1 and TNF-A on *Helicobacter pylori*-induced gastroduodenal diseases in Korea. *Helicobacter* 2006;11:105–12.
- 10 Chakravorty M, Ghosh A, Choudhury A, Santra A, Hembrum J, Roychoudhury S. Interaction between IL1B gene promoter polymorphisms in determining susceptibility to *Helicobacter pylori* associated duodenal ulcer. *Hum Mutat* 2006;27:411–9.
- 11 Queiroz DM, Bittencourt P, Guerra JB, Rocha AM, Rocha GA, Carvalho AS. IL1RN polymorphism and cagA-positive *Helicobacter pylori* strains increase the risk of duodenal ulcer in children. *Pediatr Res* 2005;58:892–6.
- 12 Garcia-Gonzalez MA, Savelkoul PH, Benito R, Santolaria S, Crusius JB, Pena AS, Lanas A. No allelic variant associations of the IL-1 and TNF gene polymorphisms in the susceptibility to duodenal ulcer disease. *Int J Immunogenet* 2005;32:299–306.
- 13 Xia B, Xia HH, Ma CW, et al. Trends in the prevalence of peptic ulcer disease and *Helicobacter pylori* infection in family physician-referred uninvestigated dyspeptic patients in Hong Kong. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2005;22:243–9.
- 14 Ramsoekh D, van Leerdam ME, Rauws EA, Tytgat GN. Outcome of peptic ulcer bleeding, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug use, and *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2005;3:859–64
- 15 Yeomans ND, Lanas AI, Talley NJ, et al. Prevalence and incidence of gastroduodenal ulcers during treatment with vascular protective doses of aspirin. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2005;22:795–801.
- 16 Sarosi GA Jr, Jaiswal KR, Nwariaku FE, Asolati M, Fleming JB, Anthony T. Surgical therapy of peptic ulcers in the 21st century: more common than you think. *Am J Surg* 2005;190:775–9.
- 17 Lai KC, Chu KM, Hui WM, et al. Celecoxib compared with lansoprazole and naproxen to prevent gastrointestinal ulcer complications. Am J Med 2005;118:1271–8.
- 18 Vergara M, Catalan M, Gisbert JP, Calvet X. Meta-analysis: role of Helicobacter pylori eradication in the prevention of peptic ulcer in NSAID users. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2005;21:1411–8.
- 19 Schaeverbeke T, Broutet N, Zerbib F, et al. Should we eradicate Helicobacter pylori before prescribing an NSAID? Result of a placebo-controlled study. Am J Gastroenterol 2005;100:2637–43.
- 20 Ho KY, Chan YH, Kang JY. Increasing trend of reflux esophagitis and decreasing trend of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in patients from a multiethnic Asian country. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2005;100:1923–8.
- 21 Kawanishi M. Development of reflux esophagitis following *Helicobacter pylori* eradication. *J Gastroenterol* 2005;40:1024–8.
- 22 Giral A, Celikel CA, Ozdogan O, Tozun N, Ulusoy NB, Kalayci C. Impact of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication on the anti-secretory efficacy of lansoprazole in gastroesophageal reflux disease patients. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2005;20:1886–91.

- 23 Calleja JL, Suarez M, De Tejada AH, Navarro A. Helicobacter pylori infection in patients with erosive esophagitis is associated with rapid heartburn relief and lack of relapse after treatment with pantoprazole. Dig Dis Sci 2005;50:432–9.
- 24 Ando T, El Omar EM, Goto Y, et al. Interleukin 1B proinflammatory genotypes protect against gastro-oesophageal reflux disease through induction of corpus atrophy. *Gut* 2006;55:158–64.
- 25 Ott EA, Mazzoleni LE, Edelweiss MI, et al. Helicobacter pylori eradication does not cause reflux oesophagitis in functional dyspeptic patients: a randomized, investigator-blinded, placebo-controlled trial. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2005;21:1231–9.
- 26 Tsukada K, Miyazaki T, Katoh H, et al. The incidence of reflux oesophagitis after eradication therapy for *Helicobacter pylori*. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2005;17:1025–8.
- 27 Pilotto A, Perri F, Leandro G, Franceschi M. Effect of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication on the outcome of reflux esophagitis and chronic gastritis in the elderly. A randomized, multicenter, eight-month study. *Gerontology* 2006;52:99–106.
- 28 Moschos J, Kouklakis G, Lyratzopoulos N, Efremidou E, Maltezos E, Minopoulos G. Gastroesophageal reflux disease and *Helicobacter pylori*: lack of influence of infection on oesophageal manometric, 3-hour postprandial pHmetric and endoscopic findings. *Rom J Gastroenterol* 2005;14:351–5.
- 29 Lai CH, Poon SK, Chen YC, Chang CS, Wang WC. Lower prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection with vacAs1a, cagA-positive, and babA2-positive genotype in erosive reflux esophagitis disease. *Helicobacter* 2005;10:577–85.
- 30 Ferrandez A, Benito R, Arenas J, et al. CagA-positive Helicobacter pylori infection is not associated with decreased risk of Barrett's esophagus in a population with high H. pylori infection rate. BMC Gastroenterol 2006;6:7.
- 31 Talley NJ, Vakil N. Guidelines for the management of dyspepsia. Am J Gastroenterol 2005;100:2324–37.
- 32 Moayyedi P, Soo S, Deeks J, et al. Eradication of Helicobacter pylori for non-ulcer dyspepsia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2006;CD002096.
- 33 Di Mario F, Stefani N, Bo ND, et al. Natural course of functional dyspepsia after *Helicobacter pylori* eradication: a seven-year survey. *Dig Dis Sci* 2005;50:2286–95.
- 34 Mazzoleni LE, Sander GB, Ott EA, et al. Clinical outcomes of eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* in nonulcer dyspepsia in a population with a high prevalence of infection: results of a 12-month randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled study. *Dig Dis Sci* 2006;51:89–98.
- 35 Ford AC, Forman D, Bailey AG, Axon AT, Moayyedi P. A community screening program for *Helicobacter pylori* saves money: 10-year follow-up of a randomized controlled trial. *Gastroenterology* 2005;129:1910–7.
- 36 Klok RM, Arents NL, de Vries R, Thijs JC, Brouwers JR, Kleibeuker JH, Postma MJ. Economic evaluation of a randomized trial comparing *Helicobacter pylori* test-and-treat and prompt endoscopy strategies for managing dyspepsia in a primary-care setting. *Clin Ther* 2005;27:1647–57.
- 37 Liou JM, Lin JT, Wang HP, et al. The optimal age threshold for screening upper endoscopy for uninvestigated dyspepsia in Taiwan, an area with a higher prevalence of gastric cancer in young adults. *Gastrointest Endosc* 2005;61:819–25.

Helicobacter and Digestive Malignancies

Teresa Starzyńska* and Peter Malfertheiner†

*Department of Gastroenterology, Pomeranian Medical University, Szczecin, Poland, †Department of Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Infectious Diseases, Otto-von-Guericke University, Magdeburg, Germany

Keywords

Helicobacter, gastric malignancy, pathogenesis, risk factors, prevention.

Reprint requests to: Peter Malfertheiner,
Department of Gastroenterology, Hepatology
and Infectious Diseases, Otto-von-Guericke
University, Magdeburg, Germany.
Tel: +49-391-6713100; Fax: +49-391-6713105;
E-mail: peter.malfertheiner@
medizin.uni-magdeburg.de

Abstract

Important new data were published during the past year on the relationship of *Helicobacter* infection and gastric neoplasias. In the pathogenesis of gastric cancer, a thrilling new hypothesis was put forward based on animal experiments. *Helicobacter* infection induces gastric mucosal damage and bone marrow-derived cells (mobilized into peripheral blood and attracted to the inflamed mucosa) replace the areas of damaged gastric tissue and turn into neoplastic proliferation. Several studies focused on mechanisms related to the development of gastric malignancy in infected individuals with particular attention to inflammatory cytokine gene polymorphisms.

Some new evidence is also reported to suggest that *Helicobacter* infection increases the risk of neoplasias outside the stomach in the liver and colon.

Gastric cancer

Mechanisms of *Helicobacter*-induced Carcinogenesis

Helicobacter pylori infection is a classical model to study cancer development as a consequence of chronic inflammation. The estimated total of infection-attributed malignancy per year is 1.9 million cases or 17.8% of the global cancer burden [1]. Among the principal cancerogenic agents, *H. pylori* is a leading factor responsible for 5.5% of all cancers.

There is accumulating evidence to suggest that malignancy is a stem cell disorder. Three possibilities are discussed as to how cancer stem cells (CSC) may originate in the affected tissues [2]: 1, mutations of differentiated cells occur locally; 2, CSC derive from a transformed local pool of normal stem cells (NSC); and 3, bone marrow-derived cells (BMDCs) can be mobilized into peripheral blood, migrate to and repopulate the tissue gradually transforming into CSC. This pathway was recently proven in an animal model of *Helicobacter*-induced gastric cancer [3].

In a superbly designed study, Houghton et al. demonstrated that infection of C57BL/6 mice with *Helicobacter felis* led to repopulation of the stomach with BMDCs. Subsequently, these cells progressed through the intermediate steps of metaplasia and dysplasia to cancer. To prove the bone marrow origin of these epithelial cells in the stomach, female animals were irradiated and underwent

transplantation with bone marrow from male mice. The origin of these cells from bone marrow was confirmed by special labelling. A significant up-regulation of stromal-derived factor 1 (SDF-1), a factor responsible for mobilization and migration of marrow progenitor cells seems to play an important role in this mechanism. These observations suggest that *Helicobacter* infection is the initiator of the carcinogenetic process by creating an environment favorable for marrow stem cells recruitment.

An additional study from the same institution showed that bacterial eradication was effective in preventing gastric cancer development. Even if eradication was performed after cancer development, the progression of the malignant proliferation was significantly slowed down [4].

As a consequence of these findings, a new model for epithelial cancers is proposed [5]. The starting point is chronic inflammation, which through tissue injury leads to local (within gastric mucosa) stem cells failure. This event leads to recruitment and engraftment of BMDCs into the tissue stem cell niche, and they take over the function of the original tissue stem cells. In the abnormal environment because of the presence of inflammatory cytokines and a deregulated tissue architecture, BMDCs may fail to differentiate properly and progress to cancer. The authors further report that chemoattracted cells belong to the nonhematopoietic, adherent mesenchymal stem cells population [3].

Kucia et al. identified a population of very small embryonic-like (VSEL) cells in murine bone marrow, which in vitro responded strongly to SDF-1 [6]. They

hypothesized that these cells are recruited early during development in bone marrow and may serve as a source of pluripotent stem cells for tissue regeneration as well as cancer formation.

The evidence that epithelial gastric tumors can be of BMDCs origin is a new concept in our understanding of cancerogenesis.

In addition, the link between chronic inflammation and malignancy, recognized since many years finds new support by the elucidation of basic mechanisms involved in this process. However, studies are needed now to investigate whether this concept is also applicable to humans.

Previous studies indicated that nuclear factor Kappa B (NF- κ B) is essential for promoting inflammation-associated cancer [7]. Suganuma et al. complemented this finding by identifying the TNF-alpha-inducing protein (Tipalpha) gene family in *H. pylori* genome. They found that the Tipalpha proteins released from the bacteria act as carcinogenic factors through induction of TNF- α expression and NF- κ B activation. The authors further suggested that NF- κ B activation by Tipalpha may play a key role in stomach carcinogenesis [8,9].

Cell–cell interaction is essential for the maintenance of normal cell morphology, growth control, and differentiation. The cadherin– β -catenin complex represents an essential component of the tight junctions that link cadherin receptors with the actin cytoskeleton. In an animal model, "carcinogenic" *H. pylori* strains were shown to activate β -catenin through a CagA-related mechanism and thereby impair cell adherence. This phenomenon is likely to represent an early event that precedes malignant transformation in the stomach [10].

Factors Influencing the Risk of Gastric Cancer Development

Genetic polymorphisms in inflammatory cytokine genes, particularly interleukin 1 (IL-1) have emerged in recent years as an important determinant of gastric cancer susceptibility.

During the past year, this topic continued to receive much attention with research focused mainly on IL-1 (IL-1 β and its receptor antagonist), TNF- α , interleukin 8 and 10 (IL-8, IL-10).

The studies on the association between IL-1 β polymorphism and gastric cancer risk remained inconclusive, reporting both positive [11–15] and negative [16–18] associations. Studies presenting a positive link emphasized that the effect appears more modest than it was previously thought of [11,19]. Recent publications from Korea demonstrated even opposite results: Chang et al. described the positive relationship between increased gastric cancer risk and "wild IL-1 β haplotype" in Korean patients [20].

This discrepancy may reflect mostly the genetic difference between populations. The reason for this may be also because of potential confounding variables, such as H. pylori status and H. pylori-related pathogenetic factors and a family history of malignancy. Studies from Italy demonstrated that IL-1β polymorphism may contribute to an increased gastric cancer risk (OR 6.5) only in H. pylorinegative subjects, whereas those carrying H. pylori have a similar risk as compared with controls [14,16]. In the study by Starzynska et al., IL-1 polymorphism analysis was helpful to identify individuals with an increased risk of gastric cancer development in the absence of a family history of gastric cancer. Analysis of IL-1β did not appear to be useful in gastric cancer family members [19]. The study also revealed an association between the IL-1β polymorphisms and gastric cancer risk with emphasis on the tumor stage.

The relationship between IL-1β polymorphism, gastric acid secretion, and H. pylori-associated gastric cancer, is now recognized to be more complex as initially recognized. A study from China investigated the effect of IL-1β genetic polymorphism on gastric acid secretion. IL-1β mRNA expression and gastric acid output were assessed in a large number of healthy volunteers [21]. In agreement with previous reports the positive association between IL-1β polymorphism and increased IL-1B expression was confirmed but contrary to the prior hypothesis an increased production of IL-1β did not inhibit gastric acid secretion. Authors suggested that the pathway, through which IL-1B may exert its effect in stomach carcinogenesis does not depend on acidity, but on other regulatory mechanisms. This study opens new questions related to IL-1β and gastric carcinogenesis. The suggestion that the role of IL-1β polymorphisms are not exclusively linked to gastric acid hyposecretion is strengthened by the observation in a subset of duodenal ulcer patients (32%), who do have increased acid secretion [19].

Also, other cytokine gene polymorphisms (TNF- α , IL-10, IL-8) and their relevance for *H. pylori*-induced gastric cancer risk have been reported with inconsistent results [16,17,22–25].

Recent studies from Asia on host factors and their impact on clinical outcome in *H. pylori* infection suggest the poor metabolizer genotype status to be a risk factor for developing gastric cancer, especially for the diffuse type (OR 3.4) [26].

In order to underline the differences in the carcinogenic potential of bacteria, Saganuma et al. proposed to divide *H. pylori* into four groups with respect to Tipalpha and *cag*PAI status [9].

In summary, the studies performed during last year support the view that polymorphism of inflammatory cytokines is not able to identify individuals at increased risk of gastric cancer, and those who might benefit from *H. pylori* eradication. New markers indicating an increased risk from both, the host and the bacterial side have been identified. However, their role in clinical settings remains to be defined.

The basis for the development of gastric cancer in a small subset of *H. pylori*-infected individuals leaves may open questions.

A comprehensive review on all elements contributing to causality of *H. pylori* in gastric cancer development and the potential of *H. pylori* eradication for its prevention has been published in the American Journal of Gastroenterology [27].

Helicobacter and Extra-Gastric Malignancies

There is some evidence to suggest that *Helicobacter* infection may be associated with an increased risk of extra-gastric malignancies [28]. The latest research addressing the issue was related mostly to colorectal and hepatocellular carcinoma.

It has previously been shown that the risk of colon adenomas is increased in H. pylori-infected subjects. Two new studies from Japan based on a large number of patients added important evidence for the association between H. pylori infection and colorectal neoplasia [29,30]. The first study showed a positive relationship between H. pylori infection and the risk of adenoma and carcinoma, especially in women (OR 1.68 and 2.09, respectively). The second study found that H. pylori infection is connected with the presence of colon adenomatous polyps detected by high-resolution colonoscopy. A very significant increase in the incidence of adenomas was observed in the seropositive group (44.3 versus 18.9%, p < .0001). Grahn et al. detected Helicobacter DNA in nearly 30% of colorectal cancer biopsy specimens and proposed 16S rDNA amplification and pyrosequencing analysis as a molecular tool to identify the bacteria [31].

The presence of *Helicobacter* species in the liver tissue from patients with different liver diseases including hepatic neoplasias has been reported by numerous authors. The most thrilling hypothesis is that these bacteria might play a role in the development of hepatocellular carcinoma [32].

The article of Rocha et al. demonstrated the association of *Helicobacter* species with hepatitis C cirrhosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) [33]. The study included a large series of patients and was the first to examine both tumor and cirrhotic liver tissue samples from patients with HCV-positive HCC. *Helicobacter* DNA was found in a small percentage of liver biopsies from controls as well as from patients with chronic hepatitis C (4.2 and 3.5%, respectively). However, the prevalence was high in patients with HCV-positive cirrhosis and in those with cirrhosis and HCC

(68 and 61%, respectively). In nearly all samples obtained from cancer tissue, *Helicobacter* DNA was detected and identified as *Helicobacter pullorum* or *H. pylori*-like organisms. The authors suggested the possible causal role of these bacteria in the progression of chronic hepatitis C and the development of HCC. However, further prospective studies are requested to prove this hypothesis.

To investigate the effect of *H. pylori* on human hepatic cells, comparative proteome analysis of untreated and *H. pylori*-treated hepatic cell line HepG2 was performed by Zhang et al. [34]. Seven proteins, which were up-regulated in *H. pylori*-treated cells, were identified including oncogene-encoded products, regulatory proteins of transcription and signal transduction. The above finding might be a basis for further studies on the role of *Helicobacter* spp. in liver diseases and in particular in HCC.

Research on *H. pylori* and other *Helicobacter* species will offer a great opportunity for further discoveries and the elucidation of mechanisms involved in carcinogenesis within the digestive system.

- 1 Parkin DM. The global health burden of infection-associated cancers in the year 2002. *Int J Cancer* 2006;118:3030–44.
- 2 Ratajczak MZ, Kucia M, Dabrowska H, Wanzeck J, Reca R, Ratajczak J. Emerging concept of cancer as a stem cell disorder. *Central Eur J Biol* 2006;1:73–87.
- 3 Houghton J, Stoicov C, Roger A, Carbon J, Li H, Cai X, Fox J, Goldering J, Wang T. Gastric cancer originating from bone marrow-derived cells. *Science* 2004;306:1568–71.
- 4 Cai X, Carlson J, Stoicov C, Li H, Wang T, Houghton J. Helicobacter felis eradication restores normal architecture and inhibits gastric cancer progression in C57BL/6 mice. Gastroenterology 2005;128:1937–52.
- 5 Houghton J, Wang T. Helicobacter pylori and gastric cancer: a new paradigm for inflammation-associated epithelial cancer. Gastroenterology 2005;128:1567–78.
- 6 Kucia M, Reca R, Campbell FR, Zuba-Surma E, Majka M, Ratajczak J, Ratajczak MZ. A population of very small embryonic-like (VSEL) CXR4* SSEA-1*, Oct-4* stem cells identified in adult bone marrow. Leukemia 2006;20:857–69.
- 7 Pikarsky E, Porat RM, Stein I, Abramovitch R, Amit S, Kasem S, Gutkovich-Pyest E, Urieli-Shoval S, Galun E, Ben-Neriah Y. NF-κB functions as a tumour promotor in inflammation-associated cancer. *Nature* 2004;431:461–6.
- 8 Saganuma M, Kuzuhara T, Yamaguchi K, Fujiki H. Cancerogenic role of tumour necrosis factor-alfa-inducing protein of *Helicobacter* pylori in human stomach. *J Bioch Mol Biol*; 2006;39:1–8.
- 9 Saganuma M, Kurusu M, Suzuki K, Nishizono A, Murakami K, Fujioka T, Fujiki H. New tumour necrosis factor-alfa-inducing protein released from *Helicobacter pylori* for gastric cancer progression. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* 2005;131:305–13.
- 10 Franco AT, Israel DA, Washington MK, et al. Activation of beta-catenin by carcinogenic *Helicobacter pylori*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 2005;102:10646–51.
- 11 Palli D, Saieva C, Luzzi I, et al. Interleukin 1 gene polymorphisms and gastric cancer risk in a high-risk Italian population. Am J Gastroenterol 2005;100:1941–8.

- 12 Sicinschi LA, Lopez-Carrillo L, Camargo MC, Correa P, Sierra RA, Henry RR, hen J, Zabaleta J, Piazuelo MB, Schneider BG. Gastric cancer risk in a Mexican population: role of *Helicobacter pylori* CagA-positive infection and polymorphisms in interleukin 1 and 10 genes. *Int J Cancer* 2006;118:649–57.
- 13 Zang WH, Wang XL, Zhou J, An LZ, Xie XD. Association of interleukin 1B (IL-1B) gene polymorphisms with risk of gastric cancer in Chinese population. *Cytokine* 2005;30:378–81.
- 14 Ruzzo A, Graziano F, Pzzagali F, et al. Interleukin 1B gene (IL-1B) and interleukin 1 receptor antagonist gene (IL-1RN) polymorphisms in *Helicobacter*-negative gastric cancer of intestinal and diffuse histotype. *Ann Oncol* 2005;16:887–92.
- 15 Sakuma K, Uozaki H, Chong JM, Hironaka M, SudoM, Ushiku T, Nagai H, Fukayama M. Cancer risk to the gastric corpus in Japanese, its correlation with interleukin 1Beta gene polymorphism (+3953) and Ebstein–Barr virus infection. *Int J Cancer* 2005;115:93–7.
- 16 Perri F, Piepoli A, Bonvicini C, et al. Cytokine gene polymorphisms in gastric cancer patients from two Italian areas at high and low cancer prevalence. *Cytokine* 2005;30:293–302.
- 17 Zambon CF, Basso D, Navaglia F, et al. Pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines gene polymorphisms and *Helicobacter pylori* infection: interaction influence outcome. *Cytokine* 2005;29:141–52.
- 18 Kim N, Cho SI, Yim JY, Kim JM, Lee DH, Park JH, Kim JS, Jung HC, Song IS. The effect of genetic polymorphisms of IL-1 and TNF-α on *Helicobacter pylori*-induced gastroduodenal diseases in Korea. *Helicobacter* 2006;11:105–12.
- 19 Starzyńska T, Ferenc K, Wex T, Kahne T, Lubiński J, Ławniczak M, Marlicz K, Malfertheiner P. The association between the interleukin 1 polymorphisms and gastric cancer risk depends on the family history of gastric carcinoma in the study population. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2006;101:248–54.
- 20 Chang YW, Jang JY, Kim NH et al. Interleukin 1B (IL-1B) polymorphisms and gastric mucosal level of IL-1beta cytokine in Korean patients with gastric cancer. *Int J Cancer* 2005;114:465–71.
- 21 Hu S, Song Q-B, Yao P-F, Hu Q-L, Hu P-J, Zeng Z-R, Pang R-P. No relationship between IL-1B gene polymorphism and gastric acid secretion in younger healthy volunteers. *World J Gastroenterol* 2005;11:6549–53.
- 22 Lee JY, Kim HY, Kim KH, Kim SM, Jang MK, Park JY, Lee JH, Kim JH, Yoo JY. Association of polymorphism of IL-10 and TNF-A genes with gastric cancer in Korea. *Cancer Lett* 2005;225:207–14.
- 23 Ohyauchi M, Imatani A, Yonechi M, Asano N, Miura A, Iijima K,

- Koike T, Sekine H, Ohara S, Shimosegawa T. The polymorphism interleukin 8–251A/T influences the susceptibility of *Helicobacter pylori*-related diseases in the Japanese population. *Gut* 2005:54:330–5
- 24 Savage SA, Hou L, Lissowska J, Chow W.-H, Zatoński W, Chanock SJ, Yeager M. Interleukin 8 polymorphisms are not associated with gastric cancer risk in a Polish population. *Cancer Evidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2006:15:589–91.
- 25 Kamangar F, Abnet CC, Hutchinson AA, et al. Polymorphism in inflammation-related genes and risk of gastric cancer. *Cancer Causes Control* 2006;17:117–25.
- 26 Sugimoto M, Furuta T, Shirai N, Nakamura A, Kajimura M, Sugimura H, Hishida A, Ishizaki T. Poor metabolizer genotype status of CYP2C19 is a risk factor for developing gastric cancer in Japanese patients with *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2005;22:1033–40.
- 27 Malfertheiner P, Sipponen P, Naumann M, Moayyedi P, Megraud F, Xiao SD, Sugano K, Nyren O and Lejondal H. pylori gastric cancer task force. Helicobacter pylori eradication has the potential to prevent gastric cancer. A state-of-the-art critique. Am J Gastroenterol 2005;100:2100–15.
- 28 Zumkeller N, Brenner H, Zwahlen M, Rothenbacher D. Helicobacter pylori infection and colorectal cancer risk: a meta-analysis. Helicobacter 2006;11:75–80.
- 29 Fujimori S, Kishida T, Kobaiashi T, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* infection increases the risk of colorectal adenoma and adenocarcinoma, especially in women. *J Gastroenterol* 2005;40:887–93.
- 30 Mizuno S, Morita Y, Inui T, Asakawa A, Ueno N, Ando T, Kato H, Uchida M, Yoshikawa T, Inui A. *Helicobacter pylori* infection is associated with colon adenomatous polyps detected by high-resolution colonoscopy. *Int J Cancer* 2005;117:1058–9.
- 31 Grahn N, Hmani-Aifa M, Fransen K, Soderkvist P, Monstein HJ. Molecular identification of *Helicobacter DNA* present in human colorectal adenocarcinomas by 16S rDNA PCR amplification and pyrosequencing analysis. *J Med Microbiol* 2005;54:1031–5.
- 32 Wu X-Z, Chen D. *Helicobacter pylori* and hepatocellular carcinoma: correlated or uncorrelated? *J Hepatol Gastroenterol* 2006;21:345–7.
- 33 Rocha M, Avenaud P, Menard A, Le Bail B, Balabaud C, Bioulac-Sage P, de Magalhaes Queiroz OM, Megraud F. Association of *Helicobacter* species with hepatitis C cirrhosis with or without hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gut* 2005;54:396–401.
- 34 Zahn Y, Fan XG, Chen R, Xiao ZQ, Feng XP, Tian XF, Chen ZH. Comparative proteome analysis of untreated and *Helicobacter pylori*-treated HepG2. World J Gastroenterol 2005;11:3485–9.

Treatment of Helicobacter pylori Infection

Lucas G. Cavallaro,* Brian Egan,† Colm O'Morain† and Francesco Di Mario*

*Section of Gastroenterology, Department of Clinical Sciences, University of Parma, Parma, Italy, †Department of Medicine, Trinity College, Adelaide Meath Hospital, Tallaght, Dublin 24, Ireland.

Keywords

antimicrobial resistance, eradication, first-line treatment.

Reprint requests to: Professor Francesco Di Mario, Section of Gastroenterology, Department of Clinical Sciences, University of Parma, via Gramsci, 14 43100 Parma, Italy. Tel.: +390521702772; Fax: +390521291582; E-mail: francesco.dimario@unipr.it

Abstract

In clinical practice the recommended treatment regimens achieve only an 80% *Helicobacter pylori* eradication rate and this rate is lower in patients who have failed first-line treatment. The increasing indications for *H. pylori* treatment (idiopathic thrombocytopenia and iron deficiency anemia) and an increasing trend of antibiotic resistance (especially in southern Europe) emphasize the need for more effective *H. pylori* eradication. Smoking and a short duration of treatment, especially in patients with functional dyspepsia, are predictors of eradication failure. In first line, the best option remains the clarithromycin-based regimens but an extended treatment duration is now indicated. Following first-line treatment failure, 14-day proton pump inhibitor triple therapy employing alternative antibiotics or quadruple therapy could be used. Levofloxacin-based 10-day triple therapy seems to be an encouraging strategy following one or more eradication failures.

Helicobacter pylori eradication remains an important public health challenge especially in light of broadening indications and increasing antimicrobial resistance. The recommended *H. pylori* eradication therapy continues to be triple therapy with a proton pump inhibitor (PPI) and two antibiotics of clarithromycin, amoxicillin, or metronidazole for 7 days. However, with these recommended regimens, at least 20% of patients do not achieve eradication in clinical practice (Table 1). This high rate of treatment failure reflects the need for continued revision and updating of treatment regimens for *H. pylori* eradication.

New Indications for *Helicobacter pylori* Eradication

At the United European Gastroenterology Week (UEGW), held in Copenhagen, October 15–19, 2005, the revised Maastricht Guidelines for *Helicobacter pylori* eradication, developed by the European *Helicobacter pylori* Study Group (EHSG), were presented [5]. All the previous indications for *H. pylori* treatment were endorsed [6]. These indications included peptic ulcer disease, investigated non-ulcer dyspepsia ("test and treat"), gastric mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) lymphoma, atrophic gastritis, postgastric cancer resection, first-degree relatives of gastric cancer patients, and patient preference after consultation. A number of new indications for eradication were introduced: idiopathic thrombocytopenia purpura (ITP)

and iron-deficiency anemia (IDA). Much consideration was also given to the role of *H. pylori* eradication in nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) users.

The association of IDA and H. pylori is now well established. Data from US National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey from 7462 participants confirmed the association between H. pylori infection and IDA prevalence (odds ratio: OR: 2.7) [7]. Similarly in a pediatric study conducted on 700 children from rural Alaska, H. pylori infection was associated with IDA [8], suggesting H. pylori eradication for the management of IDA in this region. Proposed mechanisms of IDA in patients with H. pylori include: chronic gastritis (causing occult blood loss or decreased iron absorption) or uptake and utilization of available iron by H. pylori [9]. An association between H. pylori infection and ITP has been established by a number of studies [10]. H. pylori eradication should be the first line of treatment in H. pylori-positive ITP patients [11]. H. pylori eradication is of use in preventing peptic ulcers and gastrointestinal bleeding in *H. pylori*-positive patients on NSAIDs [12].

Antimicrobial Resistance

Antimicrobial resistance is a major cause of treatment failure [13] and resistance rates vary considerably between regions. Reliable geographic data on the prevalence of antimicrobials resistance has a crucial role in choosing the best first- and second-line treatments for eradication.

Cavallaro et al. Treatment of *H. pylori* Infection

Table 1 Triple therapy results

Regimen	Duration	Patients	Eradication rate (%)	Reference	
PPI, CA	7	812	72%	[1]	
PPI, CA	7	890	77%	[2]	
PPI, CA	7	507	74%	[3]	
PPI, CA	7 or 10	458	76%	[4]	

In Germany, a satisfactory low resistance for clarithromycin (9.8%) and levofloxacin (3.2%) was observed [14]. In contrast in an Italian study evaluating 232 naïve H. pylori-positive patients by using a real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR), a very high primary clarithromycin resistance (26.7%) was reported [15]. In a European multicenter study involving 1233 symptomatic H. pyloriinfected children, a high primary resistance rate to clarithromycin (20%) and a reasonably low resistance rate to metronidazole (25%) were detected [16]. Regression analysis revealed a higher risk for clarithromycin resistance in children who were born in southern Europe, Asia, Africa or the Middle East. In a study of 111 adults in US-Mexico, only 3% had primary clarithromycin resistance by E-test methods [17]. In a Japanese study fluoroquinolone (gatifloxacin) resistance was extremely high (47%), therefore the potential use of fluoroquinolones as rescue therapy could be limited in Japan [18].

Culture for the management of *H. pylori* infection has been neglected for a long time, despite the fact that several studies have shown repeatedly that higher eradication rates are obtained when antibiotics are chosen based on susceptibility testing versus choosing empirically [19,20]. The high impact of clarithromycin resistance on eradication rates has suggested that culture and antimicrobial susceptibility testing is of benefit when the resistance rate reaches 15–20% in a region. Another condition where susceptibility testing is recommended is in the failure of second-line therapy. The monitoring of primary antibiotic resistance should be carried out in different areas in order to appreciate the risk of failure linked to antimicrobial resistance.

Other Factors Related to Eradication Failure

Other important factors related to eradication failure include compliance, duration of therapy, diagnosis of NUD, and smoking. In a randomized study of 458 *H. pylori*-positive patients into 7- or 10-day triple therapy with rabeprazole, clarithromycin, and amoxicillin, 10 days was superior to 7 days in patients with NUD; however, no difference was seen in patients with PUD [21]. In a meta-analysis of 22

Table 2 Cure rates in alternative first-line treatments

First-line treatment	Eradication rate (%) (PP/ITT)	Reference	
10 day quadruple therapy Sequential therapy	95/91	[24]	
(5-day PPI triple after 5-day PPI dual therapy)	97/94	[25]	
PPI-amoxicillin-levofloxacin ^b	93/87	[14]	
PPI–clarithromycin–tinidazole–bLF ^a	93/89	[28]	
PPI–clarithromycin–amoxicillin–bLF ^a	80/78	[29]	

abLF: bovine lactoferrin.

Table 3 Cure rates in second or third-line treatments

Second or third-line treatment	Eradication rate (%) (PP/ITT)	Reference
PPI-metronidazole-amoxicillin	90/74	[30]
PPI-metronidazole-tetracycline	92/83	[30]
PPI-minocycline-amoxicillin	85/85	[31]
Quadruple after 1 month of AB-yogurt	91/85	[32]
PPI-moxifloxacin-amoxicillin	84/76	[33]
10-day PPI–levofloxacin–amoxicillin	80 ^a	[34]
4-day PPI–levofloxacin–tinidazole	83/83	[36]
PPI-rifabutin-amoxicillin	91/91	[37]

PP, per protocol analysis; ITT, intention-to-treat analysis.

studies involving 5530 patients smoking increased the risk of treatment failure (OR = 1.95) [22].

First-Line Treatment

The usual first-line treatment regimen is clarithromycin, amoxicillin, and PPI twice daily for 7 days. Cure rates for eradication of *H. pylori* with conventional 7-day treatment appear to be decreasing. Other alternatives include longer duration of therapy, quadruple therapy, sequential therapy, adjuvant therapy, or new antimicrobials-based therapies which have been used with comparable or better success rate than the established regimens (Table 2). Extending the treatment duration of the traditional clarithromycin regimen to 14 days appears to significantly improve eradication rates [23]. The combination of PPI–clarithromycin–metronidazole leads to better eradication rates than the combination of PPI–clarithromycin–amoxicillin.

Dore et al. demonstrated good compliance and a satisfactory eradication rate with a twice a day quadruple regimen (PPI, bismuth, tetracycline, and metronidazole) in

b36.7% of enrolled patients with one or more treatment failure.

PP, per protocol analysis; ITT, intention-to-treat analysis.

^aOverall cure rates of a meta-analysis.

Treatment of H. pylori Infection Cavallaro et al.

elderly *H. pylori*-positive dyspeptic patients [24]. Another Italian group confirmed the better success rate of the sequential treatment (5-day dual therapy with PPI–amoxicillin followed by 5-day triple therapy with PPI–clarithromycin and metronidazole) than 7- or 10-day PPI triple therapy with clarithromycin and amoxicillin [25]. This sequential regime may be an alternative in clarithromycin-resistant strains [26]. Several new antimicrobials have shown promising eradication rates. A study from Germany demonstrated a satisfactory eradication rate of 7-day PPI triple regimen with levofloxacin and amoxicillin, although it was not significantly better than the clarithromycin-based therapy.

Therapy with bovine lactoferrin (bLF) was effective to reduce colonization density of *H. pylori*; however, it did not lead to complete eradication [27]. Conflicting data from Italy showed that adjuvant therapy was beneficial in one study [28] but this was not confirmed in another [29]. This discrepancy could be explained by different clarithromycin resistance rates and the use of different antibiotics in the studies.

Treatments after One or More Eradication Failure

Quadruple therapy is the recommended option after treatment failure. However bismuth is not available in all countries. The schedule compliance, complexity, and side-effects of quadruple therapy have led to research for alternative antimicrobials. A number of treatment options are available after first-line treatment failure (Table 3).

Studies from Japan [30] with metronidazole in combination with tetracycline or amoxicillin have demonstrated satisfactory eradication rates and few side-effects. Another Japanese experience study with minocycline, amoxicillin, and rabeprazole treatment showed acceptable results as second-line treatment [31]. In Taiwan where bismuth is available, a study, giving 4 weeks AB-yogurt containing lactobacillus and bifidobacterium prior to 7-day quadruple therapy, achieved a higher eradication rate than simple quadruple therapy [32]. The yogurt pretreatment could reduce *H. pylori* colonization facilitating the bactericidal activities of the antimicrobials treatment.

Quinolone-based regimens, such as moxifloxacin 400 mg four times a day, amoxicillin 1 g twice a day, and esome-prazole 20 mg twice a day achieved a higher success rate with a better tolerability than quadruple therapy [33].

In a meta-analysis considering 977 *H. pylori*-positive patients who failed one or more eradication treatments, a high success rate (overall: 80%) of levofloxacin-based regimens for 10 days was evident. These regimens achieved a better eradication rate than classic quadruple therapy with fewer side-effects [34]. These results were comparable to

another meta-analysis performed comparing once daily (500 mg) versus twice daily (250 mg) of levofloxacin, suggesting a more compliant use of the once daily dosage [35]. However, theoretically, a higher levofloxacin dosage daily could increase tissue concentrations. Another study showed a high-dose levofloxacin regimen over 4 days was as effective as the conventional treatment (7 days) with 250 mg twice a day [36]. A 12-day regimen of high-dose PPI and amoxicillin and low-dose rifabutin showed a very high eradication rate in 130 patients with clarithromycin-resistant strains [37]; however, a disappointing eradication rate was observed in a study using rifabutin 300 mg as third-line therapy [38]. Widespread use of rifabutin could induce resistance in mycobacteria and so it should be used with caution.

Conclusions

Although a trend towards an increasing primary clarithromycin resistance, clarithromycin-based regimens remain the best first-line option. An extended duration of treatment to 14 days treatment is increasingly indicated. Antimicrobial resistance should be monitored locally and directed treatment may increase eradication rates. Sequential regimen or adjuvant therapy may be of marginal benefit. In second line, 14-day treatment using metronidazole and tetracycline if not previously given is effective treatment. Levofloxacin-based 10-day triple therapy is an encouraging strategy as second-line treatment.

- 1 Della Monica P, Lavagna A, Masoero G, Lombardo L. C Effectiveness of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication treatments in a primary care setting in Italy. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2002:16:1269–75.
- 2 Boixeda D, Martin De Argila C, Bermejo F, Lopez Sanroman A, Hernandez Ranz F, Garcia Plaza A. Seven-day proton pump inhibitor, amoxicillin and clarithromycin triple therapy. Factors that influence *Helicobacter pylori* eradications success. *Rev Esp Enferm Dig* 2003;95:202–5.
- 3 Zullo A, Vaira D, Vakil N, et al. High eradication rates of Helicobacter pylori with a new sequential treatment. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2003;17:719–26. Erratum in: Aliment Pharmacol Ther: 2003 May 1:17:1205
- 4 Calvet X, Ducons J, Bujanda L, Bory F, Montserrat A, Gisbert JP; Hp Study Group of the Asociacion Espanola de Gastroenterologia. Seven versus ten days of rabeprazole triple therapy for *Helicobacter pylori* eradication: a multicenter randomized trial. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2005;100:1696–701.
- 5 Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, O'Morain C. The Maastricht 3 Consensus Report: Guidelines for the Management of Helicobacter pylori infection. Eur Gastroenterol Rev 2005;59:62 [http:// www.helicobacter.org/download/ summary_guidelines_hp_infection %20_business_briefing.pdf].
- 6 Malfertheiner P, Mégraud F, O'Morain C, Hungins APS, Jones R, Axon A, Graham DY, Tytgat G & The European *Helicobacter pylori*

Cavallaro et al. Treatment of H. pylori Infection

Study Group (EHPSG). Current concepts in the management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection – The Maastricht 2–2000 Consensus Report. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2002;16:167–80.

- 7 Cardenas VM, Mulla ZD, Ortiz M, Graham D. Iron deficiency and Helicobacter pylori infection in the United States. Am J Epidemiol 2005;163:127–34.
- 8 Baggett HC, Parkinson AJ, Muth PT, Gold BD, Gessner B. Endemic iron deficiency associated with *Helicobacter pylori* infection among school-aged children in Alaska. *Pediatrics* 2006;117:396– 404
- 9 DuBois S, Kearney DJ. Iron-deficiency anemia and *Helicobacter pylori* infection: a review of the evidence. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2005;100:453–9.
- 10 Gasbarrini A, Franceschi F, Tartaglione R, Landolfi R, Pola P, Gasbarrini G. Regression of autoimmune thrombocytopenia after eradication of *Helicobacter pylori*. *Lancet* 1998;352:878.
- 11 Fujimura K, Kuwana M, Kurata Y, et al. Is eradication therapy useful as the first line of treatment in *Helicobacter pylori*-positive idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura? Analysis of 207 eradicated chronic ITP cases in Japan. *Int J Hematol* 2005;81:162–8.
- 12 Vergara M, Catalan M, Gisbert JP, Calvet X. Meta-analysis: role of Helicobacter pylori eradication in the prevention of peptic ulcer in NSAID users. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2005;21:1411–8.
- 13 Megraud F. Helicobacter pylori antibiotic resistance: prevalence, importance, and advances in testing. Gut 2004;33:1374–84.
- 14 Antos D, Schneider-Brachert W, Bastlein E, et al. 7-Day triple therapy of *Helicobacter pylori* infection with levofloxacin, amoxicillin, and high-dose esomeprazole in patients with known antimicrobial sensitivity. *Helicobacter* 2006;11:39–46.
- 15 De Francesco V, Margiotta M, Zulllo A, et al. Primary clarithromycin resistance in Italy assessed on *Helicobacter pylori* DNA sequences by TaqMan real-time polymerase chain reaction. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2006;23:429–35.
- 16 Koletzko S, Richy F, Bontems P, et al. on the behalf of the European Paediatric Task Force on *Helicobacter pylori*. Prospective multicenter study on antibiotic resistance of *Helicobacter pylori* strains obtained from children living in Europe. *Gut* 2006;April 7 (Epub ahead of print).
- 17 Cardenas VM, Graham DY, El-Zimaity HMT, Opekun AR, Campos A, Chavez A, Guerrero L. Rabeprazole containing triple therapy to eradicate *Helicobacter pylori* infection on the Texas-Mexican border. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2006;23:295–301.
- 18 Nishizawa T, Suzuki H, Kurabayashi K, Masaoka T, Muraoka H, Mori M, Iwasaki E, Kobayashi I, Hibi T. Gatifloxacin resistance and mutations in gyrA after unsuccessful Helicobacter pylori eradication in Japan. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2006;50:1538–40.
- 19 Lamouliatte H, Megraud F, Delchier JC, et al. Second-line treatment for failure to eradicate *Helicobacter pylori*: a randomized trial comparing four treatment strategies. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2003;18:791–7.
- 20 Toracchio S, Cellini L, Di Campli E, Cappello G, Malatesta MG, Ferri A, Ciccaglione AF, Grossi L, Marzio L. Role of antimicrobial susceptibility testing on efficacy of triple therapy in *Helicobacter pylori* eradication. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2000;14:1639–43.
- 21 Calvet X, Ducons J, Bujanda L, Bory F, Montserrat A, Gisbert JP on behalf of the Hp Study Group of the Asociación Española de Gastroenterologia. Seven versus ten days of rabeprazole triple therapy for *Helicobacter pylori*. Am J Gastroenterol 2005;100:1696–701.
- 22 Suzuki T, Matsuo K, Ito H, et al. Smoking increases the treatment failure for *Helicobacter pylori* eradication. *Am J Med* 2006;119:217–24.

23 Ford A, Delaney B, Forman D, Moayyedi P. Eradication therapy for peptic ulcer disease in *Helicobacter pylori* positive. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2003.

- 24 Dore MP, Maragkoudakis E, Pironti A, Tadeu V, Tedde R, Realdi G, Delitala G. Twice-a-day quadruple therapy for eradication of Helicobacter pylori in the elderly. Helicobacter 2006;11:52–5.
- 25 Scaccianoce G, Hassan C, Panarese A, Piglionica D, Morini S, Zullo A. *Helicobacter pylori* eradication with either 7-day or 10-day triple therapy therapies, and with 10-day sequential regimen. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2006;20:113–7.
- 26 De Francesco V, Margiotta M, Zullo A, et al. Clarithromycinresistant genotypes and eradication of *Helicobacter pylori*. Ann Intern Med 2006;144:94–100.
- 27 Okuda M, Nakazawa T, Yamauchi K, et al. Bovine lactoferrin is effective to suppress *Helicobacter pylori* colonization in the human stomach: a randomized, double-blind, placebo controlled study. *J Infect Chemother* 2005;11:265–9.
- 28 Di Mario F, Aragona G, Dal Bo N, et al. on the behalf of the Gastrointestinal Study Group (GISU). Bovine lactoferrin for the *Helicobacter pylori* eradication: an open, randomized, multicentre study. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2006;23:1235–40.
- 29 Zullo A, De Francesco V, Scaccianoce G, Hassan C, Panarese A, Piglionica D, Panella C, Morini S, Ierardi E. Quadruple therapy with lactoferrin for *Helicobacter pylori* eradication: a randomised, multicentre study. *Dig Liver Dis* 2005;37:496–500.
- 30 Matsushima M, Suzuki T, Kurumada T, et al. Tetracycline, metronidazole and amoxicillin–metronidazole combinations in proton pump inhibitor-based triple therapies *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2006;21:232–3.
- 31 Murakami K, Sato R, Okimoto T, Watanabe K, Nasu M, Fujioka T, Kodama M, Abe T, Sato S, Arita T. Effectiveness of minocycline-based triple therapy for eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2006;21:262–7.
- 32 Sheu BS, Cheng HC, Kao AW, Wang ST, Yang YJ, Yang HB, Wu JJ. Pretreatment with *Lactobacillus*- and *Bifidobacterium*-containing yogurt can improve the efficacy of quadruple therapy in eradication residual *Helicobacter pylori* after failed triple therapy. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2006;83:864–9.
- 33 Cheon JU, Kim N, Lee DH, Kim JS, Jung HC, Song IS. Efficacy of moxifloxacin-based triple therapy as second-line treatment for *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Helicobacter* 2006;11:46–51.
- 34 Gisbert JP, De la morena F. Systematic review and meta-analysis: levofloxacin-based rescue regimens after *Helicobacter pylori* treatment failure. *Aliment Phar Ther* 2006;23:35–44.
- 35 Saad RJ, Schoenfeld P, Kim HM, Chey WD. Levofloxacin-based triple therapy versus bismuth-based quadruple therapy for persistent *Helicobacter pylori* infection: a meta-analysis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2006;101:488–96.
- 36 Giannini EG, Bilardi C, Dulbecco P, Mamone M, Santi ML, Testa R, Mansi C, Savarino V. A study of 4- and 7-day triple therapy with rabeprazole, high-dose levofloxacin and tinidazole rescue treatment for *Helicobacter pylori* eradication. *Aliment Phar Ther* 2005;23:281–7.
- 37 Borody TJ, Pang G, Wettstein AR, Clancy R, Herman K, Surace R, Fiorente R, Ng C. Efficacy and safety of rifabutin-containing 'rescue therapy' for resistant *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Aliment Phar Ther* 2006;23:481–8.
- 38 Qasim A, Sebastian S, Thornton O, Dobson M, McLoughlin R, Buckley M, O'Connor H, O'Morain C. Rifabutin- and furazolidone-based *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapies after failure of standard first- and second-line eradication attempts in dyspepsia patients. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2005;21:91–6.

Helicobacter pylori Infection in Pediatrics

Petronella Mourad-Baars* and Sonny Chong†

*Department of Pediatrics, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden and Rijnland Hospital, Leiderdorp, the Netherlands, †Queen Mary's Hospital for Children, Epsom and St Helier University Hospitals NHS Trust, Surrey, UK

Keywords

Helicobacter pylori, pediatrics, recurrent abdominal pain, stool antigen test.

Reprint requests to: Petronella E.C. Mourad-Baars, Leiden University Medical Center, Department of Pediatrics, Albinusdreef 2, 2300 RC-Leiden, the Netherlands.

Tel.: +31 71 5262824; Fax: +31 71 5248198; E-mail: p.e.c.mourad-baars@lumc.nl

Abstract

This review summarizes the literature on *Helicobacter pylori* infection in childhood between April 2005 and March 2006, and includes guidelines of the Canadian *Helicobacter* Study Group Consensus Conference, noninvasive tests, optimum therapy regimens and problems with resistance, and reviews on immune mechanisms in the gastric mucosa that may lead to the development of an effective vaccine.

In 2005 'the Nobel Prize in Medicine or Physiology' was awarded to Marshall and Warren for the discovery in 1982 that most peptic ulcers are caused by an infection with *Helicobacter pylori* [1–3]. It took a further 10 years before literature about *H. pylori* infection in children was published. It is now well accepted that the bacteria is usually acquired during childhood, mainly from the mother via vomitus or fecal oral route [4–9]. Great strides have been made since. In July 2005, the Canadian *Helicobacter* Study Group published an evidence-based Consensus Update on the approach to *H. pylori* infection in children and adolescents, adopted in 2006 by members of the *H. pylori* Pediatric Task Force in the USA [10]. We hope to reach a combined NASPGHAN–ESPGHAN consensus before the World Congress of Pediatric Gastroenterology Hepatology and Nutrition in Brazil in 2008.

Basic Research

Peeters published an excellent overview about the peptide ghrelin, related to motilin which has been suggested to have "saginary" effect in *H. pylori* infection. *H. pylori* infection could influence ghrelin-secreting cells, and impairs the secretion of histamine, pepsin, and gastric acid [11]. Eradicating *H. pylori* can lead to a rise in plasma ghrelin, which could promote the development of obesity, increasing the risk of reflux disease and subsequent risks of Barrett's esophagus and esophageal adenocarcinoma. The suggestion that *H. pylori*-eradication may contribute to the obesity epidemic in industrialized countries is an interesting hypothesis to ponder!

Ernst highlighted an article of Velin et al. about the essential role of mast cells as mediators in experimental *Helicobacter* clearance by vaccination because mast cells-

deficient mice could not be protected by immunization; this could be changed by reconstituting them with bone marrow-derived mast cells [12,13].

Ceponis and Jones summarized in the Canadian *H. pylori* Update the current knowledge of specific *H. pylori* factors. *H. pylori* infection can modulate signal transduction pathways in multiple host cell types and specific bacterial factors can activate certain cascades in the mucosa. The bacterium can also lead to opposing effects: antiapoptotic by inducing NF-κB activity and can suppress interleukin (IL)-4-induced signal transduction [14].

Prevalence, Incidence, and Transmission

The prevalence of *H. pylori* infection is declining in developed countries. Nevertheless, immigrants and indigenous people continue to carry a high burden of *H. pylori* infection and disease in their children. In Canada, the immigrant population comprises 200,000 individuals per year. The prevalence in children undergoing gastrointestinal endoscopy from 1990 to 1994 was 26–43%: it has now decreased to about 5% [15]. Jacobson also highlights the study by Miller (2003), in which adopted children have a seroprevalence of 16, 20, and 49%, respectively. He suggests more studies in children with different geographic, socioeconomic, and ethnic backgrounds using validated screening tools to see whether eradication is associated with reduced *H. pylori*-related diseases or with significant benefit in adulthood [15].

New data on prevalence come from Asia: Nizami et al. found that early colonization in 148 children showed a decreasing trend with increasing age (80% at 1 month of age, 67% at 9 months). The researchers did not, however,

study children over 1 year of age [16]. Singh et al. determined prospectively the prevalence of *H. pylori* in 58 children with upper abdominal pain (UAP) and 182 controls. In the UAP group, the prevalence of *H. pylori* was 53.4%, in the children without UAP, 28%. The overall prevalence increased with age; 82% of the children with UAP were *H. pylori* negative after eradication, with a further 18% after second eradication therapy. All treated children with UAP remained symptom-free for 2 years. They concluded to a strong link between *H. pylori* infection and UAP [17]. Alborzi et al. collected stool samples from children from different age groups in Shiraz and found prevalence rates of *H. pylori* of 82, 98, 88, 89, and 57% in age groups of 9 months, and 2, 6, 10, and 15 years, respectively. There was a significant decrease in the 15-year-old teenagers [18].

Wong et al. [19] studied the prevalence of *H. pylori* in symptomatic Chinese children retrospectively from 1997 to 2004 to assess the impact of an aggressive eradication program. From 159 patients undergoing gastroscopy, 119 had gastritis and 13 had peptic ulcer disease (overall rate of proven *H. pylori* infection was 25.6%). They did not find a significant decrease of overall prevalence (33% in 1997, 27.7% in 2004), but reported that increasing age was significantly associated with a higher risk of infection. Their hypothesis was that eradication efforts were unsuccessful, possibly due to eating habits in Chinese people (cross-infection from sharing chopsticks).

Recently, Rowland et al. published a prospective study of age-specific incidence of *H. pylori* infection in children between 24 and 48 months of age, by using ¹³C-urea breath test (¹³C-UBT). They found a positive test in 28 of 327 index children (8.6%) at baseline assessment; during the next 4 years, 20 children became infected. As in previous studies, the infection was acquired at a very young age with a declining risk after 5 years of age. Risk factors were having an infected mother, an infected older sibling, and delayed weaning from a feeding bottle [9].

Mother to Child Transmission

The role of infected mothers has been described in 2002 [4] and stated by Konno et al. [5] in a 5-year follow-up study of 44 children. They collected gastric juice samples for culture and DNA analysis from 69 *H. pylori*-positive mothers. None of the children acquired *H. pylori* during the first year of life. Five children were tested positive within 5 years by serology and stool antigen test. Strains of the five positive children exhibited DNA fingerprinting patterns identical to those of their mothers.

In a follow-up study of children up to 36 months old using monoclonal stool antigen test, infected mothers were the main source of *H. pylori* infection of their children, as the mother, being primary carrier, has closer contact with the infant than the father in the first year of life [8].

Symptoms

Abdominal Pain

The association between chronic abdominal pain and *H. pylori* infection is still hotly debated.

Tindberg et al. investigated the association between type-specific *H. pylori* infection and gastrointestinal symptoms in a cross-sectional study of Swedish schoolchildren. Infection was investigated by IgG antibodies in serum and confirmed by immunoblot and UBT. Abdominal pain was reported by 63% of the children and recurrent abdominal pain (RAP) by 13%; 16% were infected; 73% of these children had CagA antibodies and 59% VacA antibodies. The authors did not find a positive association between *H. pylori* status and occurrence of abdominal pain: RAP was unrelated to the infection (OR 1.0; 95% CI 0.5–2.1), when adjusted for sex, age, and family background. The prevalence of RAP was lower in children with CagA+ and VacA+ *H. pylori* infection than among uninfected children [20].

Yang et al. investigated 1271 children with questionnaires to define RAP or short-term RAP (SRAP) with pain duration from 2 weeks to 3 months. All children with RAP, SRAP, or a combination were tested for *H. pylori* by serology. Prevalence rates of RAP and SRAP were 9.8 and 5.5%, respectively. Children with SRAP were more frequently *H. pylori* seropositive than those with RAP and controls. One year later 71% of the seropositive children became symptom-free, regardless of persistence of *H. pylori*. Infection was more frequently found in children with SRAP [21].

The subcommittee on chronic abdominal pain reviewed the predictive value of laboratory tests. The authors conclude that the coexistence of abdominal pain and an abnormal test result for *H. pylori* infection does not necessarily indicate a causal relationship between the two [22].

Non-ulcer Dyspepsia (NUD)

Kalach et al. [23] investigated 100 children older than 6 years with NUD, by endoscopy for epigastric pain in a prospective double-blind study; 26 children were infected. No difference in age or symptom characteristics between infected and non-infected children was found, except for epigastric pain during meals, which was more frequent in non-infected children. They concluded that *H. pylori*-infected NUD children had no specific symptoms.

At the end of 2005, Talley et al. published a review on the evaluation of dyspepsia in adults. As is the case in adults, the test-and-treat strategy is not recommended in children with dypepsia; endoscopy is mandatory in this age group [24].

Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease

The question is whether testing for *H. pylori* is necessary in infants with gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD). Moayyedi reviewed the literature about the association between GERD and *H. pylori* infection. His conclusion is that *H. pylori*-induced hypochlorhydria is frequent in adults, but rare in children and that therefore eradication is unlikely to have an important impact on GERD or proton pump inhibitor (PPI) efficacy in this age group. His advice is that children with GERD, diagnosed clinically or by pH studies, do not need to be tested for *H. pylori*, unless they have endoscopy and have proven infection [25].

As GERD has been suggested as a contributing factor to otitis media, Bitar et al. investigated the possibility of a role of *H. pylori* in middle-ear disease in children, however, all 28 middle-ear fluid cultures and polymerase chain reaction (PCR) were negative; also 13 adenoids were negative for *H. pylori* by PCR. Seven of 18 patients had symptoms suggestive of GERD preceding the study, but this had no impact on the results of the study [26].

Gastritis

Leung et al. emphasized the diagnostic role of macroscopic observation of the gastric mucosa at endoscopy [27]. Ricuarte et al. studied the prevalence of atrophic gastritis in childhood with this hypothesis. Of 173 children, atrophic mucosa near the antrum-corpus border was present in 16% of the positive children, primarily as pseudo pyloric metaplasia (median age 15 years). As gastric atrophy occurs in infected children living in countries with a high incidence of gastric cancer they recommend that biopsies be taken near the lesser and greater curvature just proximal to the anatomical antrum-corpus border as well [28].

Extradigestive Manifestations

In the pediatric age group the following have been reported: anemia, idiopathic thrombopenic purpura (ITP), short stature, diarrhea, food allergy, and sudden infant death syndrome, some without sufficient evidence [29].

Immune Thrombocytopenic Purpura

Although the same author in an earlier study in 2003 reported an increased incidence of *H. pylori* in patients with chronic ITP, in a prospective study, Jaing et al. did not find evidence of an association [30,31]. Sherman and Lin mentioned the potential for molecular mimicry with antiplatelet antibodies, recognizing the CagA protein of *H. pylori* as a possible explanation for an association.

The Canadian group did not include ITP as extradigestive manifestation in the recent guidelines [29].

Anemia

The Canadian Consensus Group concluded that there is sufficient evidence available to consider unexplained sideropenic anemia as an extradigestive manifestation and to consider test-and-treat strategy in such cases.

One recent study from India reported reduced hematological response to iron supplementation in asymptomatic children with *H. pylori* compared to children without infection. The mean serum ferritin level was similar at admission and improved in both groups of children, but infection had a significant adverse effect on response to iron therapy [32].

Growth

In 2005, two studies have been published about the relationship between growth and H. pylori infection: Sood et al. compared height, weight, and body mass index of 97 positive children with dyspeptic symptoms to 160 children with dyspepsia without infection. They found no significant difference between mean weight and height SD score in the infected and not infected group [33]. Mera et al. investigated whether a newly acquired infection affects height and weight within 16 months by performing UBT and anthropometry every 2-4 months. Authors observed a significant decrease in growth velocity during the first 4 months after infection and the children showed no height catch-up. Infected children had a small decrease in weight, in comparison to non-infected children. Their conclusion is that H. pylori infection causes a nontransient negative effect on height and weight in Colombian children [34].

In the Canadian Consensus Report, Sherman and Lin did not find firm evidence for the role of *H. pylori* infection in growth [29].

Other reported manifestations such as food allergy, diarrhea, and sudden infant death syndrome were not added to the list of extra intestinal symptoms by the Canadian group.

Diagnostic Tools

None of the noninvasive tests are 100% specific and sensitive. ¹³C-UBT is reliable for detecting infection in children older than 6 years of age but can give false-positive results in younger children [10]. There were a small number of very young *H. pylori*-positive patients in these studies, making it difficult to validate new diagnostic tests in this age group.

Mégraud et al. reported in a multinational study on four noninvasive tests that UBT had the best sensitivity in all age groups, followed by serology, stool antigen test, and antibody detection in urine. In all tests, except the stool test, better sensitivity was observed with increasing age. The urine office test exhibited a very low sensitivity [35].

The Canadian Consensus group concluded that UBT is currently the best available noninvasive diagnostic test in children and published a list of variables that may influence the results of the test [10,36].

Recently, Nugalieva et al. raised attention to the problem of false positive UBT and recommended confirmation of a single positive test in low-prevalence populations by using a test that measures a different parameter (UBT confirmed by stool test) [37].

The polyclonal antibody-based stool antigen test (HpSA) is not as reliable as UBT, neither pretreatment nor after eradication [35], but monoclonal stool antigen tests perform as well as UBT. The Canadian group judged that it was too premature to recommend stool antigen testing as an alternative to UBT, but in settings where the UBT is not available for children, the monoclonal test is an excellent alternative to assess H. pylori status pre- and post-treatment [36]. Raguza et al. evaluated 127 children to compare the accuracy of a modified polyclonal stool antigen test with the gold standard. However, there were no H. pylori positive infants and children below the age of 2 years in his study. Three patients showed false positive results and two false negative results for the HpSA. The sensitivity of the HpSA test was higher in children in the age group of 6-18 years (100%) than in 2-6 years (80%). The specificity was 95-100 and 96.4%, respectively [38].

Haggarty et al. also used the polyclonal HpSA in a study of stool samples from children at two time points, 3 months apart; PCR was performed on all 26 pairs reverting from positive to negative (transient positives), all four persistent positive pairs and 10 randomly selected persistent antigen-negative pairs. In 15 of 26 transient positive stools, *H. pylori* was sequenced and identified in 12 and other *Helicobacter* spp. were identified in three. He suggested that transient positive stool tests are common and represent *H. pylori* in majority of cases; however, some positive stools may represent other *Helicobacter* species [39].

Hauser et al. compared a multistep polyclonal versus one-step monoclonal enzyme immunoassay in stools with ¹³C-UBT in 43 children; 18 children were positive (positive UBT). The polyclonal stool antigen test had a comparatively good sensitivity, but lower specificity compared to UBT. The one-step monoclonal rapid test also had a comparable sensitivity and specificity, when a weakly positive test (visual interpretation) was considered negative [40].

Kalach et al. tested the rapid monoclonal stool antigen test in 128 children and observed the highest performance of the test in children older than 10 years (sensitivity 100%), in contrast with 75% in those younger than 5 years; in this

study he found 11 discordant results of the test compared with gold standard [41].

Antos et al. evaluated a novel rapid monoclonal onestep immunochromatographic assay for detection of stool antigen and concluded that this quick test shows a good interobserver agreement, but equivocal results in 5% [42].

More studies with quick tests in stools are needed; however, in settings without possibilities for UBT or enzyme immunoassay, the immunochromatographic test could become an alternative to assess *H. pylori* status pre- or post-treatment in children [36].

A study from Thailand evaluated the performance of a rapid office-based serologic test (Assure[™], Genelabs Diagnostics, Singapore) and the immunoblotting for the diagnosis in symptomatic children. The sensitivity of the test was 96%, specificity 94.6% versus immunoblot, 100 and 96,2% respectively, so the test seems to be reliable for the diagnosis of infection in Thai children [43].

The above Assure test was also evaluated in 130 children by Pelerito et al. They found a lower sensitivity (75.7%) and a specificity of 95.0%, which increased to 98.6 and 95% when a longer reading time of 45 minutes was considered [44].

The use of serology-based tests could not be advocated by the Canadian Consensus group anymore because of their low accuracy in young children. In a study from Lithuania, a seroprevalence of 57% was found; following gold standard it was 79% [45].

Invasive diagnostic methods require endoscopic biopsies and include rapid urease testing, histology, and culture. When used in combination, these tests are still considered the "gold standard" for the diagnosis of *H. pylori* in children. The added advantage of this approach is the detection of upper gastrointestinal pathologies including complications of the infection, such as nodular gastritis, peptic ulcer disease, gastric cancer, and MALT lymphoma. Biopsies are necessary for determination of antibiotic resistance and virulence factors [46,47].

Treatment

Based on the data in pediatric literature and in adults, the Canadian consensus group decided that the recommended first-line eradication therapy should include a PPI and clarithromycin, combined with either amoxicillin or metronidazole. Higher eradication rates may be achieved by a longer treatment regimen (triple therapy 14 days instead of 1 week) [10].

A randomized clinical trial from Italy showed that a novel 10-day sequential treatment (omeprazole plus amoxicillin for 5 days, followed by omeprazole plus clarithromycin plus tinidazole for another 5 days) achieves a significantly higher eradication rate than standard triple therapy (omeprazole, amoxicillin, and metronidazole) for 1 week [48].

Khurana et al. summarized data from studies that have examined treatment efficacy, safety, drug resistance, and reinfection rates. Treatment efficacy was reduced in the presence of metronidazole and/or clarithromycin resistance. Resistance to metronidazole and/or clarithromycin is common and no therapy has yet been identified as safe and consistently effective to eradicate *H. pylori* infection [49].

Elitsur et al. assessed the resistance rate against clarithromycin in 16 positive children by the FISH technique in gastric biopsies; the primary resistance rate in this small group was very high (31–38%) [50]; Boyanova et al. found primary clarithromycin resistance in 12.5% and metronidazole resistance in 15% of Bulgarian children [51]. Recently, Koletzko et al. assessed the bacterial resistance in children from 14 European countries. She reports an overall resistance to clarithromycin of 24%, to metronidazole 25%, and to amoxicillin 0.6%, the last being very low [52].

A Russian group investigated failure of triple therapy; patients were randomized to receive a 2-week course of bismuth, amoxicillin with either nifuratel or furazolidone plus omeprazole. Both schemes produced good cure rates, but nifuratel is preferred because of lower frequency of side-effects. Antibiotics susceptibility tests have not been carried out in this study [53].

The Canadian group discussed whether treatment of *H. pylori* in childhood will alter the two- to sixfold increased risk of developing gastric cancer among infected patients. A population-based test-and-treat policy in children is not justified, except in groups with a high risk of developing gastric cancer (Japanese or those with a strong positive family history) regarding negative cost-benefit analysis [54].

- 1 Parsonnet J. Clinician-discoverers Marshall, Warren, and *H. pylori*. *N Engl J Med* 2005;353:2421–3.
- 2 Zetterström R. The Nobel Prize in 2005 for the discovery of Helicobacter pylori: implications for child health. Acta Paediatr 2006;95:3–5.
- 3 Kuehn BM. Nobels honor research on ulcer microbe, 'green' drug production method. *JAMA* 2005;294:2289–90.
- 4 Rothenbacher D, Winkler M, Gonser T, Adler G, Brenner H. Role of infected parents in transmission of *Helicobacter pylori* to their children. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 2002;21:674–9.
- 5 Konno M, Fujii N, Yokota S, et al. Five-year follow-up study of mother-to-child transmission of *Helicobacter pylori* infection detected by a random amplified polymorphic DNA fingerprinting method. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43:2246–50.
- 6 Kivi M, Johansson AL, Reilly M, Tindberg Y. Helicobacter pylori status in family members as risk factors for infection in children. Epidemiol Infect 2005;133:645–52.

- 7 Kivi M, Johansson ALV, Salim A, Tindberg Y, Reilly M. Accommodation of additional non-randomly sampled cases in a study of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in families. *Stat Med* 2005;24:4045–54.
- 8 Weyerman M, Adler G, Brenner H, Rothenbacher D. The mother as source of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Epidemiology* 2006:17:1–3.
- 9 Rowland M, Daly L, Vaughan M, Higgins A, Bourke B. Age-specific Incidence of Helicobacter pylori. Gastroenterology 2006;130:65–72.
- 10 Jones NL, Sherman P, Fallone CA, Flook N, Smaill F, Veldhuyzen van Zanten S, Hunt R, Thomson A. Canadian Helicobacter Study Group Consensus Conference: update on the approach to Helicobacter pylori infection in children and adolescents – an evidence-based evaluation. Can J Gastroenterol 2005;19:399–408.
- 11 Peeters TL. Ghrelin: a new player in the control of gastrointestinal functions. *Gut* 2005;54:1638–49.
- 12 Ernst PB. Understanding immunity to *Helicobacter pylori*: unraveling the riddle, wrapped in a mystery, inside an enigma. *Gastroenterology* 2005;129:380–3.
- 13 Ernst PB, Peura DA, Crowe SE. The translation of *Helicobacter pylori* basic research to patient care. *Gastroenterology* 2006;130:188–206.
- 14 Ceponis PJM, Jones NL. Modulation of host cell signal transduction pathways by *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2005;19:415–20.
- 15 Jacobson K. The changing prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in Canadian children: should screening be performed in high-risk children? *Can J Gastroenterol* 2005;19:412–4.
- 16 Nizami SQ, Bhutta ZA, Weaver L, Preston T. Helicobacter pylori colonization in infants in a periurban community in Karachi, Pakistan. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2005;41:191–4.
- 17 Singh M, Prasad KN, Yachcha K, Saxena A, Krishnani N. Helicobacter pylori infection in children: prevalence, diagnosis and treatment outcome. Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg 2006;100:227–33.
- 18 Alborzi A, Soltani J, Pourabbas B, Oboodi B, Haghighat M, Hayati M, Rashidi M. Prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children (south of Iran). *Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis* 2006;54:259–61.
- 19 Wong KY, Chung PHY, Lan LCL, Lin SCL, Tam PKH. Trends in the prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* in symptomatic children in the area of eradication. *J Ped Surg* 2005;40:1844–7.
- 20 Tindberg Y, Nyrén O, Blennow M, Granström M. Helicobacter pylori infection and abdominal symptoms among Swedish school children. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2005;41:33–8.
- 21 Yang YJ, Sheu BS, Lee SC, Wu JJ. Short-term recurrent abdominal pain related to *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2005;20:395–400.
- 22 Di Lorenzo C, et al. Subcommittee on chronic abdominal pain. Chronic abdominal pain in children. *Pediatrics* 2005;115:370–81.
- 23 Kalach N, Mention K, Guimber D, Michaud L, Spyckerelle C, Gottrand F. Helicobacter pylori infection is not associated with specific symptoms in nonulcer-dyspeptic children. Pediatrics 2005;115:17–21.
- 24 Talley NJ, Vakil NB, Moayyedi P. American Gastroenterological Association Medical position statement: evaluation of dyspepsia. *Gastroenterology* 2005;129:1753–5.
- 25 Moayeddi P. Should we test for Helicobacter pylori before treating gastroesophageal reflux disease? Can J Gastroenterol 2005;19:425–7.
- 26 Bitar M, Mahfouz R, Soweid A, Racoubian E, Ghasham M, Zaatari G, Fuleihan N. Does *Helicobacter pylori* colonize the nasopharynx of children and contribute to their middle ear disease? *Acta Otolaryngol* 2006;126:154–9.
- 27 Leung WK, Chan FKL, Graham DY. Ulcers and gastritis. *Endoscopy* 2006;38:2–4.

- 28 Ricuarte O, Gutierrez O, Cardana H, Kim JG, Graham DY, El-Zimaity HMT. Atrophic gastritis in young children and adolescents. J Clin Pathol 2005;58:1189–93.
- 29 Sherman PM, Lin FYH. Extradigestive manifestations of Helicobacter pylori infection in children and adolescents. Can J Gastroenterol 2005;19:421–4.
- 30 Jaing TH, Yang CP, Hung IJ, et al. Efficacy of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication on platelet recovery in children with chronic idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Acta Paediatr* 2003;92:1153–7.
- 31 Jaing T-H, Tsay P-K, Hung I-J, et al. The role of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children with acute immune thrombocytopenic purpura. *Pediatr Blood Cancer* 2005;1–3.
- 32 Mahalanabis D, Islam MA, Shaik S, et al. Haematological response to iron supplementation is reduced in children with asymptomatic *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Br J Nutr* 2005;94:969–75.
- 33 Sood MR, Joshi S, Akobeng AK, Mitchell J, Thomas AG. Growth in children with *Helicobacter pylori* infection and dyspepsia. *Arch Dis Child* 2005;90:1025–8.
- 34 Mera RM, Correa P, Fontham EE, et al. Effects of a new *Helicobacter pylori* infection on height and weight in Colombian children. *Ann Epidemiol* 2006;16:347–51.
- 35 Megraud F, on behalf of the European Paediatric Task Force on Helicobacter pylori. Comparison of non-invasive tests to detect Helicobacter pylori infection in children and adolescents: results of a multicenter European study. J Pediatr 2005;146:198–203.
- 36 Koletzko S. Noninvasive diagnostic tests for *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2005;19:433–9.
- 37 Nugalieva ZZ, Opekun AR, Graham DY. Problem of distinguishing false-positive tests from acute or transient *Helicobacter pylori* infections. *Helicobacter* 2006;11:69–74.
- 38 Raguza D, Granato CFH, Kawakami E. Evaluation of the stool antigen test for *Helicobacter pylori* in children and adolescents. *Dig Dis Sci* 2005;50:453–7.
- 39 Haggarty TD, Perry S, Sanchez L, Perez-Perez G, Parsonnet J. Significance of transiently positive enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay results in detection of *Helicobacter pylori* in stool samples from children. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43:2220–3.
- 40 Hauser B, Wybo I, Tshibuabua G, Pierard D, Vandenplas Y. Multiple-step polyclonal versus one-step monoclonal enzyme immunoassay in the detection of *Helicobacter pylori* antigen in the stools of children. *Acta Paediatr* 2006;95:297–301.
- 41 Kalach N, Nguyen VB, Bergeret M, Boutros N, Dupont C, Raymond J. Usefulness and influence of age of a novel rapid monoclonal enzyme immunoassay stool antigen for the diagnosis of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children. *Diagn Microbiol Inf Dis* 2005;52:157–60.

- 42 Antos D, Crone J, Konstantopoulos N, Koletzko S. Evaluation of a novel rapid one-step immunochromatographic assay for detection of monoclonal *Helicobacter pylori* antigen in stool samples from children. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43:2598–601.
- 43 Treepongkaruna S, Nopchinda S, Taweewongsounton A, et al. A rapid serologic test and immunoblotting for the detection of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children. *J Trop Pediatrics* 2006; Jan 9 (Epub ahead of print).
- 44 Pelerito A, Oleastro M, Lopes AI, Ramalho P, Cabral J, Monteiro L. Evaluation of rapid Assure® Helicobacter pylori for diagnosis of *H. pylori* in pediatric population. *J Microbiol Methods* 2006:66:331–5.
- 45 Janulaityte-Gunther D, Kucinskiene R, Kupcinskas L, et al. The humoral immunoreponse to *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children with gastrointestinal symptoms. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 2005;44:205–12.
- 46 Kato S, Sherman PM. What is new related to *Helicobacter pylori* Infection in children and teenagers? *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 2005:159:415–21
- 47 Huynh HQ. Invasive tests for *Helicobacter pylori* in children. *Can J Gastroenterol* 2005;19:429–32.
- 48 Francavilla R, Lionetti E, Castellaneta SP, et al. Improved efficacy of 10-day sequential treatment for *Helicobacter pylori* eradication in children: a randomized trial. *Gastroenterology* 2005:129:1414–9
- 49 Khurana R, Fischbach L, Chiba NC, Veldhuyzen van Zanten S. An update on anti-Helicobacter pylori treatment in children. Can J Gastroenterol 2005;19:441–5.
- 50 Elitsur Y, Lawrence Z, Rüssmann H, Koletzko S. Primary clarithromycin resistance to *Helicobacter pylori* and therapy failure in children: the experience in West Virginia. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 2006;42:327–8.
- 51 Boyanova L, Nikolov R, Lazarova E, et al. Antibacterial resistance in *Helicobacter pylori* strains isolated from Bulgarian children and adult patients over 9 years. *J Med Microbiol* 2006;55:65–8.
- 52 Koletzko S, Richy F, Bontems P, et al. Prospective multicentre study on antibiotic resistance of *Helicobacter pylori* strains obtained from children living in Europe. *Gut* 2006 (in press).
- 53 Nyevitch AA, Shcherbakov PL, Sataev VU, Khasanov RSh, Al Khashash R, Tuygunov MM. *Helicobacter pylori* eradication in childhood after failure of initial treatment: advantage of quadruple therapy with nifuratel to furazolidone. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2005;22:881–7.
- 54 Bourke B. Will treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in childhood alter the risk of developing gastric cancer? *Can J Gastroenterol* 2005;19:409–11.

Extragastric Manifestations of Helicobacter pylori Infection – Other Helicobacter Species

Jay V. Solnick,* Francesco Franceschi,† D. Roccarina† and Antonio Gasbarrini†

*Medicine and Medical Microbiology, Center for Comparative Medicine, University of California, †Internal Medicine, Catholic University of Rome, Rome, Italy

Keywords

cardiovascular diseases, idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura, iron deficiency anemia, colorectal cancer, enterohepatic Helicobacters.

Reprint requests to: Antonio Gasbarrini, Internal Medicine, Policlinico Gemelli, Università Cattolica, Largo A. Gemelli, 8; 00168 Rome, Italy. Tel.: +39 06 3015 4294; Fax: +39 06 3550 2775; E-mail: agasbarrini@rm.unicatt.it

Abstract

Recent studies have indicated a strong link between *Helicobacter pylori* and idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura and iron deficiency anemia. Interesting results have also been obtained for ischemic heart disease, though most putative associations between *H. pylori* infection and extragastric disease remain speculative. With regard to other *Helicobacter* species, *Helicobacter felis* has been shown to play a role in gastric carcinogenesis in mouse models. An increased susceptibility to cholesterol gallstone formation has been described in animals fed a lithogenic diet and infected with *Helicobacter bilis*, or co-infected with *Helicobacter hepaticus* and *Helicobacter rodentium*. Finally, enterohepatic *Helicobacter* species have also been exploited to better understand inflammatory bowel disease.

The cultivation of Helicobacter pylori and the recognition of its clinical significance have had two important consequences beyond the identification of an infectious etiology of peptic ulcer disease and gastric cancer. First, it has stimulated a renewed interest in the bacteria associated with the enteric and hepatobiliary tracts of humans and other animals, many of which have now been identified as novel species of Helicobacter. Second, and perhaps more importantly from a medical perspective, it has prompted a reappraisal of whether some of these novel *Helicobacter* species might themselves be associated with human disease, or perhaps serve as models of human disease in other animals, and also whether H. pylori itself may be associated with diseases beyond the stomach. Here we review recent results concerning these other Helicobacter species and other diseases that may be associated with H. pylori.

Helicobacter pylori Infection

Cardiovascular and Cerebrovascular Diseases

This is the area in which the greatest number of studies have been published during the last year. Adiloglu et al. investigated 29 consecutive patients using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) to detect *Chlamydia pneumoniae* and *H. pylori* DNA in specimens of atherosclerotic plaque and left internal mammary artery. *C. pneumoniae* and *H. pylori* DNA was detected in two and four plaques, respectively. Moreover, the presence of both *C. pneumoniae* and *H. pylori* correlated with an increased titer of inflammatory markers

and modification of the serum lipid profile in a way that may increase the risk of atherosclerosis [1]. Sung et al. evaluated the prevalence of H. pylori infection in 58,981 subjects who participated in a health-screening program in Korea. After adjusting for age and other confounding factors, infected subjects showed higher mean values for total cholesterol, triglycerides, low-density lipoprotein (LDL)-cholesterol, and apolipoprotein B, and lower values for high-density lipoprotein (HDL)-cholesterol and apolipoprotein A1. In the univariate analysis, age, total cholesterol, LDL-cholesterol, and apolipoprotein B were positively correlated with H. pylori IgG titers, while HDL-cholesterol and apolipoprotein A1 were negatively correlated. The analysis of covariance for *H. pylori* infection showed a significant association between H. pylori infection and levels of triglycerides, HDL-cholesterol, and apolipoproteins. The authors concluded that H. pylori infection may be associated with these cardiovascular risk factors [2]. Another study investigated the effect of H. pylori on the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and showed an association between H. pylori infection and arterial stiffness, especially in younger males, thus suggesting that inflammation following *H. pylori* infection may contribute to an early stage of atherosclerosis [3]. A case-control study by Masoud et al. provided evidence of an association between the immune response to *H. pylori* and noncardioembolic ischemic stroke [4]. In contrast, Kanbay et al. studied *H. pylori* infection in 151 patients with coronary artery diseases and 149 matched controls, and found no significant epidemiologic association [5].

Hematologic Diseases

The role of *H. pylori* in the pathogenesis of idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura (ITP), which has been well described in the past, has been confirmed by other studies. Suzuki et al. reported a significant improvement in the platelet count in patients with ITP after H. pylori eradication. The titer of serum anti-CagA antibody was also found to be a good predictor of platelet recovery [6]. Hayashi et al. evaluated the effect of *H. pylori* eradication on platelets in children with ITP. They reported a significant increase in the platelet count after H. pylori treatment, even though the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in those children was not higher than that observed in the general population [7]. Veneri et al. reported that ITP patients with H. pylori infection had HLA-DRB1*11, HLA-DRB1*14, and -DQB1*03 frequencies that were significantly higher than in H. pylori-negative patients, while the -DRB1*03 frequency was significantly lower. Moreover, an HLA-DQB1*03 pattern was associated with a higher probability of platelet response to eradication treatment [8]. Another study suggested that H. pylori could function as a triggering factor in ITP by inducing platelet aggregation through an interaction with Von Willebrand factor [9]. In contrast, Stasi et al. found that the prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in patients with ITP was similar to that of the general population. H. pylori eradication improved the platelet count in adults in whom ITP was of recent onset and in those with less severe degrees of thrombocytopenia, but it was not effective in patients with chronic severe ITP [10].

Studies also examined a possible association between H. pylori infection and iron deficiency anemia. Cardenas et al. screened 7462 subjects for H. pylori infection and serum ferritin levels and reported a 40% higher prevalence of iron deficiency among those infected, after controlling for relevant covariates, regardless of the presence or absence of peptic ulcer disease [11]. Kureki et al. reported that H. pylori eradication produced a significant increase in hemoglobin, ferritin, and mean corpuscular volume in infected and anemic children. The authors concluded that a complete recovery of iron deficiency anemia can be achieved in infected children after H. pylori eradication, without iron supplementation [12]. In a similar study, Mahalanabis et al. found no improvement in the ferritin levels in both *H. pylori*-positive and -negative children, though a significant association was found between seropositivity for H. pylori infection and an adverse response to iron therapy [13]. Finally, Papadaki et al. found no evidence of a role for H. pylori infection in the pathogenesis of monoclonal gammapathy of undetermined significance in patients with chronic idiopathic neutropenia, as previously reported [14].

Lung Diseases

Kanbay et al. compared 68 patients and 95 age- and sexmatched control subjects and found an association between *H. pylori* infection and chronic bronchitis [15]. A higher prevalence of *H. pylori* infection was also found by Gencer et al. in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Moreover, a significant correlation was also found between the titer of *H. pylori* IgG and the severity of COPD [16]. Ece et al. found a higher prevalence of *H. pylori* in 43 patients with nonsmall cell lung cancer compared to 28 control subjects, particularly for VacApositive strains [17]. In contrast, Jun et al. found no increase in *H. pylori* among patients with mild asthma [18], which emphasizes that the proposed relationship between *H. pylori* infection and lung diseases remains speculative.

Intestinal Diseases

Two studies showed a possible role of *H. pylori* in the pathogenesis of colorectal cancer. Fujimori et al. described an increased risk of colorectal cancer in female patients aged 40–80 years who were infected by *H. pylori* [19]. A similar study by Mizuno et al. examined 332 patients who underwent routine high-resolution total colonoscopy and serologic testing for IgG antibodies against *H. pylori*. They reported a significant increase in the incidence of adenomatous polyps and a decrease in normal colonoscopic findings in seropositive patients compared to seronegative, and proposed an etiologic link between *H. pylori* infection and colorectal neoplasia [20].

Head and Neck Diseases

Otasevic et al. evaluated *H. pylori* antibodies in aquous humor in three of 15 patients with idiopathic anterior uveitis and in none of five matched healthy controls. The authors hypothesized a causative link between *H. pylori* infection and anterior uveitis, though the small sample size makes this conclusion tentative [21]. Sacca et al. reported a significantly higher prevalence of *H. pylori* infection in patients with blepharitis compared with healthy controls as well as an improvement after *H. pylori* eradication [22]. The presence of *H. pylori* in middle ear effusion of patients with otitis media has been reported by three recent studies [23–25]. However, as the detection of *H. pylori* was determined by indirect methods, such as CLO (*Campylobacter*-like organism) test, PCR without sequence confirmation, or immunohistochemistry, these findings require confirmation.

Other Diseases

A study by Baskan et al. showed no correlation between *H. pylori* infection and autologous serum skin test in

chronic idiopathic urticaria [28]. Aydemir et al. postulated a possible link between H. pylori infection and insulin resistance in patients with diabetes mellitus [29]. Isomoto et al. evaluated the impact of *H. pylori* on ghrelin and other neuroendocrine hormones, demonstrating that H. pylori infection may influence plasma ghrelin dynamics and its interaction with diverse bioactive peptides involved in energy balance, growth, and neuroendocrine function [30]. Larizza et al. showed that the concomitant presence of H. pylori infection and human leukocyte antigen-DRB1*0301 allele may increase the risk of autoimmune thyroid disease in children [31]. Another study reported negative results concerning the presence of *H. pylori* in oral lesions of patients with recurrent aphthous stomatitis [32]. Adler et al. reported a significant association between H. pylori infection and the major symptoms of glossitis, such as burning, halitosis, and lingual hyperplasia [33]. Schulz et al. hypothesized that cholesterol glucosides arising from H. pylori infection may act as neurotoxins, promoting the degeneration of the dopaminergic neurons affected in parkinsonism [26]. A study by Weller et al. seemed to support such association [27].

Other Helicobacter Species

Systematics and Novel Species

Our current understanding of prokaryotic systematics is based largely on 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis. However, discrepancies have occasionally been noted between classification based on 16S rRNA analysis and the gold standard (albeit cumbersome) method, DNA-DNA hybridization, most notably with Helicobacter cinaedi [34]. In this context, it was reported that Helicobacter gene phylogeny based on 16S rRNA gene sequences is in fact discordant with gene trees based on 23S rRNA gene sequences and other data [35]. Although the convenience of 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis insures that it will likely remain the method of choice for classification of Helicobacter species, these data suggest that analysis of 23S rRNA or other informative gene sequence will sometimes be required for proper classification of novel Helicobacter species. A microarray-based method used a combination of 16S rRNA and hsp60 sequences for specific detection of Helicobacter species [36].

No novel *Helicobacter* species have been validly published since this subject was last reviewed here in 2005. Sequence analysis of 16S rRNA genes was used to extend the host range of *Helicobacter* to new species of sea mammals and birds, polar bears, and rabbits [37–39]. Spiral organisms that morphologically resembled *Helicobacter* were seen by microscopy in an ocelot [40] and in captive marmosets [41], but identification was not performed.

Helicobacter-like organisms were also shown to cause ulcers in gnotobiotic pigs [42,43], and to be associated with gastric adenocarcinoma [44] and typhlocolitis [45] in naturally infected Syrian hamsters. Direct visualization in tissue by fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) may be useful to identify the Helicobacteriaceae as well as the individual species [46].

Gastric Helicobacter Species

Although H. pylori in the mouse is now the most commonly used model of gastric Helicobacter pathogenesis, the Helicobacter felis model in mice is useful because animals reproducibly develop the progressive histologic changes leading to gastric cancer. Cai et al. showed that eradication of H. felis after 2 or 6 months of infection prevented development of gastric cancer in C57BL/6 mice [47]. Even in those cases in which gastric cancer was present before treatment, antimicrobial therapy substantially slowed progression of malignant lesions. The same group also used the H. felis model to demonstrate the role of Fasmediated apoptosis in reducing the progression of gastric cancer [48]. Antibiotic therapy can also lead to histologic remission of mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) lymphoma in H. felis-infected mice, though a transcriptional signature of tumor remains, and mice rapidly develop recurrent disease when reinfected [49]. Takaishi et al. inoculated H. felis into hypergastrinemic (INS-GAS) mice and showed that gastrin or histamine receptor blockade had a synergistic inhibitory effect on prevention of gastric atrophy and cancer, while omeprazole had no such effects [50]. These results support a role for the gastrin–histamine axis in Helicobacter-induced gastric cancer, and suggest the possibility that alternatives to proton pump inhibitors be reconsidered as agents for long-term acid suppression.

An important vaccine study also used the H. felis mouse model [51]. Immunization with urease and cholera toxin produced increase in mast cells (CD3⁻CD117⁺) and in expression of mast cell proteases. Immunization protected against H. felis challenge in wild type but not in mast cell-deficient mice (W/W $^{\rm v}$), which could be protected after reconstitution with cultured bone marrow-derived mast cells. These results require replication with H. pylori, but suggest the unexpected finding that mast cells are important mediators of protection after Helicobacter vaccination.

An intriguing report of *H. felis* challenge in a mouse model of streptozotocin-induced diabetes suggested that infection was associated with increased HbA1c and increased mortality compared to uninfected mice [52], though the effects were of marginal statistical significance. Several studies also examined gastritis induced by *H. felis* and closely related *Helicobacter* species in mouse and gerbil models [53,54], and the antimicrobial susceptibility of

these organisms in vitro [55] and in vivo [56]. It appears that *H. felis*-induced gastritis in the mouse is attenuated by short-term zinc supplementation [57] and by over-expression of the reactive oxygen species scavenger, thioredoxin-1 [58].

Enterohepatic Helicobacter Species

While the role of Helicobacter infection in human hepatobiliary disease remains controversial, accumulating evidence from animal studies supports its biological plausibility. C57L/J mice, which are highly susceptible to cholesterol gallstone formation when fed a lithogenic diet, developed gallstones at up to 80% prevalence when infected with Helicobacter bilis or co-infected with Helicobacter hepaticus and Helicobacter rodentium, compared with only 10% in uninfected controls [59]. However, follow-up experiments showed that H. pylori infection is not lithogenic in mice [60]. H. hepaticus strains that contain a putative genomic pathogenicity island appear to be associated with more severe hepatitis in A/JCr mice [61]. One can anticipate that these experiments will be verified by construction of isogenic mutants, which can now be made in H. hepaticus. For example, H. hepaticus hydrogenase mutants were shown to be deficient in hydrogen-supported amino acid uptake and to produce no histologic evidence of hepatic lobular inflammation or necrosis [62]. Isogenic deletion of the H. hepaticus cytolethal distending toxin plays a crucial role in its persistent colonization in Swiss Webster outbred mice [63].

Enterohepatic Helicobacter species have also been exploited to better understand inflammatory bowel disease using genetically susceptible mice. Natural infection with H. hepaticus in mice deficient in interleukin-10 (IL-10-/-) produces typhlocolitis, though more slowly than in experimentally infected mice [64]. Mdr1a-/- mice that lack the membrane efflux pump, p-glycoprotein, also develop spontaneous colitis that is accelerated and progresses to dysplasia when they are dually infected with H. hepaticus and H. bilis [65]. Development of H. hepaticus-induced colitis is associated with elevated IL-12, which is induced by H. hepaticus in macrophages from IL-10-/- and other susceptible mice, but not in those from wild-type mice. The elevation of IL-12 p40 after challenge with H. hepaticus results from defective activation of ERK in macrophages lacking the p50/p105 subunit of NF-κB. These results suggest that similar dysregulation of IL-12 could play an important role in inhibiting microflora-induced colitis [66]. Previous studies suggested that mice deficient in the TGF-β signaling molecule SMAD3 spontaneously develop colon cancer. However, it now appears that SMAD-3deficient mice that are free of Helicobacter infection do not develop colon cancer when followed for up to 9 months,

but then develop tumors in 2 to 7 months when challenged with H. hepaticus and H. bilis [67]. These results suggest that bacteria may be important in triggering colorectal cancer in the context of gene mutations in the TGF- β signaling pathway, which is one of the most commonly affected pathways in colorectal cancer in humans. Helicobacter infection may contribute directly to development of colitis or colorectal cancer, or perhaps it may exert an indirect effect by alteration of indigenous microbiota [68].

The observation that genetic susceptibility to disease in mice may be dependent on *Helicobacter* infection serves to emphasize the importance of knowing the *Helicobacter* infection status in all mouse experiments. Infection may spread easily among mice reared under specific pathogen-free conditions [69], but not by vertical transmission [70]. Neonatal fostering [71] and medicated feed [72] have both been used to eliminate colonization. Detection is now commonly done by genus-specific PCR on fecal samples [73].

Helicobacter pullorum has been linked with diarrhea, gastroenteritis, and liver disease in humans, and with enteritis and hepatitis in chickens. Although the gene for cytolethal distending toxin is common among *H. pullorum* strains, it appears that toxin activity is associated with human clinical isolates rather than isolates from chickens. Colonization among broilers in Belgium is common and probably spreads within flocks [74]. *H. pullorum* DNA was found by PCR to be present in 4.3% of 531 patients with gastroenteritis but also in 4.0% of healthy controls [75].

Conclusions

Several studies performed during the past year supported a possible role for *H. pylori* infection in the pathogenesis of ITP and iron deficiency anemia. Interest in a role for *H. pylori* in cardiovascular disease continues. For other extragastric diseases, the level of evidence is weak, and is supported only by small pilot studies or case reports. Regarding other *Helicobacter* species, a potential pathogenic role for *H. felis, H. hepaticus, H. bilis, H. rodentium,* and *H. pullorum* has been proposed in different hepatic and enteric diseases, though those observations are mostly supported by animal studies. Further work is needed to verify the role of these species in humans.

- 1 Adiloglu AK, Ocal A, Can R, et al. Detection of *Helicobacter pylori* and *Chlamydia pneumoniae* DNA in human coronary arteries and evaluation of the results with serologic evidence of inflammation. *Saudi Med J* 2005;26:1068–74.
- 2 Sung KC, Rhee EJ, Ryu SH, Beck SH. Prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection and its association with cardiovascular risk factors in Korean adults. *Int J Cardiol* 2005;102:411–7.

- 3 Franceschi F, Leo D, Fini L, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* infection and ischaemic heart disease: an overview of the general literature. *Dia Liver Dis* 2005;37:301–8.
- 4 Masoud SA, Arami MA, Kucheki E. Association between infection with *Helicobacter pylori* and cerebral noncardioembolic ischemic stroke. *Neurol India* 2005;53:303–6.
- 5 Kanbay M, Gur G, Yucel M, et al. Helicobacter pylori seroprevalence in patients with coronary artery disease. Dig Dis Sci 2005;50:2071– 4.
- 6 Suzuki T, Matsushima M, Masui A, et al. Effect of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication in patients with chronic idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura-a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2005;100:1265–70.
- 7 Hayashi H, Okuda M, Aoyagi N, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children with chronic idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Pediatr Int* 2005;47:292–5.
- 8 Veneri D, De Matteis G, Solero P, et al. Analysis of B- and T-cell clonality and HLA class II alleles in patients with idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura: correlation with *Helicobacter pylori* infection and response to eradication treatment. *Platelets* 2005;16:307–11.
- 9 Franchini M. Thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura: proposal of a new pathogenic mechanism involving *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Med Hypotheses* 2005;65:1128–31.
- 10 Stasi R, Rossi Z, Stipa E, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* eradication in the management of patients with idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Am J Med* 2005;118:414–9.
- 11 Cardenas VM, Mulla ZD, Ortiz M, Graham DY. Iron deficiency and *Helicobacter pylori* infection in the United States. *Am J Epidemiol* 2006;163:127–34.
- 12 Kurekci AE, Atay AA, Sarici SU, et al. Is there a relationship between childhood *Helicobacter pylori* infection and iron deficiency anemia? *J Trop Pediatr* 2005;51:166–9.
- 13 Mahalanabis D, Islam MA, Shaikh S, et al. Haematological response to iron supplementation is reduced in children with asymptomatic *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Br J Nutr* 2005;94:969– 75.
- 14 Papadaki HA, Pontikoglou C, Stavroulaki E, et al. High prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection and monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance in patients with chronic idiopathic neutropenia. *Ann Hematol* 2005;84:317–20.
- 15 Kanbay M, Gur G, Akcay S, Yilmaz U. Helicobacter pylori seroprevalence in patients with chronic bronchitis. Respir Med 2005;99:1213–6.
- 16 Gencer M, Ceylan E, Yildiz Zeyrek F, Aksoy N. Helicobacter pylori seroprevalence in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and its relation to pulmonary function tests. Respiration 2005; Dec 6 [Epub ahead of print].
- 17 Ece FF, Hatabay N, Erdal N, et al. Does *Helicobacter pylori* infection play a role in lung cancer? *Respir Med* 2005;99:1258–62.
- 18 Jun ZJ, Lei Y, Shimizu Y, et al. Helicobacter pylori seroprevalence in patients with mild asthma. Tohoku J Exp Med 2005;207: 287–91.
- 19 Fujimori S, Kishida T, Kobayashi T, et al. Helicobacter pylori infection increases the risk of colorectal adenoma and adenocarcinoma, especially in women. J Gastroenterol 2005;40:887–93.
- 20 Mizuno S, Morita Y, Inui T, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* infection is associated with colon adenomatous polyps detected by high-resolution colonoscopy. *Int J Cancer* 2005;117:1058–9.
- 21 Otasevic L, Walduck A, Meyer TF, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* infection in anterior uveitis. *Infection* 2005;33:82–5.

- 22 Sacca SC, Pascotto A, Venturino GM, et al. Prevalence and treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* in patients with blepharitis. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 2006;47:501–8.
- 23 Morinaka S, Tominaga M, Nakamura H. Detection of *Helicobacter pylori* in the middle ear fluid of patients with otitis media with effusion. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 2005;133:791–4.
- 24 Yilmaz MD, Aktepe O, Cetinkol Y, Altuntas A. Does *Helicobacter pylori* have role in development of otitis media with effusion? *Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol* 2005;69:745–9.
- 25 Kutluhan A, Yurttas V, Akarca US, et al. Possible role of *Helicobacter pylori* in the etiopathogenesis of chronic otitis media. *Otol Neurotol* 2005;26:1125–7.
- 26 Schulz JD, Hawkes EL, Shaw CA. Cycad toxins, *Helicobacter pylori* and parkinsonism: cholesterol glucosides as the common denomenator. *Med Hypotheses* 2006;66:1222–6.
- 27 Weller C, Charlett A, Oxlade NL, et al. Role of chronic infection and inflammation in the gastrointestinal tract in the etiology and pathogenesis of idiopathic parkinsonism. Part 3: predicted probability and gradients of severity of idiopathic parkinsonism based on *H. pylori* antibody profile. *Helicobacter* 2005;10:288–97.
- 28 Baskan EB, Turker T, Gulten M, Tunali S. Lack of correlation between *Helicobacter pylori* infection and autologous serum skin test in chronic idiopathic urticaria. *Int J Dermatol* 2005;44:993–5.
- 29 Aydemir S, Bayraktaroglu T, Sert M, et al. The effect of *Helicobacter pylori* on insulin resistance. *Dig Dis Sci* 2005;50:2090–3.
- 30 Isomoto H, Ueno H, Nishi Y, et al. Impact of *Helicobacter pylori* infection on ghrelin and various neuroendocrine hormones in plasma. *World J Gastroenterol* 2005;11:1644–8.
- 31 Larizza D, Calcaterra V, Martinetti M, et al. Helicobacter pylori infection and autoimmune thyroid disease in young patients: the disadvantage of carrying the human leukocyte antigen-DRB1*0301 allele. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2006;91:176–9.
- 32 Mansour-Ghanaei F, Asmar M, Bagherzadeh AH, Ekbataninezhad S. Helicobacter pylori infection in oral lesions of patients with recurrent aphthous stomatitis. Med Sci Monit 2005;11:CR576–9.
- 33 Adler I, Denninghoff VC, Alvarez MI, et al. Helicobacter pylori associated with glossitis and halitosis. Helicobacter 2005;10:312–7.
- 34 Vandamme P, Harrington CS, Jalava K, On SLW. Misidentifying *Helicobacters*: the *Helicobacter cinaedi* example. *J Clin Microbiol* 2000;38:2261–6.
- 35 Dewhirst FE, Shen Z, Scimeca MS, et al. Discordant 16S and 23S rRNA gene phylogenies for the genus *Helicobacter*: implications for phylogenetic inference and systematics. *J Bacteriol* 2005;187:6106–18.
- 36 Masson L, Maynard C, Brousseau R, et al. Identification of pathogenic *Helicobacter* species by chaperonin-60 differentiation on plastic DNA arrays. *Genomics* 2006;87:104–12.
- 37 Oxley AP, Argo JA, McKay DB. Helicobacter spp. from captive bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* spp.) and polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*) Vet J 2005;170:377–80.
- 38 Oxley AP, McKay DB. Comparison of *Helicobacter* spp. genetic sequences in wild and captive seals, and gulls. *Dis Aquat Organ* 2005:65:99–105.
- 39 Van den Bulck K, Baele M, Hermans K, et al. First report on the occurrence of 'Helicobacter heilmannii' in the stomach of rabbits. *Vet Res Commun* 2005;29:271–9.
- 40 Kanou Y, Fukui D, Yamamoto S, et al. Gastroinvasive Helicobacter infection in an Ocelot (Leopardus pardalis) J Comp Pathol 2005;133:281–5.
- 41 de Mello MF, Monteiro AB, Fonseca EC, et al. Identification of Helicobacter sp. in gastric mucosa from captive marmosets (Callithrix sp., Callitrichidae, primates). Am J Primatol 2005;66:111–8.

- 42 Krakowka S, Ringler SS, Flores J, et al. Isolation and preliminary characterization of a novel *Helicobacter* species from swine. *Am J Vet Res* 2005;66:938–44.
- 43 Krakowka S, Rings DM, Ellis JA. Experimental induction of bacterial gastritis and gastric ulcer disease in gnotobiotic swine inoculated with porcine *Helicobacter*-like species. *Am J Vet Res* 2005:66:945–52.
- 44 Nambiar PR, Kirchain S, Fox JG. Gastritis-associated adenocarcinoma and intestinal metaplasia in a Syrian hamster naturally infected with *Helicobacter* species. *Vet Pathol* 2005;42:386–90
- 45 Nambiar PR, Kirchain SM, Courmier K, et al. Progressive proliferative and dysplastic typhlocolitis in aging Syrian hamsters naturally infected with *Helicobacter* spp.: a spontaneous model of inflammatory bowel disease. *Vet Pathol* 2006;43:2–14.
- 46 Chan V, Crocetti G, Grehan M, et al. Visualization of *Helicobacter* species within the murine cecal mucosa using specific fluorescence in situ hybridization. *Helicobacter* 2005;10:114–24.
- 47 Cai X, Carlson J, Stoicov C, et al. *Helicobacter felis* eradication restores normal architecture and inhibits gastric cancer progression in C57BL/6 mice. *Gastroenterology* 2005;128:1937–52.
- 48 Cai X, Stoicov C, Li H, et al. Overcoming Fas-mediated apoptosis accelerates *Helicobacter*-induced gastric cancer in mice. *Cancer Res* 2005;65:10912–20.
- 49 Mueller A, O'Rourke J, Chu P, et al. The role of antigenic drive and tumor-infiltrating accessory cells in the pathogenesis of *Helicobacter*-induced mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue lymphoma. *Am J Pathol* 2005;167:797–812.
- 50 Takaishi S, Cui G, Frederick DM, et al. Synergistic inhibitory effects of gastrin and histamine receptor antagonists on *Helicobacter*-induced gastric cancer. *Gastroenterology* 2005:128:1965–83
- 51 Velin D, Bachmann D, Bouzourene H, Michetti P. Mast cells are critical mediators of vaccine-induced *Helicobacter* clearance in the mouse model. *Gastroenterology* 2005;129:142–55.
- 52 Spinetti N, Zavala-Spinetti L, Hempe J, et al. Effect of l ong-term Helicobacter felis infection in a mouse model of streptozotocin-induced diabetes. Helicobacter 2005;10:586–91.
- 53 De Bock M, Decostere A, Van den Bulck K, et al. The inflammatory response in the mouse stomach to Helicobacter bizzozeronii, Helicobacter salomonis and two Helicobacter felis strains. J Comp Pathol 2005;133:83–91.
- 54 De Bock M, Decostere A, Hellemans A, et al. *Helicobacter felis* and *Helicobacter bizzozeronii* induce gastric parietal cell loss in Mongolian gerbils. *Microbes Infect* 2006;8:503–10.
- 55 Van den Bulck K, Decostere A, Gruntar I, et al. In vitro antimicrobial susceptibility testing of *Helicobacter felis*, *H. bizzozeronii*, and *H. Salomonis*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2005;49:2997–3000.
- 56 Hellemans A, Decostere A, Haesebrouck F, Ducatelle R. Evaluation of antibiotic treatment against *'Candidatus Helicobacter suis'* in a mouse model. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2005;49:4530–5.
- 57 Tran CD, Campbell MA, Kolev Y, et al. Short-term zinc supplementation attenuates *Helicobacter felis*-induced gastritis in the mouse. *J Infect* 2005;50:417–24.
- 58 Kawasaki K, Nishio A, Nakamura H, et al. *Helicobacter felis*-induced gastritis was suppressed in mice overexpressing thioredoxin-1. *Lab Invest* 2005;85:1104–17.

- 59 Maurer KJ, Ihrig MM, Rogers AB, et al. Identification of cholelithogenic enterohepatic *Helicobacter* species and their role in murine cholesterol gallstone formation. *Gastroenterology* 2005;128:1023–33.
- 60 Maurer KJ, Rogers AB, Ge Z, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* and cholesterol gallstone formation in C57L/J mice: a prospective study. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2006;290:G175–82.
- 61 Boutin SR, Shen Z, Rogers AB, et al. Different Helicobacter hepaticus strains with variable genomic content induce various degrees of hepatitis. *Infect Immun* 2005;73:8449–52.
- 62 Mehta NS, Benoit S, Mysore JV, et al. *Helicobacter hepaticus* hydrogenase mutants are deficient in hydrogen-supported amino acid uptake and in causing liver lesions in A/J mice. *Infect Immun* 2005;73:5311–8.
- 63 Ge Z, Feng Y, Whary MT, et al. Cytolethal distending toxin is essential for *Helicobacter hepaticus* colonization in outbred Swiss Webster mice. *Infect Immun* 2005;73:3559–67.
- 64 Zhang L, Danon SJ, Grehan M, et al. Natural colonization with Helicobacter species and the development of inflammatory bowel disease in interleukin-10-deficient mice. Helicobacter 2005;10:223–30
- 65 Maggio-Price L, Bielefeldt-Ohmann H, Treuting P, et al. Dual infection with *Helicobacter bilis* and *Helicobacter hepaticus* in p-glycoprotein-deficient mdr1a—— mice results in colitis that progresses to dysplasia. *Am J Pathol* 2005;166:1793—806.
- 66 Tomczak MF, Gadjeva M, Wang YY, et al. Defective activation of ERK in macrophages lacking the p50/p105 subunit of NF-kappaB is responsible for elevated expression of IL-12 p40 observed after challenge with *Helicobacter hepaticus*. *J Immunol* 2006;176:1244– 51.
- 67 Maggio-Price L, Treuting P, Zeng W, et al. *Helicobacter* infection is required for inflammation and colon cancer in SMAD3-deficient mice. *Cancer Res* 2006;66:828–38.
- 68 Kuehl CJ, Wood HD, Marsh TL, et al. Colonization of the cecal mucosa by *Helicobacter hepaticus* impacts the diversity of the indigenous microbiota. *Infect Immun* 2005;73:6952–61.
- 69 Bohr UR, Selgrad M, Ochmann C, et al. Prevalence and spread of enterohepatic *Helicobacter* species in mice reared in a specific-pathogen-free animal facility. *J Clin Microbiol* 2006;44:738–42.
- 70 Scavizzi F, Raspa M. *Helicobacter typhlonius* was detected in the sex organs of three mouse strains but did not transmit vertically. *Lab Anim* 2006;40:70–9.
- 71 Crisler-Roberts R, Ge Z, Kearney MT, et al. Evaluation of Helicobacter hepaticus bacterial shedding in fostered and sex-segregated C57BL/6 mice. Comp Med 2005;55:515–22.
- 72 Jury J, Gee LC, Delaney KH, et al. Eradication of *Helicobacter* spp. from a rat breeding colony. *Contemp Top Lab Anim Sci* 2005;44:8–11.
- 73 Jacobsen K, Mahabir E, Brielmeier M, et al. Monitoring a mouse colony for *Helicobacter bilis* using a *Helicobacter*-genus-specific nested PCR. *Lab Anim* 2005;39:400–12.
- 74 Ceelen LM, Decostere A, Van den Bulck K, et al. *Helicobacter pullorum* in chickens. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2006;12:263–7.
- 75 Ceelen L, Decostere A, Verschraegen G, et al. Prevalence of Helicobacter pullorum among patients with gastrointestinal disease and clinically healthy persons. J Clin Microbiol 2005;43:2984–6.

Helicobacter pylori Eradication for the Prevention of Gastric Cancer

Ernst J. Kuipers* and Pentti Sipponen†

*Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Erasmus MC University Medical Center, Rotterdam, the Netherlands, †Division of Pathology, HUSLAB, Helsinki District University Central Hospital (HUCH), Jorvi Hospital, Espoo, and Biohit, Helsinki, Finland

Keywords

atrophic gastritis, cancer prevention, *Helicobacter pylori* eradication.

Reprint requests to: Ernst J. Kuipers, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Erasmus MC University Medical Center, PO Box 2040, 3000 CA Rotterdam, the Netherlands.

Tel.: +31 10 463 4681, Fax: +31 10 463 4682; E-mail: e.j.kuipers@erasmusmc.nl

Abstract

Even though *Helicobacter pylori* infection is an obvious cause of chronic non-atrophic and atrophic gastritis, as well as gastric dysplasia and cancer, several recent controlled intervention trials for the prevention of gastric cancer by *H. pylori* eradication have yielded disappointing results. They showed that cancer eradication may still appear in relatively high frequency after successful treatment of *H. pylori*. One explanation for this observation is that *H. pylori* treatment has less influence in development of gastric cancer in atrophic gastritis than in development of cancers in non-atrophic gastritis, and that eradication does not prevent the progression of precancerous lesions and small invisible early cancers to overt tumors. Noteworthy however, the available intervention trials show that gastric cancer can be prevented by *H. pylori* treatment in patients with non-atrophic gastritis. Trials with higher number of patients, with longer follow-up periods, and with more careful controlling of cancer type and underlying gastric mucosal conditions are needed.

The 2005 Nobel Prize of Medicine award to Marshall and Warren was a formal recognition of their discovery that many peptic ulcers were due to an infectious condition that could be cured with antibiotics. Already in their first publications these Nobel laureates did suggest that Helicobacter pylori, given its association with gastritis, might also be involved in the etiology of gastric cancer. Within several years, this hypothesis was corroborated by research data. It thus took only a relatively short period of 10 years before the World Health Organization (WHO) formally classified *H. pylori* as a class 1 carcinogen. At that time, the hepatitis B virus was the only other infectious organism with a similar classification. For H. pylori, the classification was in particular based on the very strong association between colonization of the gastric mucosa, and development of chronic active gastritis, atrophic gastritis, precursor lesions of gastric cancer, and overt distal gastric adenocarcinoma. The available evidence was convincing, but there were also several major areas that completely lacked any data. These included in particular 1, the absence of animal model confirming a relation between H. pylori infection and gastric carcinogenesis, 2, the absence of interventional data showing that H. pylori eradication could prevent gastric cancer, and 3, understanding of underlying pathways explaining how chronic bacterial colonization could lead to cancer formation. In all three areas, major advances have been made over the years since the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC)/WHO report. Animal data confirming the association between *H. pylori* infection and cancer development soon came in the years thereafter, in particular from the Mongolian gerbil model [1], but interventional data on the prevention of gastric cancer both in humans and in animals had to be awaited much longer. Recently, preliminary and final results of a number of intervention studies were however, published. The purpose of this review is to discuss the available evidence that *H. pylori* eradication may prevent gastric cancer.

H. pylori Eradication and Chronic Gastritis

Chronic Non-Atrophic Gastritis

Colonization of the human stomach with *H. pylori* virtually always leads to chronic active gastritis. This inflammation immediately occurs following colonization, and within a few weeks stabilizes, usually in an antral-predominant pattern. Remarkably, long-term cohort studies in persistently *H. pylori*-positive subjects have

shown that the pattern and severity of gastritis in a particular individual show very little variation over time [2]. This usually occurs under persistent colonization with the same strain that, however, may show subtle genetic changes over time, potentially under the influence of changes in the host-bacterial interaction, for instance as a result of development of gland loss due to the chronic inflammatory process. In this field of research, various advances were made in the past few years, enabling identification of host factors that modulate the immune response. Furthermore, it has been shown that certain bacterial virulence factors may directly damage mucosal tissue and enhance the host immune response. Finally, environmental factors may modify growth-signaling pathways and thus induce changes in cell turnover. Taken together, these factors may all modify the risk for gastric cancer formation [3-5].

Various studies in the past have shown that *H. pylori* eradication without relevant exception leads to resolution of gastritis. The polymorph or "active" component of the inflammatory response usually resolves within weeks, whereas the mononuclear or "chronic" component may take months, even up to 2 years to completely disappear. The association between successful eradication and resolution of gastritis is so strong that demonstration of persistent gastritis indicates either failure of eradication therapy or presence of another underlying condition causing gastritis. Resolution of gastritis is associated with other improvements, such a reduction of mucosal cell turnover and increase of intraluminal ascorbic acid secretion.

Chronic Atrophic Gastritis

There is increasing evidence that *H. pylori* eradication not only leads to a resolution of mucosal inflammation, but may also, to a certain extent, lead to a regression of premalignant gastric conditions, like atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia (IM). In experiments with C57BL/6 mice infected with Helicobacter felis, eradication did not only lead to regression of inflammation, but also to a restoration of parietal cell mass and normalization of the glandular architecture of the mucosa [6]. This was associated with changes in the expression patterns of cellular messenger proteins such as alpha- and betacatenin. In humans, however, various studies of the effect of H. vylori eradication on premalignant conditions, such as IM, have yielded contradictory results. To a large extent, this may have been due to the fact that many studies only included small numbers of patients, had a limited followup, and often also had an insufficient study design, for instance, lack of a control group or lack of randomization. In addition, many studies used only limited numbers of biopsy samples per patient, which meant that small focal lesions like IM, which are liable to sampling errors dependent on the number of biopsies and on the extent of the lesion, may easily have been over- or underestimated, potentially leading to false conclusions. Only several studies had a randomized design and sufficient number of follow-up patients to yield reliable data (Table 1). These studies all consistently reported that H. pylori eradication can lead to a regression of atrophic gastritis,

Table 1 Randomized controlled trials into the effect of Helicobacter pylori eradication on premalignant gastric lesions

Reference	Study population			Intervention			Outcome: cases vs. controls	
	Baseline condition	N (cases/ controls)	N with premalignant lesions at baseline	Cases	Controls	Follow-up (years)	Effect on AG	Effect on IM
[23]ª	Pts with AG, IM, or DYS	120/117	NS	Bismuth triple therapy	No treatment	6	Regression	Regression
[18] ^a		394/401	NS	Bismuth triple therapy ± antioxidants	No treatment/ antioxidants	12	Regression	Regression
[24] ^a	<i>Hp+</i> volunteers	295/292	AG: 231 IM: 228	PPI triple therapy	Placebo	1	Regression	No effect
[19] ^a		220/215	AG: 198 IM: 194			5	Regression	NS
[25]	<i>Hp</i> + NUD patients	45/45	NS	PPI triple therapy	Placebo	3	Regression	No effect
[26] ^a	Hp+ volunteers	161/155	AG: 145 IM: 87 DYS: 30	PPI triple therapy	Placebo	1	Regression	Regression
[27]	<i>Hp</i> + GERD patients	111/120	AG: 99 IM: 45	PPI triple therapy + PPI maintenance	PPI maintenance	2	Regression	No effect

N, number of patients; Hp_+ , Helicobacter pylori positive; AG, atrophic gastritis; IM, intestinal metaplasia; DYS, dysplasia; GERD, gastroesophageal reflux disease; PPI, proton pump inhibitor; NS, not stated. Reference nos 15 and 19 are reports of the same study at different time points, this is also true for reference nos 16 and 20.

similar to the above-mentioned mouse data. A few studies also observed a regression of IM after *H. pylori* eradication, others could not confirm this. A further study on a molecular level showed by means of microarray experiments that these long-term improvements of the condition of the gastric mucosa after *H. pylori* eradication are associated with various changes in gene expression in mucosal cells [7].

H. pylori Eradication and Gastric Cancer

Epidemiologic and Animal Data

Premalignant conditions strongly increase the risk of gastric cancer. This knowledge originally came from various cohort studies in the 1960s and 1970s, and was later consistently confirmed. In a recent Japanese surveillance trial among 9293 individuals, the annual incidence of gastric cancer was low among both *H. pylori*-positive and -negative subjects with normal serum pepsinogen levels, but strongly increased among those with low pepsinogen levels as marker for the presence of atrophic gastritis [8]. In this study, the highest incidence of gastric cancer was noted among those subjects who at baseline had low pepsinogen levels and negative serology for *H. pylori*. Presumably, part of these subjects may have had such severe atrophic gastritis that they had lost evidence of previous *H. pylori* infection.

Because of the strong association of atrophic gastritis, IM, and dysplasia with gastric cancer, these lesions are used as surrogate markers for the prevention of gastric cancer. The regression of atrophic gastritis after H. pylori eradication suggested that such intervention could reduce the risk for adenocarcinoma of the distal stomach. This hypothesis was confirmed in the H. felis-C57BL/6 mouse model [6]. In these experiments, all persistently infected mice developed within 24 months gastric outlet obstruction due to distal cancer. These cancers were completely prevented in mice that had received eradication treatment within the first 12 months of infection, and only occurred in 30% of the mice that had received eradication treatment between 12 and 24 months after initial colonization. In humans, model studies predicted that H. pylori eradication could be cost-effective intervention for the prevention of gastric cancer if eradication treatment would reduce cancer incidence by at least 10-30% [9-12]. The predicted costs per life-year saved were remarkably similar with different models and roughly varied between €20,000 and €30,000. Unfortunately, actual human studies were less optimistic about the potential effect of *H. pylori* eradication on gastric cancer incidence, even though several observational studies first reported that antibiotic treatment during knee or hip replacement surgery reduced the incidence of gastric cancer in subsequent years [13–15]. This reduction amounted to 40% more than 10 years after surgery. However, these data could not be confirmed in recent study by the same investigators [16]. Analysis of the Swedish national hospital registration containing data on 501,757 patients admitted with an infectious disease between 1970 and 2003 showed that antibiotic treatment did not lead to any reduction of the gastric cancer incidence thereafter.

Intervention Studies

These conflicting results from epidemiologic studies requested for true intervention studies aiming at the prevention of gastric cancer. Such a study was first reported from China [17]. It had included 1630 individuals, half of whom were randomized to receive eradication therapy, the other half had received placebo treatment. Within a follow-up of 7.5 years, seven patients in the eradication group and 11 in the control group were diagnosed with gastric cancer (p = .33). A preventive effect of *H. pylori* eradication was only observed in a subgroup analysis of individuals without baseline signs of atrophy, or metaplasia. In this subgroup, no cancer occurred after eradication treatment, compared to six cancers in control subjects without atrophy or IM at baseline (p = .02) [17]. These results suggested that even though H. pylori eradication may lead to healing of atrophy, it does not reduce cancer risk. Part of this observation may have been explained by the hypothesis that *H. pylori* treatment does not prevent the progression of early invisible intramucosal cancer or precancerous lesions (adenoma/dysplasia), which occur in 2.5-5% of subjects with advanced atrophic gastritis, to overt gastric cancer. However, more generally, it may mean that subjects with atrophic gastritis and IM may have passed a point of no return, which would mean that *H. pylori* eradication can only reduce cancer incidence in subjects with non-atrophic gastritis.

A second randomized intervention study showed very similar results. In a 12-year follow-up study from Colombia, 394 subjects had received *H. pylori* eradication treatment, and 401 a placebo [18]. During follow-up, four and five subjects were diagnosed with gastric cancer, respectively. All these cancer cases had had IM and/or dysplasia at the time of inclusion into the study. In another study from China, 220 subjects were treated with eradication therapy and 215 with placebo and then all followed for 5 years [19]. During follow-up, four and six subjects were diagnosed with gastric cancer, respectively. All of them except for two patients in the placebo group had had IM and/or dysplasia at baseline. In 2005, the preliminary results of a fourth randomized intervention trial were also presented. This Japanese trial was started in 1994, but for

Table 2 Prospective, controlled trials into the effect of Helicobacter pylori eradication on the incidence of distal gastric cancer

Reference	Study population				Intervention			Gastric cancer	
	Baseline condition	N (cases/ controls)	N with premalignant lesions at baseline	Design	Cases	Controls	Follow-up (years)	N (cases vs. controls	P-value
[17]	Hp+ volunteers	817/813	AG: 129 IM: 477 DYS: 9	Randomized	PPI triple therapy	Placebo	7.5	7 vs. 5	Not significant
[19]	<i>Hp+</i> volunteers	220/215	AG: 198 IM: 194	Randomized	PPI triple therapy	Placebo	5	4 vs. 6	Not significant
[18]	Subjects with AG, IM, or DYS	394/401	NS	Randomized	Bismuth triple therapy with/without antioxidant treatment	No treatment/ antioxidant treatment	12	5 vs. 4	Not significant
[20]	Hp+ volunteers	379/313	NS	Randomized	PPI triple therapy	Placebo	> 4	2 vs. 3	Not significant
[21]	Hp+, peptic ulcer patients	944/176	NS	Nonrandomized (eradication successes vs. failures)	PPI dual/triple therapy	Not applicable	3.4	8 vs. 4	0.04

N, number of patients; Hp+, Helicobacter pylori positive; AG, atrophic gastritis; IM, intestinal metaplasia; DYS, dysplasia; NS, not stated.

long, suffered from a low inclusion rate. Eventually, 692 patients were included and followed for at least 4 years, 379 of them had received eradication treatment, the remainder placebo [20]. During follow-up, two subjects in the eradication group and three in the control group were diagnosed with gastric cancer, again no significant difference between both groups. No information was presented regarding the baseline condition of the subjects who developed cancer. Apart from these four randomized studies, another Japanese intervention trial reported on 1120 patients with peptic ulcer disease who received eradication treatment [21]. During a mean 3.4 years follow-up, eight gastric cancers occurred in 944 patients in whom H. pylori had been eradicated, compared to four cancers in 176 patients in whom eradication treatment had failed, compatible with a significantly increased risk of gastric cancer in persistently *H. pylori*-positive patients (p = .04). All 12 patients with gastric cancer had had gastric ulcer disease at baseline, and thus likely had had atrophic gastritis at baseline. Taken all together, these studies reported the development of 25 distal gastric cancers in 2754 patients who received eradication treatment, compared to 29 cancers in 1896 patients who remained *H. pylori* positive (Table 2).

Further Considerations

The results from the available intervention trials are valuable and have been obtained with considerable efforts, and without doubt, with high costs. Efforts to follow several hundreds or more than one thousand subjects for periods of time up to 12 years are remarkable. The available data show that *H. pylori* eradication does not

completely prevent gastric cancer, despite the consistent reports on complete resolution of gastritis after eradication, and despite the convincing data that atrophic gastritis may be reversible. When pooling the available results from the randomized studies, the frequency of gastric cancers was identical in treatment vs. control groups (Table 2). Remarkably, the only significant effect was noted in the single nonrandomized intervention study that compared patients after successful vs. failed eradication treatment [21]. Three of the four randomized trials reported that eradication treatment failed to prevent gastric cancer in subjects with atrophic gastritis and IM at baseline [17-19]. This could imply that eradication treatment for gastric cancer prevention is useful only in patients with non-atrophic gastritis. This would contrast with the European guidelines for the management of H. pylori, which advise to consider eradication of H. pylori particularly in patients with atrophic gastritis [22]. Another explanation may lie in the knowledge that a small number of patients with atrophic gastritis (up to 5%) have precancerous lesions (adenoma/dysplasia), or early invisible intramucosal cancers. These lesions tend to progress to overt cancer within some 5-10 years. Treatment of H. pylori may not influence this process.

If *H. pylori* eradication for the purpose of gastric cancer prevention would only be of benefit for subjects with non-atrophic gastritis, this would strongly impair the potential usefulness of eradication treatment for cancer prevention for two important reasons. First, it would contradict significant benefits of preventive measures in patients at the highest risk, if preventive measures only help subjects with non-atrophic gastritis instead of on those with atrophic

gastritis (for instance identified by biomarker screening). Second, specific treatment of non-atrophic gastritis for prevention of cancer would also imply that the effect of intervention on the reduction of gastric cancer incidence would only be noted after a considerable time interval in agreement with the usual process of progression from chronic gastritis to preneoplastic conditions to gastric cancer. This process is known to often take decades.

The observations that H. pylori eradication does not reduce gastric cancer incidence in subjects with atrophic gastritis contrast with the results of the Japanese gastric ulcer study [21]. Even though the authors of the Japanese study did not provide data on baseline histology, most patients presumably had atrophic gastritis when included in the study. Despite this, the authors observed a significantly lower incidence of gastric cancer in those in whom H. pylori was eradicated compared to those in whom eradication treatment had failed. This suggests that H. pylori eradication can reduce gastric cancer incidence even in patients with precancerous conditions, like atrophic gastritis. This strongly means that further studies are needed in this field. Some studies are ongoing, others may use the currently available data to tailor their design and optimize power calculations, and to prolong the follow-up time. The available experiences from present trials make clear that the conclusive studies on the influence of H. pylori eradication on gastric cancer incidence must be large. The follow-up periods must be considerable and the type of cancer and the grade and extent of atrophic gastritis in the stomach have to be carefully controlled. Unfortunately, it is questionable whether such studies will be feasible, or whether more definite answers may be more easily obtained from meta-analyses of many small trials.

Conclusions

Helicobacter pylori is the major risk factor for the development of adenocarcinoma of the distal stomach, a disease characterized by a dismal prognosis and a very high incidence worldwide. The process of H. pylori-induced gastric carcinogenesis may mostly take decades. Recent intervention studies have shown that the eradication of H. pylori invariably leads to a resolution of gastritis, and also to a restitution of normal mucosal architecture with regression of atrophic gastritis at least in some of the patients. Concerning gastric cancer, the studies have shown that H. pylori eradication alone does not completely halt the progression to cancer, particularly in patient with preneoplastic conditions, such as atrophic gastritis and IM. Results are, however, contradictory and incomplete, which means that the recently updated European guidelines for the management of H. pylori infection are justified. They advise to eradicate H. pylori in patients

diagnosed with atrophic gastritis. These patients may have to be also identified and endoscoped to find the early neoplastic lesions, but do not respond to *H. pylori* eradication anymore.

- 1 Watanabe T, Tada M, Nagai H, Sasaki S, Nakao M. Helicobacter pylori infection induces gastric cancer in Mongolian gerbils. Gastroenterology 1998;115:642–8.
- 2 Kuipers EJ, Uyterlinde AM, Peña AS, Roosendaal R, Pals G, Nelis GF, Festen HPM, Meuwissen SGM. Long term sequelae of *Helicobacter pylori* gastritis. *Lancet* 1995;345:1525–8.
- 3 Franco AT, Israel DA, Washington MK, et al. Activation of beta-catenin by carcinogenic *Helicobacter pylori*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2005;102:10646–51.
- 4 Bebb JR, Leach L, Zaitoun A, Hand N, Letley D, Thomas R, Atherton JC. The Effects of *Helicobacter pylori* on the Cadherin-catenin Complex. *J Clin Pathol* 2006 epub May 5.
- 5 Kusters JG, van Vliet AHM, Kuipers EJ. Pathogenesis of Helicobacter pylori infection. Clin Microbiol Rev 2006;in press.
- 6 Cai X, Carlson J, Stoicov C, Li H, Wang TC, Houghton J. Helicobacter felis eradication restores normal architecture and inhibits gastric cancer progression in C57BL/6 mice. Gastroenterology 2005;128:1937–52.
- 7 Tsai CJ, Herrera-Goepfert R, Tibshirani RJ, Yang S, Mohar A, Guarner J, Parsonnet J. Changes of gene expression in gastric preneoplasia following *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2006;15:272–80.
- 8 Watabe H, Mitsushima T, Yamaji Y, Okamoto M, Wada R, Kokubo T, Doi H, Yoshida H, Kawabe T, Omata M. Predicting the development of gastric cancer from combining *Helicobacter pylori* antibodies and serum pepsinogen status: a prospective endoscopic cohort study. *Gut* 2005;54:764–8.
- 9 Parsonnet J, Harris RA, Hack HM, Owens DK. Modelling cost-effectiveness of *Helicobacter pylori* screening to prevent gastric cancer: a mandate for clinical trials. *Lancet* 1996;348:150–4.
- 10 Harris RA, Owens DK, Witherell H, Parsonnet J. Helicobacter pylori and gastric cancer: what are the benefits of screening only for the CagA phenotype of H. pylori? Helicobacter 1999;4:69-76.
- 11 Roderick P, Davies R, Raftery J, Crabbe D, Pearce R, Bhandari P, Patel P. The cost-effectiveness of screening for *Helicobacter pylori* to reduce mortality and morbidity from gastric cancer and peptic ulcer disease: a discrete-event simulation model. *Health Technol Assess* 2003;7:1–86.
- 12 Mason J, Axon AT, Forman D, Duffett S, Drummond M, Crocombe W, Feltbower R, Mason S, Brown J, Moayyedi P. The cost-effectiveness of population *Helicobacter pylori* screening and treatment: a Markov model using economic data from a randomized controlled trial. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2002;16:559–68.
- 13 Akre K, Signorello LB, Engstrand L, Bergstrom R, Larsson S, Eriksson BI, Nyren O. Risk for gastric cancer after antibiotic prophylaxis in patients undergoing hip replacement. *Cancer Res* 2000:60:6376–80.
- 14 Olsen JH, Mclaughlin JK, Nyren O, Mellemkjaer L, Lipworth L, Blot WJ, Fraumeni JF Jr. Hip and knee implantations among patients with osteoarthritis and risk of cancer: a record-linkage study from Denmark. *Int J Cancer* 1999;81:719–22.
- 15 Nyren O, Mclaughlin JK, Gridley G, Ekbom A, Johnell O, Fraumeni JF Jr, Adami HO. Cancer risk after hip replacement with metal implants: a population-based cohort study in Sweden. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1995;87:28–33.

- 16 Fall K, Ye W, Nyren O. Antibiotic treatment and risk of gastric cancer. *Gut* 2006;55:793–6.
- 17 Wong BC, Lam SK, Wong WM, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* eradication to prevent gastric cancer in a high-risk region of China: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 2004;291:187–94.
- 18 Mera R, Fontham ET, Bravo LE, Bravo JC, Piazuelo MB, Camargo MC, Correa P. Long term follow up of patients treated for *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Gut* 2005;54:1536–40.
- 19 Leung WK, Lin SR, Ching JY, To KF, Ng EK, Chan FK, Lau JY, Sung JJ. Factors predicting progression of gastric intestinal metaplasia: results of a randomised trial on *Helicobacter pylori* eradication. *Gut* 2004:53:1244–9.
- 20 Saito D, Boku N, Fujioka T, et al. Impact of *H. pylori* eradication on gastric cancer prevention: endoscopic results of the Japanese intervention trial (JITHP-study), a randomized multi-center trial. *Gastroenterology* 2005;128: A-4.
- 21 Take S, Mizuno M, Ishiki K, Nagahara Y, Yoshida T, Yokota K, Oguma K, Okada H, Shiratori Y. The effect of eradicating *Helicobacter pylori* on the development of gastric cancer in patients with peptic ulcer disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2005;100:1037–42.
- 22 Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, O'Morain C, Bazzoli F, El-Omar EM, Graham D, Hunt R, Rokkas T, Vakil N, Kuipers EJ. Current

- concepts in the management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection The Maastricht III Consensus Report 2005. Submitted 2006.
- 23 Correa P, Fontham ETH, Bravo JC, et al. Chemoprevention of gastric dysplasia: randomized trial of antioxidant supplements and *Helicobacter pylori* therapy. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2000;92:1881–8.
- 24 Sung JJ, Lin SR, Ching JY, et al. Atrophy and intestinal metaplasia one year after cure of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: a prospective, randomized study. *Gastroenterology* 2000;119:7–14.
- 25 Kamada T, Haruma K, Hata J, Kusunoki H, Sasaki A, Ito M, Tanaka S, Yoshihara M. The long-term effect of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy on symptoms in dyspectic patients with fundic atrophic gastritis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2003;18:245–52.
- 26 Ley C, Mohar A, Guarner J, Herrera-Goepfert R, Figueroa LS, Halperin D, Johnstone I, Parsonnet J. Helicobacter pylori eradication and gastric preneoplastic conditions: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2004;13:4–10.
- 27 Kuipers EJ, Nelis GF, Klinkenberg-Knol EC, et al. Cure of Helicobacter pylori infection in patients with reflux oesophagitis treated with long term omeprazole reverses gastritis without exacerbation of reflux disease: results of a randomised controlled trial. *Gut* 2004;53:12–20.

GUIDELINES FOR AUTHORS

Helicobacter recognizes the critical role that has been established for *Helicobacter pylori* in peptic ulcer, gastric adenocarcinoma, and primary gastric lymphoma. New helicobacter species are now regularly being discovered.

Helicobacter will publish, first and foremost, **primary research** in a wide range of experimental, scientific and clinical areas including: bacterial physiology, molecular biology, epidemiology, animal models, pathogenesis, immune response, histopathology, gastric cancer, pediatrics, vaccines, diagnosis, and therapy.

Submission Policy. Manuscripts will be considered for publication in the form of original articles, case reports, reviews, descriptions of techniques, brief communications, and letters. Submission of a paper implies that it reports unpublished work, except in abstract form, and is not being submitted simultaneously to another publication. Accepted manuscripts become the sole property of *Helicobacter* and may not be published elsewhere without consent from the publisher. All clinical research papers submitted from the United States of America, which involve human subjects, must be accompanied by evidence of peer review. The date the project was approved, when available, should be included. All articles are subject to review by experienced referees. The Editors and Editorial Board judge manuscripts suitable for publication, and decisions by the Editors are final. Material accepted for publication is copyedited and typeset. Proofs are sent to contributors for final review. Contributors are responsible for the entire content of the copyedited article. Extensive changes to the proofs will be charged to the contributors and could delay publication.

Manuscript Submission and Specifications

Manuscripts should be submitted, both in hard copy and in electronic format, to the Editorial office:

David Y. Graham, MD, Editor, *Helicobacter* Editorial Office, Digestive Diseases Section, Veterans Affairs Medical Center, 2002 Holcombe Blvd (111D), Houston, TX 77030-4298, USA Email: fcmartin@bcm.tmc.edu

Hard copy

Three clean copies should be submitted, printed or typed double-spaced on one side of an $8^{1/}_{2} \times 11$ or A4 size paper with margins of at least 3 cm. Three copies of any artwork should also be submitted. All pages, including tables, must be numbered. All art must be labelled with the author's name, the figure number, and the name of the journal. Manuscripts must be submitted exclusively to Helicobacter, and if accepted, will become the copyright of the journal. Please submit a completed and signed Exclusive Licence Form with the final accepted manuscript.

Electronic format

Once a manuscript has been accepted, authors will be required to submit a final electronic version, identical to the manuscript. Manuscripts should be prepared preferably using the latest version of Microsoft Word. Make sure the file is double-spaced and has no hard returns at the end of lines. Ragged right margins are preferable to justified lines. All textual elements should begin flush left with no paragraph indents and two returns after every element, such as titles, headings, paragraphs, legends, etc. Please be sure to keep a back-up copy of the file for reference and safety.

The data supplied will be used directly for typesetting. Authors should be aware that preparation of an electronic manuscript for use by a typesetter differs from traditional or conventional preparation. Thus, we strongly advise you to observe the following guidelines:

- (a) Do not attempt to make your output approximate or match the typeset page.
- (b) Be consistent in style (i.e. units, abbreviations).
- (c) End paragraphs in a uniform manner, and in a different manner from line endings within paragraphs. A frequently used paragraph ending is simply two carriage returns. The code used for paragraph endings should be used to indicate a required line ending in the final output.
- (d) Never type the letter 'el' for the number 'one' or vice versa. Likewise, do not interchange the number 'zero' and the capital letter 'oh'.
- (e) Do not add extra line spacing (except as a normal paragraph ending indication) above or below titles, subheads, or between paragraphs. For the double-spaced output that must accompany the diskette (upon final submission) use printer commands in your word processor to double space the printout.
- (f) Avoid using multiple spaces (horizontal) in your electronic manuscript. End sentences with only one space. Never use multiple spaces for horizontal positioning of text.
- (g) Tables and figure captions should be prepared in separate files. The copy editor will indicate the placement of this material within the text.
- (h) Do not divide words by hyphenating at line endings. Let the text wrap. If your word processor has automatic hyphenation, turn it off to prepare your electronic manuscript.

(i) Style your references according to the guidelines set forth by Helico-bacter (see References section for examples). Do not attempt to incorporate small capital letters when typing authors' names. If your reference section is incorrectly styled, this may reduce or even nullify the efficiency of disk usage.

First text page

The first text page should contain: 1. Title; 2. Full names and affiliations for all authors; 3. Full postal address for the corresponding author, to whom the proofs will be sent, including also telephone and fax numbers, and an e-mail address for that person; 4. Running title of no more than 45 characters, including spaces; 5. Up to six keywords.

Abstract

The abstract should not exceed 250 words and must be structured in four separate sections headed Background, Materials and Methods, Results, and Conclusions. The abstract should state clearly the relevance of the work to human disease.

Text

The text of the manuscript should be in the following sequence: Introduction, Methods, Results, Discussions, Acknowledgments, References, Tables, and Figure legends. Type footnotes (double-spaced) on the bottom of the page on which they are mentioned. Cite all tables and figures in the text, numbering them sequentially as they are cited.

Tables

Tables should he typed double-spaced on separate sheets and numbered consecutively within the text. Tables and text should not duplicate each other. If possible, hold tables to one standard manuscript page; if the table continues past one page, repeat all heads and the stub (left-hand column). Explain all abbreviations in a footnote. Provide a number and title for each table.

Figures

All illustrations should be able to be reduced to 50–66% of their original size with no loss of clarity or legibility. Note that an original and two copies of all illustrations must be submitted. Illustrations should be submitted unmounted. Do not trim or write on back; do not use paperclips. Attach a gummed label to the back of each illustration giving the figure number, author's name, and an arrow to indicate the top.

Have artwork drawn by an experienced illustrator. Labels and callouts should be done with preset type or template lettering, not by hand. The labels should he legible when the figure is reduced to column width. The publisher does not reconstruct artwork. Black and white photocopies (5" \times 7") of drawn materials should be supplied. Do not send original artwork.

For half-tones (photographs, photomicrographs), clear black and white prints must be submitted. For photographs of recognizable persons, submit a signed release form from the patient authorizing publication. Photomicrographs must have internal scale markers.

Indicate crop marks on tracing paper overlays. Arrows, indicators or letters can be applied using a professional graphic transfer product (such as Chartpak). Consider clarity after reduction.

Colour figures that significantly enhance the article will be considered for publication. It is preferable to submit positive 35-mm transparencies for evaluation, however, colour prints may be submitted.

Helicobacter Test INFAI®



¹³C-urea breath test approved in 36 countries

Helicobacter pylori infection and dyspepsia a worldwide problem?

Simple diagnosis with

Helicobacter Test INFAI®

- For mass spectrometry from the age of 12 years
- For infra red spectoscopy from the age of 12 years
- For children from the age of 3 years

New

H. pylori status in patients with dyspepsia taking PPIs can be checked by a new INFAI 13C-UBT test

INFAI GmbH Gottfried-Hagen-Str. 60-62 51105 Cologne - Germany Phone +49 221 880 44 3 Fax +49 221 880 44 55 www.infai.com - mail@infai.com

INFAI UK Ltd.

Innovation Centre, University Science Park, University Heslington YORK YO1 5DG, UK
Phone +44 1904 435228 Fax +44 1904 435 229
www.infai.co.uk - info@infai.co.uk



The Power of Protection

- Clinically proven to heal more reflux esophagitis patients compared to omeprazole^{1,2}, lansoprazole³ and pantoprazole⁴.
- Faster and sustained freedom from GERD symptoms in more patients than omeprazole^{1,2}, lansoprazole³ and pantoprazole⁴.
- More effective acid control compared to all other PPIs⁵.



ABBREVIATED PRESCRIBING INFORMATION: Nexium® (esomeprazole magnesium). See local prescribing information for full details. PHARMACODYNAMIC PROPERTIES: Nexium® reduces gastric acid secretion through a highly targeted mechanism of action by being a specific inhibitor of the acid pump in the parietal cell. INDICATIONS AND DOSAGE: Treatment of erosive reflux esophagitis: Nexium® 40 mg once daily for 4-8 weeks. Long-term management of patients with healed esophagitis to prevent relapse: Nexium* 20 mg once daily. Symptomatic treatment of gastro-esophageal reflux disease: Nexium* 20 mg once daily in patients without esophagitis. Once symptoms have resolved, an on demand regimen of 20 mg once daily can be used when needed, to control subsequent symptoms. Helicobacter pylori-associated peptic ulcer disease: Healing of H pylori-associated duodenal ulcer, prevention of relapse of peptic ulcers in patients with H pylori-associated ulcers: Nexium® 20 mg, amoxicillin 1 g and clarithromycin 500 mg, all bid for 1 week. USA - Nexium® 40 mg once daily, amoxicillin 1 g and clarithromycin 500 mg twice daily, all for 10 days CONTRAINDICATIONS: Known hypersensitivity to esome prazole, substituted benzimidazoles or any other constituents of the formulation. WARNINGS AND PRECAUTIONS: In the presence of any alarm symptoms (e.g. significant unintentional weight loss, recurrent vomiting, dysphagia, haematemesis or melena) and when gastric ulcer is suspected or present, the possibility of gastric malignancy should be excluded before treatment is initiated. INTERACTIONS: Due to the decreased intragastric acidity, the absorption of ketoconazole and itraconazole can decrease during esomeprazole treatment. Concomitant administration of esomeprazole resulted in a 45% decrease in clearance of diazepam. Concomitant administration of esomeprazole resulted in a 13% increase in trough plasma levels of phenytoin in epileptic patients; but dose adjustments were not required in this study. In healthy volunteers, combined therapy with esomeprazole and cisapride resulted in a 32% increase in AUC and a 31% prolongation of elimination half-life but no significant increase in peak plasma levels of cisapride. Concomitant administration of 40 mg esomeprazole to warfarin-treated patients showed that, despite a slight elevation in the trough plasma concentration of the less potent R-isomer of warfarin, the coagulation times were within the accepted range. However, as with all patients receiving warfarin, monitoring is recommended during concomitant treatment with esomeprazole. PREGNANCY AND LACTATION: Caution should be exercised when prescribing Nexium® to pregnant women. Nexium® should not be used during breast-feeding. UNDESIRABLE EFFECTS: The following adverse drug reactions have been identified or suspected in the clinical trials programme. None was found to be dose related. Common: Nausea/vomiting, diarrhoea, constipation, abdominal pain, flatulence and headache. Uncommon: Dermatitis, pruritus, urticaria, dizziness and dry mouth. From marketed use, there have been rare reports of increased liver enzymes and of hypersensitivity reactions e.g. angioedema, anaphylactic reaction. For further information please contact AstraZeneca, SE-431 83 Mölndal or the local AstraZeneca subsidiary.

Nexium® is a registered trademark of the AstraZeneca group of companies.

References: 1. Richter JE et al. Am J Gastroenterol 2001;96:656–65. 2. Kahrilas PJ et al. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2000;14:1249–58. 3. Castell DO et al. Am J Gastroenterol 2002;97:575–83 4. Labenz J et al. Aliment Pharmacol Therap 2005;21:739–746 5. Miner P et al. Am J Gastroenterol 2003;98:2616–20.

